THE FUTURE
STARTS HERE
ANNUAL REPORT 2003

“The future starts here” – both for society and for Unaxis. The
images accompanying this report on our 2003 financial year
depict issues that are the focal point of technological development. Wherever you look, Unaxis technology brings fresh
ideas to daily life and improves, simplifies or facilitates countless
things – and can even give rise to new and enjoyable habits.
Nonetheless, Unaxis remains behind the scenes. Because as a
“business to business” company, Unaxis offers other firms
innovative technologies and unsurpassed service. And that’s
what makes our contribution so interesting and important
for our customers. Long before innovative consumer goods
arouse the public’s enthusiasm, we arouse producers’
enthusiasm for our technologies. Unaxis makes it possible.
A visit to Unaxis is a visit to the future.
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Corporate profile

Unaxis is a globally leading provider of production systems, components and services to select growth markets of the information technology industry, as well as for use in sophisticated industrial applications. The commercial activities of Unaxis
are conducted via its five business segments: Semiconductor Equipment (semiconductors and flat panel displays), Data
Storage Solutions (data storage devices), Coating Services (coating of tools and components), Vacuum Solutions (vacuum
technology), and Components and Special Systems (optical components and aerospace technology). Backed by its core
capabilities in thin film, vacuum and precision technology, Unaxis creates integrated solutions that afford customers tremendous benefits. Unaxis employs approximately 6 500 individuals and has a globe-spanning infrastructure, with 80 subsidiaries
in a total of 25 countries, that encompasses centers of competency for research, development and production in Europe, Asia
and the USA.

KEY FIGURES1

Key figures Unaxis Group

2003

2002

in million

CHF

CHF

Orders received

20%

–5%

1 610

1 490

Change in %

8%

–30%

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

157

71

16

–83

1%

–6%

Sales

Operating result (EBIT)
Operating result (EBIT) in % of sales
Net income / loss for the period

32

–39

Net income / loss for the period in % of sales

2%

–3%

Net income / loss for the period in % of shareholders’ equity

2%

–3%

88

–41

Cash flow (net funds from operations)
Capital expenditures in property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

98

77

Total assets

2 550

2 525

Shareholders’ equity

1 488

1 476

58%

58%

682

686

Shareholders’ equity in % of total assets
Net liquidity
Net liquidity in % of shareholders’ equity
Net assets 2
Operating result (EBIT) as % of net assets (RONA)
Number of employees at year-end
1
2

47%
1 075

2%

–8%

6 456

6 544

CHF

CHF

Share price

highest

207

184

lowest

74

66

at year-end

175

93

13 170 092

13 170 092

2 305

1 225

1.22

–6.40

Total outstanding shares
Market capitalization in million
Operating result (EBIT)
Net income / loss for the period
Net cash flow
Shareholders’ equity
Dividends4
4

46%
1 032

A five-year comparison of key figures for the period 1999 to 2003 is shown on pages 79 and 115.
Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less operating liabilities (excluding financial debits, provisions for
post-employment benefits and for taxes and other provisions not charged against operating result).

Key figures per share 3

3

1 494

1 788

Change in %

2.50

–3.00

–1.10

–9.54

114.86

113.74

2.00

2.00

Average number of shares with voting and dividend rights
Dividends 2003: proposal of the Board of Directors

Share price development
2002

2003
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Here

Here

Here

For astronauts, a tranquil view of our blue planet. For those on Earth below, a life abounding with vibrancy. In Hong Kong, Kowloon
and the remote areas of Shenzhen, millions of people forge contacts with each other, information is exchanged, ideas are developed,
products are invented, or leisure time is simply enjoyed. Many of the things that we take so much for granted are only made possible
through technological progress and the innovation of Unaxis. Be it in Hong Kong, or anywhere else in the world.
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The view from Victoria Peak is a must for any globetrotter. Most city dwellers are accustomed to completely different impressions. The
skyline of Hong Kong and Kowloon glimmers with architectural glass created through the know-how of Unaxis. Behind the facades, in
modern households, everyday appliances such as refrigerators, washing machines and air conditioners all function with thin film and
vacuum technologies made possible by Unaxis. And how the weather is developing throughout the world is measured by optical
equipment aboard earth observation satellites high overhead – equipment supplied by Unaxis.

Here

Here

Here

Here

A typical evening in Hong Kong. Neon signs radiate the brilliance of Unaxis. Color filters and light sensors from Unaxis help to guide
traffic through the city. And we make a small but important contribution to the latest flat-screen TVs that are finding a place in more
and more households. Inside and outside, Unaxis is there when it’s a matter of making life safer and more enjoyable – or even a bit
more beautiful. Only you and your fellow consumers decide whether the things that are technically feasible ultimately become a success. For example, when you observe the world through the viewfinder of a camera: its microscopically fine coating from Unaxis will
hardly make an impression on you – unless you can perceive its invisibility.
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Here

Here

Here

Whether “it just keeps on running” is no longer the question. These days, drivers demand more than just that from their automobiles. For
example, security and onboard information. Innovative instruments measure, store and update readings on the distance to the next
obstacle or the tires’ traction on the road surface, and all of this in fractions of a second. Navigation systems show the fastest way to
your destination. And at the heart of those sensors, displays and microchips lies Unaxis technology. As well as in the latest generation
of diesel engines. Thanks to its thin-coating technology, Unaxis contributes to a reduction in fuel consumption and noxious emissions
which benefits drivers and the environment.

Here

Here

Here

Inside, Cecilia Bartoli or Robbie Williams elicit standing ovations. But the truly outstanding performances are something you enjoy
outside. When the public thrills to the concert as a multimedia event, Unaxis is there playing an important supporting role both on- and
offstage. The illumination system puts the performers in the right light. Large-screen video projection creates its own reality – in fact
hyperreality in the form of brilliant colors and razor-sharp images. And so that not the slightest detail goes missing, quite a few light
bulbs have to go on in the minds of Unaxis’ researchers.

Here

Here

Each Wednesday, Happy Valley earns its name. Horseracing has a long tradition at this venerable racetrack. So that the roaring crowds
aren’t lost in the dust, Unaxis turns the stadium’s illumination into a highlight all of its own. And when it comes down to winning by a
nose, it’s Unaxis’ photo-finish technology that determines the victor. You can bet on it: with Unaxis, you’re putting your money on the
right horse. After all, luck is ultimately a function of outstanding performance.

Here

Here

No mountain, no path, no tree to be seen. But the samurai hiding there is certain to send a shock through your system. Be it a Gameboy, Playstation or Xbox – the virtual world of computer games has the right stuff. The computing power and storage capacity of
today’s microchips place hardly any limitations on the creativity of game designers. And the flat-panel display turns a two-dimensional
surface into an entire projection room. When your living room becomes a playing field, the winner is known in advance: Unaxis has
steadfastly championed technological progress.

Here

Here

Before a single day passes, it has accompanied an airplane to the other end of the world. The strings of lights lining the runway of
Hong Kong’s new airport show pilots high overhead the way back to Earth. Innovations from Unaxis contribute to making commercial
aviation not only safer, but also easier. Thanks to new processes developed by Unaxis, the smallest and most portable beamers for a
business presentation find room in a traveler’s hand luggage. So that you make a great impression on your customers from their very
first welcome. And when it comes to traveling, be sure to keep the euro coins in your pocket as a souvenir from Unaxis – in the die
used for their minting, we contributed a miniscule amount of added value.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS AND CEO

Dear Shareholders

Portfolio’s broad base compensates for losses
in the semiconductor-related business

By having returned to operating profitability, Unaxis achieved

For the entire 2003 financial year, Unaxis recorded a total of

its most important goal for the 2003 financial year. Although

CHF 1 788 million in orders received, a 20 percent increase in

the markets for electronics systems only started to gain

comparison to the previous year. Total sales rose by 8 percent

momentum in the fourth quarter of 2003, Unaxis was able to

to CHF 1 610 million. Particularly in the growth region of Asia,

record net operating earnings of CHF 16 million and a consoli-

Unaxis was able to register a 42 percent rise in sales in com-

dated net profit of CHF 32 million. Thus the investments we

parison to 2002. During the fourth quarter, Unaxis also wit-

have made over the past years in effort to expand our market

nessed a significant increase in orders received, the lion’s

presence, develop new technologies and products, as well as

share of which was attributable to the Semiconductor Equip-

improve our business processes have shown the favorable

ment and Components and Special Systems segments. Due to

results that we anticipated.

delivery times, however, the majority of these orders will have
an impact on our sales figures only in 2004.

New Group structure reinforces market presence
Effective as of January 1, 2004, Unaxis has realigned the

The broad-based support afforded by the Group portfolio as

Group structure in a manner that more resolutely focuses on

the result of business activities that are subject to differing

end-user markets. The Group’s portfolio now comprises five

market cycles once again proved its merit in 2003: the stability

separate segments:

of the Data Storage Solutions, Coating Services, Vacuum
Solutions and Components and Special Systems segments

Semiconductor Equipment

was put to the test and, even in a difficult business environ-

– Wafer Processing (previously Semiconductors Front End),

ment, they made positive contributions to our operating

– Assembly & Packaging (previously Semiconductors Back End)

earnings. The divisions combined within the Semiconductor

– and Display Technology (previously Displays)

Equipment segment continued to suffer from sluggish market

Data Storage Solutions (previously Data Storage);

demand and once again had a negative impact on EBIT.

Coating Services (previously Surface Technology);
Vacuum Solutions (previously Leybold Vacuum);

Ongoing investments in new products

Components and Special Systems

and markets show results

– Optics

In efforts to improve our market position, we continued to

– and Space Technology (previously Contraves Space)

invest in the development of new products and expanding our
presence in the marketplace. The significant increase in orders

Aside from its own brand names, Unaxis will maintain the

received during the fourth quarter attests to the favorable

firmly anchored product brands of ESEC, Balzers, Leybold

results of these investments. The fact that a significant pro-

Vacuum and Contraves Space. With this structure, we have

portion of our consolidated sales for 2003 was generated by

put the pieces in place that enable us to exploit the potential

products that were introduced to the market over the past two

of our portfolio to an even greater extent. Combining the activ-

years highlights the innovative power of Unaxis. Our core

ities of Wafer Processing, Assembly & Packaging (ESEC) and

capabilities in thin film and vacuum technology were respon-

Display Technology into the discrete Semiconductor Equip-

sible for 80 percent of the Group’s total sales. And that allows

ment segment affords a wide array of advantages – in research

us to exploit a considerable number of synergies that exist

and development, in global sales and service, as well as

among Unaxis’ specific fields of activity.

in administration, we can benefit from numerous synergies.
Moreover, this joining of forces fosters a uniform presence in

Business developments at the individual segments

the marketplace and brings the segment closer to the critical

The Wafer Processing division suffered from a delayed

mass demanded by the market. The complete integration of

recovery in demand in its relevant market segments. Although

ESEC will be carried out as planned once the pending legal

orders related to new equipment largely remained absent, we

proceedings have been successfully concluded.

succeeded in making sales in specific technological areas. For
example, we were able to deliver the first units of Unaxis’ new
generation of photolithography systems, which make it possible to etch chip structures at a level of precision that has
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Dr. Willy Kissling, Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Heinz Kundert, CEO.
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never been reached before. The Assembly & Packaging

May 2004 that will afford a significant improvement in the

division (ESEC) increased its share of the die attach market

manufacturing process. In Tianjin, China, we are also expanding

yet again, not least of all thanks to the launch of new,

production capacity for vacuum pumps targeted at the Asian

enhanced-performance assembly equipment as well as the

market.

division’s redoubled efforts aimed at expanding its key account
management. Thus ESEC has created the conditions that

The two divisions that comprise the Components and Special

will enable it to participate to a greater extent in the upcoming

Systems segments – Optics and Space Technology (Contraves

recovery in demand for semiconductor assembly equipment.

Space) – witnessed varying developments in 2003. The volume

Display Technology achieved a breakthrough in production

of optical components for front- and rear-projection TVs pro-

systems for large-surface picture screens. Large orders ema-

duced since early 2003 at Optics’ Shanghai facility has far

nating from Asia contributed to the fourth quarter’s noticeable

exceeded expectations. Production in China affords competi-

increase in orders received – among other projects, Unaxis

tive manufacturing costs and has made a major contribution in

will be equipping China’s first production plant for flat panel

our effort to solidify the market position of Unaxis Optics and

displays. It all means that Display Technology has provided

gain new customers. Contraves Space, despite a decline in

clear evidence of its technological competitiveness and paved

sales, was able to hold its own very well in an otherwise diffi-

the way for additional major orders. The division’s involvement

cult market environment. The successful launch of America’s

in solar technology is oriented towards the longer term. Based

first Atlas V-500 launch vehicle with a payload fairing manu-

on its proven production technology, Display Technology

factured by Contraves Space sets the stage for us to garner a

developed in collaboration with the University of Neuchâtel

leading position in payload fairings not only in the European

processes that enable the production of more powerful and

aerospace market, but also in North America.

less expensive solar cells.
Strong balance sheet; dividend to be proposed
In comparison to the previous year, the Data Storage Solutions

yet again

segment recorded a significantly higher level of sales and

Despite our expanded volume of business, Unaxis was able to

orders received. In collaboration with Japan’s Mitsubishi

maintain its strong balance sheet. Efforts to reduce net work-

Chemical, the Segment developed in record time an extremely

ing capital have had a favorable impact on liquidity. At the end

competitive production line for DVD Rs, and as a result has

of 2003, the Group recorded CHF 682 million in net liquidity

acquired leading DVD manufacturers as customers. Con-

and our shareholders’ equity ratio was maintained at the high

sequently, Storage Solutions now not only offers time-

level of 58 percent. In view of our healthy balance sheet, the

tested metallization equipment, but also a complete range of

Board of Directors will propose at the June 1, 2004, annual

production lines for prerecorded, write-once and rewritable

general meeting of Unaxis Holding Inc. that once again a per-

compact disks.

share dividend of CHF 2.00 be distributed.

The Coating Services segment (Balzers) also enjoyed a grati-

Corporate Governance strengthened further

fying course of business and increased sales in 2003. This was

Over the past year, we have also placed a high degree of sig-

evidenced by yet another expansion of its global network

nificance on reinforcing our corporate governance practices.

through the opening of nine new coating centers – six in

For example, Unaxis has further expanded the management

Europe, two in America and one in Asia – bringing the new total

and control instruments available to the Executive Board

to 56. At the same time, Balzers broadened its product palette

through the introduction of Business Risk Management and

through the addition of two newly developed coating systems.

the establishment of an Internal Audit function, thereby fulfilling the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Gover-

In the Vacuum Solutions segment (Leybold Vacuum), the 2003
financial year was marked by the development of new products and an increase in operating agility. By way of example,
the new ScrewLine “dry” fore-vacuum pump scored successes
in the market right from day one. At its Cologne facility,
Leybold Vacuum will be opening a new assembly plant in

nance” and a wide array of leading international standards.
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In July 2003, Unaxis joined the Global Compact, a United

Facing the future with confidence

Nations initiative aimed at advancing responsible corporate

From today’s vantage point, the market situation should con-

citizenship throughout the world. At its core are nine principles

tinue to improve during 2004, whereby we anticipate that the

relating to issues of human rights, the labor market and envi-

strongest growth dynamic will be witnessed in Asia – a devel-

ronmental protection. This commitment marks yet another step

opment for which Unaxis is well prepared. We hold leading

in our efforts to ensure responsible corporate management

positions in the various markets and have the necessary glob-

that is in keeping with the principles of sustainability.

al footprint to exploit opportunities in all four corners of the
world. We expect our Semiconductor Equipment segment to

Changes in the Board of Directors

be the main driver of growth, but also that our other segments

Following their six-year membership on the Board of Directors

– Data Storage Solutions, Coating Services, Vacuum Solutions

of Unaxis Holding AG, and now that the Group’s transforma-

and Components and Special Systems – will continue to show

tion into a high-tech enterprise has been successfully com-

stable or accelerating growth in response to a potential recov-

pleted, former directors Jack Schmuckli and Bruno Widmer

ery in business conditions. Also as we go forward, the markets

have announced to the company that they will not run for

in which Unaxis is active will remain cyclical and susceptible to

re-election to the Board. The Board of Directors would like to

disruption. Nonetheless, we will confront any fluctuations in

thank both gentlemen sincerely for their valuable contribution

demand by adapting our production capacity even more flexi-

during a decisive phase in the Group’s history.

bly and rapidly.

At the upcoming annual general meeting of shareholders,

Acknowledgements

Mr. Thomas Limberger will be proposed for election to the

On behalf of the Board of Directors and Executive Board, we

Board of Directors. As CEO of GE (General Electric) Germany,

would like to express our thanks to all Unaxis employees. In

Austria, Switzerland – with its 10 600 employees and various

what was indeed a challenging financial year, they responded

business segments that generate annual sales of EUR 6.7 bil-

with the kind of commitment that deserves particular recogni-

lion – Mr. Limberger is familiar with many of the challenges

tion. Our sincere gratitude also goes to our customers for the

with which Unaxis is faced.

close partnership we share with them, as well as to you, our
valued shareholders, for the trust you have placed in us.

Human Resources now represented on the
Executive Board
In knowledge-based business sectors such as those in the
high-tech industry, personal development of employees and
managers plays a central role. Against that backdrop, Matthias
Mölleney (43) – as a newly appointed member of Unaxis’

Dr. Willy Kissling

Heinz Kundert

Executive Board – in early November was named Head of

Chairman of the Board

Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Human Resources. An internationally recognized
expert in personnel management, Mr. Mölleney bears global
responsibility for fostering and developing the personal skills
of our employees. Kurt Mück stepped down from the Executive
Board at the end of 2003 in order to pursue new challenges
outside of the Group. He was in charge of Unaxis’ industrially
oriented divisions and, in particular, saw to the divestiture of
several of the Group’s non-core businesses. In this position,
he played a key role in the restructuring of Unaxis, and we
would like to take this occasion to thank him once again for his
valuable support.
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GROUP HIGHLIGHTS

1

Unaxis with local production capacity in China

5

BALINIT® celebrates anniversary

Unaxis is expanding further into the burgeoning growth region

Coating Services (Balzers) celebrated the 25th birthday of its

of Asia. In China, new development centers, sales and support

key product, BALINIT®: Today, this titanium alloy is the world’s

organizations, and now also manufacturing facilities have been

leading hard coating for tools and components. But in this

built – for example, a plant in Shanghai for optical components

anniversary year, Balzers is also eagerly looking towards the

and one in Tianjin for vacuum solutions. That not only brings

future. The Coating Services segment is introducing a new

Unaxis closer to key customers, but also enables the company

coating system based on an aluminum alloy, and expanding its

to benefit from lower production costs and local material

network of coating centers to a total of 56 locations.

procurement.

2

Wafer Processing gains recognition

6

New production facilities for Vacuum Solutions

For the third consecutive time, our Wafer Processing division

In early 2003, Vacuum Solutions (Leybold Vacuum) laid the

has received the “VLSI 10 Best” award in the “Small Suppliers

cornerstone for a new production and office building at its

of Wafer Processing Equipment” category. VLSI Research, the

headquarters in Cologne. It will be ready for occupancy in May

leading market research institute for the semiconductor indus-

2004. The modern, material-flow-optimized manufacturing pro-

try, bestows these awards in recognition of suppliers that have

cesses at the plant will contribute to a significant reduction in

technologically leading products and provide outstanding cus-

operating costs at Leybold Vacuum.

tomer service.

3

World premiere for Display Technology

At the FPD (Flat Panel Display) International Show in Yokohama
(Japan), Display Technology debuted the world’s first coated
glass for Generation 7 applications. A single sheet of glass
measuring 4.0 m 2 now makes it possible to manufacture six
46-inch LCD displays at once. The related production equipment is targeted at mass producers of flat-screen TVs.

4

Partnership at Data Storage Solutions

7 Unaxis joins UN initiative
Unaxis became a member of the “Global Compact,” a United
Nations initiative aimed at advancing responsible corporate
citizenship throughout the world. At its core are nine principles
relating to issues of human rights, the labor market and environmental protection. This avowal to the principles of the
“Global Compact” underscores a corporate commitment to
sustainability.

8

Payload fairing from Space Technology

In collaboration with Japan’s Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation,

The Space Technology division (Contraves Space) celebrated

Data Storage Solutions developed in record time the innovative

in mid-2003 the picture-perfect start of America’s Atlas V-500

“Fusion” production line for write-once DVDs. “Fusion” is also

launch vehicle, outfitted with a payload fairing provided by

emblematic for Unaxis’ strategy of joining forces with cus-

Unaxis. This success paves the way for Contraves Space to

tomers to bring high-performance products to the market-

take a leading position in payload fairings also in the North

place.

American aerospace industry.
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EMPLOYEE HIGHLIGHTS

1

Management training in collaboration with IMD

5

New employee shareholders

EXED (EXecutive EDucation), the management training pro-

The internal share ownership program continues to meet

gram for Unaxis personnel developed in conjunction with

with tremendous interest. In 2003, a total of 453 employees

the renowned Institute for Management Development (IMD) in

acquired shares in Unaxis at preferential conditions. As co-

Lausanne, was continued in 2003. At the core of this program

owners of “their” company, they will identify even more with

are company-specific projects as well as courses on strategic,

our corporate goals. In a special lottery, three employees

financial and cyclicity management. By the year’s end, roughly

receive an invitation to Unaxis’ annual general meeting of

170 managers had taken part in the EXED program.

shareholders – replete with a side trip to Balzers and Lake
Lucerne.

2

New platform for innovation

6

Third anniversary of the SCA program

Under the banner “Innovate for Customer Value”, Unaxis con-

In 2003, participants entered into the third year of the Strategic

ducted in July 2003 its first multi-day, international innovation

Capability Acquisition (SCA) program. This Unaxis personal

conference. 70 participants had the opportunity to exchange

development program is aimed at talented future managers

ideas on the basis of their own experiences, and to discuss

who bring with them a technical or academic background and

concepts that foster a favorable climate for innovation. In a

several years of professional experience. The 18-month course

special ceremony, the “Patent of the Year” was awarded in

encompasses on-the-job training with involvement in demand-

recognition of pathbreaking innovations within the Group. The

ing projects at various Group locations and organizational

award winners were ESEC’s new “Tsunami” wire bonder and

units.

the BioChip substrate developed by Optics.

3

Managers jointly shape the future

7

Top rankings at WorldSkills Competition

In September, Unaxis conducted its fourth International

Two Unaxis apprentices earned medals at the international

Management Conference (IMC). In keeping with the confer-

WorldSkills Competition 2003. This accomplishment repre-

ence’s main topic, “Shaping the Future,” Unaxis managers

sented not only a distinction for the two winners and their

from all parts of the world came together to discuss future-

instructors, but also a seal of approval for the dual approach

oriented scenarios and strategies. The key issues in this regard

to professional training. In 2003, Unaxis educated a total of

were the increasing significance of the Asian region, imple-

171 apprentices in various technical and commercial areas of

mentation of the new Group structure, and the creation of

specialization.

long-term values.

4

Additional workshops focused on

8

New research collaboration with universities

customer orientation

Unaxis maintains partnerships with select universities and

“Each Unaxis employee is in a position to create added value

research institutes throughout the world. In so doing, Unaxis

for customers” was the key concept of the “Customer Value

fosters technological innovation and the transfer of knowledge

Journeys” in 2003. Within the framework of this workshop,

between research and practice. Again in 2003, a number of

employees from all hierarchical levels of the Group drew up

new cooperative relationships were established – for example,

proposals on how to heighten customer satisfaction. The

together with the University of Central Florida (USA), Unaxis is

“Customer Value Journeys” serves not only as a means of

developing new technologies in the semiconductor area; and

training personnel, but also of anchoring the Unaxis corporate

in conjunction with the University of Neuchâtel (Switzerland),

culture on a Group-wide scale.

we are breaking new ground in the field of solar technology.
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A KEY MISSION OF UNAXIS:
MAKING VISIONS COME TRUE

GROUP
High-tech products are playing an increasingly important role
in everyday life. With its technologies, Unaxis creates the conditions in which those products can be manufactured – and
thus actively contributes to progress that benefits all of society.
Unaxis facilitates the production of high-tech products such as

Clearly defined growth targets and

microchips, flat panel displays, digital data storage devices,

focus on the marketplace

video projectors, solar cells and satellites, as well as industrial

Unaxis wants to grow further and continue to strengthen the

products like energy-saving diesel engines and high-perfor-

Group’s position in its various markets. A business policy built

mance machine tools. In addition, Unaxis technology is the

on seven pillars creates the foundation for that endeavor.

enabling factor for process applications in the food, chemical,
pharmaceutical and medical diagnostics industries. In this
world of the

21st

century, new application areas are continually

Resolute customer orientation: With its innovative technologies, long-term partnerships and close-to-the-customer infra-

opening up for the Unaxis technologies. And global competi-

structure, Unaxis creates measurable added value.

tion demands superior performance with each and every day

Employee development: The employees and managers of

passing.

Unaxis represent its most important potential for the future.
The Group invests systematically in the training and continuing

This path requires foresight and decisive action. Unaxis must

education of its personnel and the furtherance of highly talent-

be able to anticipate future technological trends and customer

ed individuals.

needs, and translate those factors into marketable products.

Value-oriented corporate management: Unaxis seeks to

Unaxis’ research, development production and service efforts

achieve a sustainable increase in enterprise value. Accordingly,

are ultimately aimed at precisely those demands. And as cus-

all strategies and operating initiatives are assessed on the basis

tomers, globally leading information technology and industrial

of their contribution to that effort.

companies build on the capabilities of Unaxis.

Global presence: Thanks to its global infrastructure, Unaxis
is in a position to exploit opportunities throughout the world.

The Unaxis vision – added value for all stakeholders

Expansion of the Group’s geographic presence is mainly

Unaxis is obligated in equal measure to its customers, employ-

focused on the growth regions of Asia.

ees and shareholders. The Group pursues a long-term ap-

Strengthened competitiveness: Through continual improve-

proach that is founded on principles of sustainability. Unaxis

ment of its structures and processes, Unaxis reinforces its

fosters a corporate culture that encourages entrepreneurial

position in the marketplace. The focus in this regard is on opti-

thinking, team spirit and the personal growth of each individual.

mizing the Group’s value chain as well as on new approaches
to manufacturing by means of common product platforms and

Unaxis creates outstanding benefits for its customers.
A leading market position, sustainable growth, as well as costconscious and efficient action are prerequisites for a high level
of profitability.

targeted outsourcing.
Focus on core capabilities: Know-how and experience in
thin film, vacuum and precision technologies delineate Unaxis’
business activities.
Balanced portfolio: With its five segments, each serving

Unaxis takes its social responsibilities seriously and makes a

attractive and essentially differing markets, the Group portfolio

significant contribution by treating the environment with care.

of holdings is indeed broadly based. And that ensures a finetuned balance between stability and a high, yet cyclical, rate of
growth.
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Wang Qingzhao, Hong Kong, China, Asia, Planet Earth, The Universe – this popular children’s way of writing a complete postal address
also makes a lot of sense for adults. People can talk with anyone, anytime. The mobile telephone is only the tangible part of a practically limitless network for the transmission of words, text and images. Chip technology from Unaxis makes it possible. And precision
instruments reliably relay all of that information via satellite. Whenever you journey on the global data highway, feel free to consider
yourself linked with Unaxis.
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UNAXIS LOOKS OUT FOR OTHERS:
NAMELY ITS CUSTOMERS

Customer orientation is Unaxis’ key focus. The invest-

tor when it comes to increasing flexibility and reducing costs.

ments Unaxis makes in the areas of product innova-

Over the past year, Unaxis has focused intently on this topic

tion, employee development, service and support, and

and formulated supply chain management guidelines for all of

process optimization all serve a single goal: creating

its segments. Those guidelines establish basic principles that

added value for our customers. By understanding their

are applicable on a Group-wide basis, above all the following:

needs and translating them into marketable products
that help customers to gain competitive advantages in

Intelligent product design, and design-to-cost: Stan-

their field of enterprise, Unaxis strengthens its own

dardized product platforms and the utilization of complete

position in the marketplace – and thus secures its own

subsystems contribute to lower costs – an objective that is

future success.

already taken into account in the development phase of a
given product.

Key account management

Heightened visibility: Supply chain management extends

and research cooperation intensified

beyond the Group itself to embrace suppliers and customers

In the 2003 financial year, Unaxis redoubled its focus on key

as well. Incorporating pre- and post-production value chains

customers. Already in the previous year, the Group introduced

into the company-internal planning process enables material

Key Account Management teams in all of its divisions. So

procurement, product delivery and support to be handled more

today at each customer location, there is a team consisting of

flexibly.

a Key Account Manager, Technical Account Manager, plus

Targeted outsourcing: Unaxis focuses on key components

service and support personnel. And the results are measur-

and processes that are based on its own core capabilities.

able. Assembly & Packaging (ESEC), for example, has been able

All other product elements, including complete modules, are

once again to increase from 31 to 38 percent the proportion of

purchased from carefully selected suppliers. Through global

sales attributable to key account customers. Also, two major

procurement, Unaxis is able to serve its customers more

orders with a total value in excess of CHF 100 million received

rapidly and at more favorable conditions.

by the Display Technology division were not least of all the
result of its resolute strengthening of key account management

A central factor in Unaxis’ supply chain management initiative

as it pertains to Asian customers. In the development of new

is the transfer of know-how and best practice beyond the con-

product generations, Unaxis is also working with its customers

fines of its divisions. And to reinforce the value chain, clear-cut

in the area of research. These cooperative efforts have a dual

priorities were established for all divisions and corresponding

advantage: for one, they ensure that product innovations are

projects were initiated. By way of example, the Wafer Process-

clearly oriented towards market needs; and secondly, they

ing division introduced measures in order to reduce by a wide

lower the related technological and financial risks. Examples

margin the number of its product platforms. And the Assembly

of this are the exclusive partnership between Data Storage

& Packaging (ESEC) division added flexibility to its own value

Solutions and electronics giant Philips for optimization of the

chain, as well as redoubling its customer-care efforts – steps

Paragon replication line for rewritable DVDs, as well as the

that won recognition not only among customers but also from

Optics division’s close collaboration with Novartis in the area

third parties: the University of St.Gallen awarded ESEC its

of BioChip substrates.

Supply Chain Management Benchmarking Award 2003.

Supply chain management – the key topic
The intimate partnership between Unaxis and its customers
already begins at the earliest development stage of a new
product generation and extends through the entire value chain.
Thus reinforced customer orientation requires above all that
this value chain be continually optimized through what is
referred to as supply chain management. The goal always
remains the same: to develop marketable products, deliver
them within the shortest time frame possible, and provide reliable after-sales service to ensure their problem-free operation.
At the same time, supply chain management is a decisive fac-

Here
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So fish stays fresh and coffee keeps its aroma, Unaxis ensures that they aren’t exposed to air. Unaxis vacuum technology protects
food in its packaging and extracts the warmth from refrigerators so that products can be stored in a chilled environment. By the way –
when a fresh bottle of orange juice pops as the cap is turned, you’ll hear Unaxis at work.
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6 500 GOOD REASONS FOR SUCCESS:
THE EMPLOYEES OF UNAXIS

Unaxis has many faces. 6 500 employees are active

This analysis of existing management capacities is compared

around the world on behalf of Unaxis Corporation.

to the need for additional managers as determined from the

Their sense for the needs of customers, their knowl-

overall strategy. Ultimately, this status assessment is used as

edge of new technological trends, and their ability to

the basis for determining measures necessary at the Group and

translate ideas cost-effectively into actual products

division level. For existing managers and individuals with man-

are all key factors in ensuring the future success of

agement potential, Unaxis creates individualized development

Unaxis. That is why Unaxis promotes a corporate cul-

plans and qualification programs. In turn, the fulfillment of per-

ture of achievement, innovative spirit and customer

sonal achievement goals is taken into account in the employee

orientation.

compensation plan. Quantitative gaps are filled by means of
personnel marketing and recruiting. For university graduates

Commitment to training and continuing education

as well as candidates who bring with them a technical or aca-

Unaxis’ commitment begins with the training of young individ-

demic background and several years of professional expe-

uals. At the Balzers (FL) and Trübbach (CH) facilities alone,

rience, Unaxis has created tailor-made entry-level programs.

more than 100 young employees are currently apprentices in
various technical and commercial fields. With in-house and

Nurturing corporate culture and

external courses, as well as on-the-job training, Unaxis fosters

internal communication

the further professional development of its employees. Tech-

For Unaxis, the topic of employee motivation extends beyond

nical training centers are maintained at all divisional head-

the area of training and continuing education. Of equal impor-

quarters. At Trübbach alone, more than 700 employees attend

tance are a high degree of identity with Unaxis’ strategic goals,

continuing education courses each year. A high priority is

as well as a corporate culture that encourages and rewards

placed on education of local specialists, especially at the

performance.

Group’s new locations in Asia. The goal in doing so is also to
network the Group’s internal know-how throughout all divisions

Accordingly, Unaxis reinforced its internal communication

and corporate facilities.

efforts during the 2003 financial year. A wide array of ways and
means are available to keep employees up to date on topics of

A key role at the management level is played by the EXED

strategic importance and current events within the Group –

(EXecutive EDucation) program, a management seminar that

among other things, employee informational events, the

has now been in existence for two years and is conducted

employee newspaper, the Group-wide intranet and a regularly

jointly with the Institute for Management Development (IMD) in

published electronic newsletter.

Lausanne. Within the framework of this continuing education
program, more than 170 Unaxis managers have addressed

Moreover, workshops on customer orientation contribute sig-

company-specific topics and projects – for example, in the

nificantly to employee education, internal communication and

area of strategic management, financial and human resources

an enhanced corporate culture. At these seminars, employees

management, as well as supply chain management.

from all hierarchical levels and all areas of the Group transcend
national, cultural and language barriers to develop ideas on

Management development

how to improve customer satisfaction.

anchored on a Group-wide basis
Against the backdrop of ever more challenging business

Major focal points for 2004

conditions in the international marketplace, tremendous impor-

During the course of the current year, Unaxis will be conduct-

tance is attached to the development of management talent.

ing its third Group-wide employee survey. The results should

Management positions within the Group must be filled opti-

provide a means of measuring developments in employee sat-

mally and the personal capabilities of those in positions of

isfaction and shed light on areas where there is a need for

responsibility must be continually broadened. And not un-

action. With regard to management development, supporting

importantly, new talent has to be attracted to Unaxis. To that

the Group’s strategic orientation towards the Asian region is a

purpose, Unaxis in 2003 established a systematic manage-

key task. Aside from its impact on continuing education, this

ment development process at all of its divisions. The point of

will also have an influence on succession planning and

departure of this development plan is an annual analysis of the

employment policies.

management capacities in qualitative and quantitative terms.
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Put the Rolling Stones in your pocket. What it takes an entire stadium to accomplish live can also be done with just a pair of
earphones. CDs, Walkmans, MP3 players all squeeze a discotheque into the size of your vest pocket. The latest generations of data
storage devices afford possibilities that we could only dream of yesterday. On a single DVD, a concert is brought to life; or the Lord of
the Rings pays a personal visit to your living room. In the development of production systems for data storage devices, Unaxis is in the
director’s seat.
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OF PARTICULARLY GREAT VALUE TO UNAXIS:
CREATING VALUE FOR INVESTORS

Unaxis pursues the creation of enterprise value on an

substance of the enterprise and shareholders’ equity. The

ongoing, long-term basis. In so doing, it places equal

measures that were realized have brought a more streamlined

weight on the needs of customers, employees and

structure to Unaxis, particularly in shared-cost functions such

shareholders alike. With its strategic focus on attrac-

as marketing, distribution and administration. This efficiency

tive growth markets, as well as on strengthening its

and cost-consciousness is to be further intensified.

core capabilities in thin film, vacuum and precision
technology, the Group creates the foundation for pre-

Return-oriented investment policy and

cisely that value.

risk-conscious financial policy
Unaxis derives investment programs directly from its strategic

Value drivers as measurable milestones

focus and further development of core processes. The related

To generate enterprise value, Unaxis starts with the underlying

investments must not only be in line with the Group strategy

factors that drive value – clearly measurable quantities that

and technology portfolio, but also have to meet specific

directly influence its growth. In this process, tremendous

economic requirements. For that reason, Unaxis subjects each

emphasis is placed on the trend to free cash flow and EVA

program to a profitability assessment that incorporates the

(economic value added). Bringing about improvement in those

underlying risks – this with the goal of achieving a higher return

value drivers, and hence increasing Unaxis’ enterprise value, is

than the internal, risk-adjusted cost of capital. Not only invest-

the objective of operative action plans that are developed

ments in fixed assets, but also the active management of inven-

within the framework of the annual strategic planning process.

tories and trade receivables, all lead to an improved risk/reward
profile and thus contribute significantly to enterprise value.

Revenue growth is driven by innovativeness, product differentiation, key account management, and investment programs in

In order to safeguard its flexibility and independence, Unaxis

promising business fields.

adheres to a fundamentally conservative financial policy. The bal-

The profit margin is mainly a function of outstanding product
and problem solutions as well as effective supply chain management.

ance sheet structure, with its high level of shareholders’ equity
and net liquidity, affords a cushion against potential business
risks.

Active management of inventories and trade receivables frees

Value-oriented management in service of investors

up liquidity and reduces default and writedown risks.

Strategy, value drivers and the corresponding operative action

Investments in fixed assets contribute to a sustainable increase
in enterprise value provided they correspond to the company’s
strategic orientation and risk/reward profile.

plans exert a sustainable, positive influence on the enterprise
value of Unaxis. This fundamental approach also applies to the
success-related compensation system for management. To
support the implementation of value-enhancing strategies, the

The tax rate can be optimized by shaping the Group structure

individual value drivers – adapted to the given hierarchical

and taking appropriate financial measures; a lower tax burden

level – are broken down and used as measurement criteria in

leads directly to higher net profitability.

the determination of management bonuses.

A balanced mix of business-related and financial risks promotes stable and reasonable capital costs.

In order to lend transparency to performance progress and
hence the added value being generated for investors, Unaxis

Unaxis conducts regular surveys to assess the satisfaction of

provides frank and comprehensive information. Unaxis also

its employees and customers, and introduces corresponding

attaches great importance to corporate governance practices.

measures as appropriate.

Added transparency is also afforded by external financial
reporting that as of 2004 now reflects five market-oriented

The systematic, strategic and operative controlling of value

segments. This new means of organizational subdivision facili-

drivers shed light on the effectiveness of initiatives that have

tates comparison of Unaxis’ corporate performance to that of

been introduced and enable adjustments to be made if neces-

other competitors, thereby making it easier to assess the busi-

sary. As a result, there is the assurance that corporate deci-

ness potential of Unaxis Corporation.

sions are being measured in terms of their influence on the
value drivers. For example, the cyclically related decline in
business over the past 21⁄ 2 years called for efficiency-enhancement and cost-reduction programs in order to maintain the
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Hong Kong, London, New York or Zurich. Your office is wherever you boot-up your computer – always at the midpoint of a network that
transmits more data than one person could ever hope to process. When the necessary chips, hard disks and CD drives become
smaller and smaller, providing higher performance with yet greater affordability, you can be sure that Unaxis has a hand in the matter.
And clever minds, too.
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CREATING LONG-TERM SUSTAINABLE VALUE:
FINANCIALLY, ECOLOGICALLY AND SOCIALLY

Unaxis orients its actions to the long term. A central

tion conference, which was held under the banner of “Innovate

element of business policy is to achieve a sustainable

for Customer Value.” Moreover, the Unaxis Technology Board

increase in enterprise value on the basis of economic,

was constituted at the Group level and includes the Chief

ecological and social criteria. With this holistic per-

Technology Officers of all divisions. This body coordinates the

ception of sustainability, Unaxis creates the conditions

Group-wide innovation activities with the goal of interlinking

that ensure the company’s future success to the bene-

research, development and market needs even more effec-

fit of all stakeholders.

tively, as well as exchanging ideas and “best practices.” In
keeping with the concept of Business Excellence, Unaxis

A triple base for sustainability

has established guidelines governing the organization and

Unaxis adheres to a long-term business policy, one that focus-

processes involved in innovation.

es on the sustainable creation of value and incorporates into
corporate decision-making processes economic, environmen-

Measures for strengthening the patent portfolio

tal and social aspects in equal measure. The commercial

As a key organizational measure, Unaxis has created a “gate-

strength of Unaxis is based on its resolute customer orienta-

keeper” function at each corporate division. In matters related

tion, systematic innovation management and efficient process-

to patenting, those individuals now act as an interface between

es. By developing competitive technologies, products and

the company’s research, development, sales and legal depart-

services, as well as ensuring an optimally functioning value

ments. In efforts to identify patent infringements, the gate-

chain, Unaxis affords its customers added value. Moreover, its

keepers continually analyze the patents of major competitors.

value-enhancing financial policy and Group-wide risk manage-

And to underscore the topic of patent law even more, develop-

ment efforts provide a high degree of financial stability and

ment engineers and sales personnel have been trained and fur-

enable opportunities and risks to be identified for inclusion in

ther educated in matters related to Unaxis’ portfolio of patents.

corporate decisions. Unaxis takes ecological aspects into

This heightened employee awareness of the true value of patent

account in all phases of the production cycle, particularly dur-

protection has already shown initial results – the number of

ing the development of new technologies. The Group is also

patent applications filed on behalf of the company increased

committed to avoiding negative influences on the environment,

yet again in comparison to the previous year. Also of great sig-

as well as to protecting natural resources. With regard to

nificance for Unaxis is the quality of those patents; in other

social sustainability, aspects such as business ethics, work

words, the influence they have on the company’s market posi-

and product safety, as well as the Group’s social commitment

tion and profitability.

take center stage.
Patent of the Year as recognition for
Group-wide innovation management established

outstanding innovations

For a high-tech enterprise like Unaxis, continual innovation and

As a means of fostering a culture of innovation, Unaxis has

protection of the company’s intellectual capital are imperatives

been presenting its “Patent of the Year” award since 2002 in

that are central to the economic development of the entire

recognition of the research and development teams whose

enterprise. A full product pipeline represents a key competitive

patents have made a pathbreaking contribution to the Group’s

factor in gaining a larger share of the market. Because the

technological leadership. During the past financial year, two

“know-how component” of a product’s total value increases

“Patent of the Year” awards were conferred – one to a team

with each new product generation, the related spectrum of

from Optics for their development of grid structures used in

intellectual property must be safeguarded by patents – from

the production of BioChip substrates; and the other to devel-

the overall system concept, to the process technology and

opers from ESEC for the rotating bondhead at the heart of the

product specifications involved, right through to the software.

company’s new “Tsunami” wire bonder. Both of those patents

A strong patent portfolio not only ensures the company’s com-

safeguard significant technological advances that have the

petitive position, but also strengthens its negotiating posture

potential to spawn follow-up innovations.

in joint development projects and licensing deals.
Systematic risk management
In the 2003 financial year, Unaxis focused its entire global

Risks are a fact of life in every entrepreneurial activity. Rele-

organization even more resolutely on innovation management.

vant risks in this regard are those potential events that could

Last July witnessed Unaxis’ first multi-day, worldwide innova-

threaten achievement of the Group’s goals and thus undermine

Here

Being a successful surgeon requires a sharp eye and a cool head. Unaxis contributes quite a bit in that regard. OP lights illuminate
every bodily detail, but they don’t raise the room temperature. Just as bright and cool are the tiny endoscopic lights from Unaxis that
are used in minimally invasive surgery. Already during diagnosis, the doctor can rely on Unaxis – our vacuum processes facilitate the
analysis of blood and tissue. And even choosier when it comes to medical analysis these days are BioChips, another Unaxis speciality.
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its financial substance or profitability. By employing an institu-

ronmental policy, the foundation of which is a Group directive

tionalized approach to risk management, Unaxis takes those

adopted by the Board on environmental, health and safety

risks into account – risks are systematically identified and

issues. Its specific regulations incorporate for example a

assessed; the findings from that risk analysis are integrated

Group-wide list of forbidden materials. Unaxis’ environmental

into business processes; and action plans are designed to

policy also stipulates a common orientation and ensures that

counter the relevant risks. As a result, there is assurance that

ecological requirements are systematically integrated into all of

risk factors are also systematically incorporated into the cor-

the Group’s commercial activities. Within that framework, the

porate decision-making processes.

individual Group Divisions act on their own responsibility. In
particular, they are charged with introducing an environmental

Exploiting opportunities; limiting risks

management system that must comply with ISO 14001 envi-

As a high-tech enterprise, Unaxis is active in commercial areas

ronmental standards. In the 2003 financial year, three key facil-

that have above-average growth and profit potential. That

ities were newly certified under this norm: the technology cen-

exposes the Group to significant opportunities – provided that

ters of the Assembly & Packaging division (ESEC) in Cham

the associated risks are controlled, contained or avoided by

(CH), the Wafer Processing division in St. Petersburg (USA),

means of appropriate mechanisms. Systematic risk manage-

as well as the Coating Services segment’s coating center in

ment enables better results to be achieved on a sustainable

Balzers (FL).

basis, as illustrated by the following examples:
Environmental compatibility thanks to high technology
Dynamics of the marketplace: Among the inherent risks of

Unaxis technologies combine cost efficiency with environmen-

the markets in which Unaxis operates are cyclical demand

tal compatibility. They make a decisive contribution towards

fluctuations that can at times be extreme. By continually

reducing consumption of resources in the production of high-

improving supply chain management, Unaxis safeguards its

tech products. In many instances, manufacturing more envi-

operating flexibility and can rapidly adapt production capacity

ronmentally compatible products is only possible thanks to

in response to changes in demand.

Unaxis technologies. For example, components coated by the

Technology: Generally speaking, the innovative leaders in

Coating Services segment reduce the fuel consumption and

high-tech segments are rewarded by strong growth, superior

toxic emissions of diesel engines – such as in the fuel-miserly

earnings and a higher level of customer bonding. But they are

VW Lupo, the world’s first mass produced three-liter auto-

confronted with heightened risks – be that due to a waning

mobile. Environmental protection, advanced technologies

innovation dynamic, new technologies from competitors, or

and commercial success are not mutually exclusive under-

patent infringements. Unaxis has therefore established innova-

takings, but instead can often open up even new business

tion management on a Group-wide scale, safeguarded its intel-

opportunities. This was demonstrated in 2003 in the form

lectual property even further, and strengthened its patent pro-

of the newly created Unaxis Solar business unit within the

tection. At the same time, it systematically fosters the

Display Technology division. Based on Unaxis’ thin film tech-

know-how of its employees.

nology, it developed a process for manufacturing cost-effec-

Expansion in Asia: The Asian region is characterized by

tive solar cells with a significantly improved energy coefficient.

attractive and steadily growing markets. By expanding its presence in Asia, Unaxis is ensuring that it remains close to key

Projects for improving products and processes

customers and suppliers. However, establishing this market

As a manufacturer of production systems and components,

presence ties up management resources and also harbors polit-

Unaxis promotes the integration of environmental protection

ical and cultural risks. Unaxis has therefore aggressively pur-

into product policy that governs the entire lifecycle. That

sued a development of its management resources, as well as

embraces not only product design, development and manu-

the establishment of appropriate global business processes.

facturing, but also the packaging and transport of the finished
product. 2003 witnessed the initiation of a number of related

Acknowledgement of ecological sustainability

projects at the divisional and local levels. For example, Coat-

Unaxis states in its corporate Vision, “We acknowledge our

ing Services – in collaboration with the Technical University of

responsibility to society as a whole and make a contribution

Berlin – investigated the ecological balance of coated machine

towards treating the environment in a considerate manner.”

tools. As a part of this effort, the manufacturing processes, as

Based on that avowal, Unaxis has formulated a binding envi-

well as pre- and post-production processes at suppliers and
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customers, were analyzed for their environmental impact.

Inclusion in new sustainability index

A similar project focused on ecologically oriented product

Unaxis’ sustainability policy has been recognized by indepen-

design was conducted by Display Tech-nology division in con-

dent entities. For example, the shares of Unaxis have been

junction with the University of St.Gallen. In 2003, Unaxis also

included in the Kempen SNS Smaller Europe SRI (Socially

continued to develop the environmental orientation of its

Responsible Investment) Index, which was launched in 2003.

processes. For example, ESEC adapted its waste-disposal

This sustainability index consists of companies that meet the

practices to the latest ecological requirements, and Data Stor-

highest standards in terms of business ethics, work conditions

age Solutions developed a new waste-disposal concept that

and the environment. Selection for inclusion in the Kempen

enables the recycling of polycarbonate, the basic raw material

SNS Smaller Europe SRI Index is based on a detailed catalog

used for CDs and DVDs.

of criteria that includes economic, ecological and social
aspects. Of the roughly 1 700 companies that were analyzed,

Social sustainability calls for ethical dealings
Unaxis conducts its commercial activities in accordance with
high ethical principles. A Group directive on business ethics
governs the standards that are to be upheld by the company
as well as each of its employees. These regulations encompass compliance with local laws, behavior in the event of conflicts of interest, rules concerning transparency, all the way
through to measures aimed at ensuring fair work conditions for
all employees, prohibition of discriminatory hiring and firing
practices, as well as equal opportunity for men and women.
Unaxis managers at the segment, division and local level are
obligated to implement these Group-wide guidelines in their
specific area of responsibility, and compliance is verified by
means of regularly conducted audits.
Safe products and workplaces
Unaxis pays particular attention to the health and the safety of
its employees. The Group has defined globally valid safety
standards that are laid down in a security manual and checked
in periodic audits. Safety officers at each company location
supervise compliance with these norms. They also coordinate
safety training seminars and rule on any health or safety
issues, for example the handling of hazardous materials such
as special gases and solvents. Established rules clearly govern
how such materials are to be dealt with – safety data is compiled right from the time they are purchased and continues to
be collected during their storage and use, all the way through
to final disposal. Also, Unaxis incorporates safety considerations in the development stage of new products, with European Union product safety norms used as a basis. As a result,
Unaxis is able to offer its customers safe products and
services at all times.

only 69 were ultimately included in the index.
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SEGMENTS
As of the start of 2004, Unaxis has realigned the Group structure
in a manner that more resolutely focuses on end-user markets.
With this new structure, Unaxis has put the pieces in place
that will help it to exploit the full potential of the Group portfolio
even more effectively.
The Group’s portfolio now comprises

Balance between growth and stability

five separate segments:

As a high-tech company, Unaxis is active in business fields
that have attractive growth potential, but which are also sub-

Semiconductor Equipment

ject to highly divergent market cycles. Pronounced fluctuations

– Wafer Processing (previously Semiconductors Front End),

in demand are, in particular, characteristic for the information

– Assembly & Packaging (previously Semiconductors Back End)

technology markets. Accordingly, the Semiconductor Equip-

– and Display Technology (previously Displays)

ment and Data Storage Solutions segments as well as the

Data Storage Solutions (previously Data Storage);

Optics division demonstrate a highly cyclical course of busi-

Coating Services (previously Surface Technology);

ness. And even among these IT-related business fields, devel-

Vacuum Solutions (previously Leybold Vacuum);

opments do not necessarily run in parallel because the respec-

Components and Special Systems

tive markets exhibit their own differing growth dynamic. Within

– Optics

the Group portfolio, it is the industrially oriented components

– and Space Technology (previously Contraves Space)

and service businesses of the Coating Services (Balzers) and
Vacuum Solutions (Leybold Vacuum) segments and the Space

Portfolio strengthens presence in marketplace as well

Technology division (Contraves Space) that counterbalance the

as competitiveness

cyclical business. From a strategic point of view, this balanced

By combining the Wafer Processing, Assembly & Packaging

diversification of the Group portfolio evens out the cycles at

(ESEC) and Display Technology divisions to create the Semi-

the sales and net profit levels, and thus provides a good mix

conductor Equipment segment, all of the Group’s segments

between cyclical high growth and reliable stability.

now possess the critical mass required for their respective
markets. As a result, Unaxis has enhanced its uniform appear-

Despite its diversified target markets, the Group portfolio offers

ance in the marketplace and benefited its future growth. In

significant synergies in terms of technologies, business

addition to the Unaxis brand name, the well-established ESEC,

processes and marketing. The Group’s core capabilities in the

Balzers, Leybold Vacuum and Contraves Space brands will be

fields of thin film, vacuum and precision technology represent

maintained in their own specific markets. In the areas of

the common denominator in the portfolio of holdings. All orga-

research and development, global sales and service, as well as

nizational units utilize at least one, when not all, of these areas

administration, this new Group structure makes it possible for

of competency. Moreover, all of Unaxis’ business activities

Unaxis to exploit additional synergies and thus enhance the

benefit from the size of the Group, its management processes,

competitive strength of the entire Group. Simultaneously, this

as well as the centralized resources it provides.

market-focused segmentation enables the business activities
of Unaxis to be compared more easily with other market participants, thereby contributing to increased transparency in the
Group’s financial reporting.
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Corporate portfolio

Segments

Semiconductor Equipment

Divisions

Wafer
Processing

Assembly &
Packaging

Display
Technology

Brands

Unaxis

ESEC

Unaxis

Bonding

Coating

Core
Deposition
technologies
Etching

Data Storage Coating
Solutions
Services

Vacuum
Solutions

Components and
Special Systems

Optics

Space
Technology

Unaxis

Balzers

Leybold
Vacuum

Unaxis

Contraves
Space

Coating

Coating

Vacuum
technology

Coating

Lightweight
structures

Bonding

Electro-optics
Flex
technology

Market
areas

Advanced
Packaging

Die Attach

TFT Displays

Wire Bonding Solar cells

Advanced
Silicon

DVD formats
CD formats
Hard disks

Precision
tools

Process
industry

Projection
display

Payload
fairings

Precision
components

Analytics

Lighting
systems

Satellite
structures and
mechanisms

Photomasks
Compound
Semi & Microtechnology

Information
Technology
Displays
industry

Instrumentation
Automotive
industry

Research &
Development Imaging

Scientific
instruments
Electro-optical
systems

Biotechnology
End
products*

Semiconductors
for:

Semiconductors
for:

PCs

PCs

Mobile
phones

Mobile
phones

Automotive
sensors

PDAs

Game
Telecommuni- consoles
cations
Automotive
sensors
Telecommunications

TFT-LCD
screens for:

DVDs/CDs
for:

Televisions

DVD/CD RW
(rewritable)

Monitors
Mobile
phones
PDAs
Navigation
systems
Solar cells
for:
Rooftoppanels
Buildingintegrated
photovoltaic

* Unaxis is involved at various stages of the value chain. Semiconductor
Equipment and Data Storage Solutions supply production systems for
end products like CDs and DVDs, as well as intermediate products like
microchips and hard disks – all key components of finished electronic
devices. Vacuum Solutions and Components and Special Systems make
components for demanding end applications. Coating Services provides
surface coating primarily as an industrial service.

DCD/CD R
(write-once)
DVD/CD
Prerecorded
Hard disks
for:
Game
consoles
PCs
Digital
cameras
MP3 players

Coating
Vacuum
service
pumps
for precision for making:
tools used in:
SemiCutting
conductors
Blanking

PCs

Forming

DVDs/CDs

Plastic
Injection
Molding

Medical
instruments
Analytical
instruments

Optical filters
and
components
for:

Payload
fairings for
launch
vehicles:

Projectors for
professional
and home
cinema
applications

Ariane 5
(Europe)

Architectural/
stage lighting

Atlas V-500
(USA)
Vega (Europe)

Composite
Rearand actuator
projection TVs
Cooling
technology
Coating
and airMedical
for:
service for
conditioning instruments
Satellite
precision
plant
Laser systems structures/
components
Automotive
mechanisms
used in:
Automotive/
braking
industrial
Scientific
Diesel
systems
safety
instruments
injection
Architectural systems
systems
Lithographic
glass
Digital
systems
Engines
Incandescent/ cameras
Gearboxes
discharge
Biomedical
lamps
Compressors
analysis
Food
Machinery
packaging
Medical
instruments
Die Casting
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SUMMARY OF THE 2003 FINANCIAL YEAR

Key figures
2003
2002
in CHF million

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

1 788
1 610
16
6 456

1 494
1 490
–83
6 544

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

562
420
–98
1 674

406
388
–133
1 636

Wafer Processing
Wafer Processing develops innovative production equipment
for deposition and etching processes used in semiconductor
device manufacturing.

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Number of employees at year-end

179
161
606

158
170
624

Assembly & Packaging (ESEC)
Assembly & Packaging (ESEC) is a leading supplier of automated chip assembly equipment and processes for the semiconductor industry.

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Number of employees at year-end

200
165
633

157
150
688

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Number of employees at year-end

183
94
435

91
68
324

Data Storage Solutions
Data Storage Solutions is the world’s leading manufacturer of
coating equipment for data storage media and total system
solutions for every stage of production.

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

293
293
37
473

184
171
–4
474

Coating Services (Balzers)
Coating Services (Balzers) develops equipment and processes
for tool and precision component coating, and offers coating
services at over 50 centers worldwide.

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

315
315
43
1 925

305
306
42
1 837

Vacuum Solutions (Leybold Vacuum)
Vacuum Solutions (Leybold Vacuum) produces vacuum solutions for a broad spectrum of cutting-edge manufacturing and
analytical processes, as well as for research purposes.

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

365
345
11
1 492

352
358
1
1 445

Components and Special Systems

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Operating result (EBIT)
Number of employees at year-end

243
228
28
824

181
204
8
781

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Number of employees at year-end

160
124
510

95
91
460

Orders received
Sales to third parties
Number of employees at year-end

83
104
314

86
113
321

Group
2002 figures incorporate divestment of Materials Division activities
(Orders received CHF 66 million, Sales CHF 63 million, EBIT CHF 3 million).

Semiconductor Equipment

Display Technology
Display Technology develops production systems and coating
processes for manufacturing all sizes of flat panel screens.

Optics
Optics produces coated optical components and systems for
data and video projection, the lighting industry, optical sensors
and instruments, and biotechnology.
Space Technology (Contraves Space)
Space Technology (Contraves Space) is the world’s leading
provider of payload fairings for space launch vehicles and also
develops structures, instruments and precision mechanisms
for use in satellites.
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2003 sales development
Q4
Q3
Q2
Q1
in CHF million

462

388

394

366

2002 sales development
Q4
Q3
Q2
Q1
in CHF million

389

381

403

Proportion of
consolidated sales
2003

Asia 41%
Europe 42%
America 17%
Others 1%

317
26%

131

85

94

111

122

100

105

Sales by region
2003

62

Asia 65%
Europe 22%
America 12%
Others 0%

10%

47

59

25

80

81

89

80

44

36

43

29

12

88

75

88

51

32

19

42

36

16

90

82

86

39

23

16

30

41

41

35

78

83

57

25

32

54

31

37

48

81

92

40

24

16

37

49

14

60

71

86

56

21

35

55

44

6

43

80

95

57

24

33

Asia 33%
Europe 39%
America 28%

25
10%

Asia 81%
Europe 15%
America 3%
Others 1%

6%

Asia 92%
Europe 8%
America 0%

26

11
18%

Asia
Europe
America
Others

20%

Asia 11%
Europe 67%
America 21%
Others 0%

21%

Asia 18%
Europe 56%
America 23%
Others 2%

14%

Asia 17%
Europe 59%
America 24%
Others 0%

8%

Asia 31%
Europe 45%
America 24%
Others 0%

6%

Europe 76%
America 24%

20

73

85

51

22

29

81%
13%
6%
0%
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SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT:
WAFER PROCESSING

Activity

Wafer Processing is a leading provider of produc-

fully delivered. In an effort to further expand its position in the

tion equipment for the deposition and etching processes

area of new technologies, Wafer Processing entered into col-

involved in semiconductor manufacturing. The division is

laboration agreements with leading semiconductor manufac-

active in four market sectors: “Advanced Packaging,” with

turers.

metallization processes for wafer-level packaging technologies
such as flip chip; “Advanced Silicon,” with silicon and silicon-

Sustainability

germanium technology; “Photomasks,” with etching processes

of new production technologies that reduce the consumable

used in the production of photomasks; and “Compound

materials both during chip production and in the finished

Semiconductors & Microtechnology,” with telecommunications

product itself. As a result, the processes from Unaxis enable

and optical applications. Resulting from its years of collab-

a more efficient and thus more environmentally friendly use of

oration with leading chip manufacturers and universities,

process gases employed in manufacturing. New materials

Wafer Processing maintains a leading position in production

such as silicon-germanium enable the production of faster and

processes for high-performance chips of the future.

more energy-efficient chips. The division has made strong

Wafer Processing is a leader in the field

progress in the implementation of its environmental manageMarket

In 2003, the market for semiconductor-related

ment system. Its first site to do so, the division’s headquarters

equipment comprised a total volume of roughly CHF 24 billion.

in St. Petersburg (USA), received ISO 14001 environmental

CHF 800 million of that amount was attributable to market seg-

certification.

ments relevant to Wafer Processing. The replacement of oldergeneration PCs and anticipated recovery in the telecommuni-

Outlook

cations industry will require additional investments in new

in the semiconductor market, expectations are that 2004 will

technologies and expansion of existing production capacity.

witness a recovery. Significant investments are likely to be

Wafer Processing is a global leader in etching equipment for

made in 300-mm systems business, in particular by manufac-

photolithographic masks as well as in deposition systems for

turers of memory components. The growth prognoses are also

advanced packaging applications. The division is also well

favorable in the conventional 200-mm segment. As a result of

positioned in its other market segments. With the further devel-

that backdrop, Wafer Processing anticipates an increase in

opment of new technologies such as silicon-germanium, Wafer

orders received and sales for 2004. With an eye towards open-

Processing aims to penetrate future markets.

ing up new markets, the division will continue to invest in

After three years of progressively declining trends

advanced products as well as focus on optimizing its supply
2003

Wafer Processing recorded a 14 percent increase in

chain.

orders received, to CHF 179 million. Its sales, however, eased
by 5 percent to CHF 161 million. Despite initial signs of a recov-

Key figures

2003

2002

ery in the semiconductor industry, the market for deposition

Orders received

179

158

and etching equipment stagnated in 2003. In general, demand

Sales to third parties

161

170

Number of employees at year-end

606

624

centered on the key areas of advanced packaging, telecommunications and thin film heads. However, new investments in
expanded capacity generally remained absent through the first
three quarters. Only the fourth quarter showed strong improvements in equipment bookings.
Highlights

In 2003, Wafer Processing continued its product

innovation efforts and introduced timely new system generations according to schedule. At Semicon China in March, the
division launched its new SHUTTLELINE deposition and etching system. This equipment, designed for laboratory applications and low-volume production, immediately met with a favorable response among key customers. The MASK ETCHER IV
etching system introduced in July 2003 enables for the first
time the etching of photomasks with feature size of 65 nm, and
initial units of this new generation of technology were success-
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The smaller and more powerful that electronic equipment becomes, the much more complex are the silicon wafers from which
individual chips are produced. In effort to expand even further the limits of what is technically possible, Unaxis has perfected
the etching process for photomasks. Photomasks are essentially the photographic negative used for transferring the blueprint of
chips’ electronic circuitry to the wafer. Wafer Processing’s MASK ETCHER IV refines the etching of photomasks to a level that is
unsurpassed in the world: 65 nanometers. As a result, Wafer Processing is putting its stamp on the chips of tomorrow.
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SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT:
ASSEMBLY & PACKAGING (ESEC)

Activity

Assembly & Packaging (ESEC) is a major supplier

to optimize its value chain. This has resulted in a shortening of

of chip assembly equipment and system solutions for use in

average delivery times, a reduction in inventory levels, as well

the semiconductor industry. In addition to its key product lines

as a decline in overall production costs.

– die bonders and wire bonders – the company also produces
systems for new technologies such as flip-chip bonding.

Sustainability

ESEC’s machines are responsible for the assembly, electrical

element of sustainability within the company. For example, it

connection and testing of semiconductor components. The

appointed a Head of Environmental Issues as well as an

fully assembled chips are then put to use in mobile phones,

Environmental Manager. ESEC also introduced an ecological

Personal Digital Assistants and PCs, in sensors for the auto-

planning process. Based on those findings, concrete environ-

motive industry, as well as in the form of microprocessors for

mental goals were defined and all employees have been

telecommunications purposes. ESEC’s technologically leading

trained accordingly. Initial measures that have crystalized from

systems set the industry standard in terms of speed and accu-

these efforts include a highly precise means of material re-

racy. For customers, this translates into increased throughput,

quirements planning, as well as steps aimed at adapting waste

higher chip yields, and hence significant cost advantages in

disposal processes to meet the latest ecological criteria. More-

their manufacturing processes.

over, ESEC has initiated a project that is focusing on the

In 2003, ESEC systematically broadened the

identification of any environmentally harmful matter that may
Market

Following two consecutive years of severe weak-

still be present in the company’s machines and packaging

ness, the market for back-end equipment witnessed a modest

material. On the strength of its environmental management

recovery in the 2003 financial year, with total turnover increas-

system, ESEC received ISO 14001 environmental certification

ing to roughly the CHF 1.2 billion level. The most meaningful

during the 2003 financial year.

growth trends in the field of die bonding are being driven by
multi-chip packages (i. e. modules that consist of several indi-

Outlook

vidual chips), as well as the move towards 300-mm technolo-

precisely how the equipment segment of the semiconductor

gy. In the wire bonding area, a continual increase in the num-

industry will develop. ESEC is reckoning with a further recovery

ber of connections per chip is the primary force behind growth.

in market demand and thus anticipates an improved course

ESEC is the global leader in die bonding as well as in the high-

of business. Impetus for growth will mainly stem from the

end segment of flip-chip bonding. Thanks to its new “Tsunami”

ongoing trend towards miniaturization, as well as demand for

platform, ESEC is also well positioned in the wire-bonding seg-

multi-chip packages (stacked dies). For the financial year cur-

ment.

rently underway, ESEC has set itself the goal of expanding its

Yet again in 2004, it remains difficult to forecast

market share on the basis of the company’s new wire bonding
2003

In step with the improving market environment, ESEC

and die bonding products that were introduced in 2003.

recorded as of the fourth quarter of 2003 a significant increase
in orders received and sales. For the 2003 financial year, ESEC

Key figures

2003

2002

booked orders of CHF 200 million. In comparison to the pre-

Orders received

200

157

vious year, this corresponds to a 27 percent increase. Sales

Sales to third parties

165

150

Number of employees at year-end

633

688

rose by 10 percent to CHF 165 million. The proportion of sales
attributable to key account customers increased yet again and
currently stands at 38 percent of total sales.
Highlights

In the 2003 financial year, ESEC’s new product

introductions were well received in the marketplace. Already in
March, a European chip manufacturer placed an initial order
for the “Tsunami” wire bonder. This new machine generation
has also successfully undergone product evaluations by a
number of key customers in Asia. The new enhanced-performance Die Bonder 2008 hS (high Speed) met with an extremely
favorable market response. ESEC has extended its position in
the die-bonding segment, and has made a tremendous effort
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Wire bonding is a key process in chip assembly. By means of microscopically thin gold or copper wires, ESEC’s wire bonder
connects each chip with the substrate material. These wires transfer the control impulses generated in the microcosm of the chip
into the macro-environment of the given piece of electronic equipment, be it a computer or a mobile telephone. ESEC has taken
decisive steps in the further development of wire bonding: “Tsunami” bonds 20 percent faster, and this with a superior degree
of accuracy in the positioning of the wires. The added value to customers is obvious – aside from achieving a higher rate of
throughput, they also gain greater functionality per square meter of floor space, and this at lower per-unit costs.
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SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT:
DISPLAY TECHNOLOGY

Activity

Display Technology develops thin film coating

for the mass market in flat panel displays and makes it possi-

systems used in the production of LCD flat panel displays. The

ble to produce six 46-inch LCD displays from a single sheet of

division is specialized in thin film transistor (TFT) technology,

glass.

in which each of the screen’s individual pixels is controlled by
an active semiconductor component, thus providing images

Sustainability

that are rich in contrast and brilliancy.

environmentally friendly than traditional monitors that employ

In general, LCD flat panel displays are more

cathode ray tubes. Producing them requires fewer material
Market

Measured on the basis of unit sales, the market for

resources and their operation consumes less energy. With its

flat panel displays once again demonstrated robust growth in

activities in the area of solar technology, Display Technology

2003. This was primarily attributable to the marked decline in

is making a direct contribution towards a more ecologically

their cost per unit, which in turn brings about the need for ever-

compatible means of producing energy by developing pro-

cheaper production processes. Accordingly, the move towards

cesses for cost-efficient production of solar cells on the basis

coating increasingly large glass substrates is accelerating.

of thin film technology. Initial orders for smaller units have

While such glass surfaces today measure roughly 1.3 m 2

already been received, and negotiations for complete produc-

(Generation 5), that area is set to grow to more than 4 m 2

tion systems are currently underway. In late 2003, Display

(Generation 7). At present, PC monitors still represent the

Technology initiated a project that is focused on obtaining ISO

major force for growth in this area. The next thrust will come

14001 environmental certification.

from space-saving flat screen TVs. The market for production
equipment that is relevant to Unaxis comprises a volume of

Outlook

approximately CHF 1.2 billion, although that figure is subject to

display production equipment remain extremely favorable.

pronounced fluctuations.

A number of large manufacturing plants are currently in the

For 2004, prospects in the market for flat panel

planning stage. Moreover, the industry is anticipating a surge
2003

At CHF 183 million, the total value of orders received

in demand for flat screen TVs. For the current financial year,

by Display Technology roughly doubled in comparison to the

Display Technology anticipates that it will again record a high-

previous year. The division’s sales amounted to CHF 94 mil-

er level of orders received, even though the year-on-year rate

lion, representing a 37 percent rise. The pace of orders

of growth may decelerate slightly. Asia continues to represent

received increased most notably during the final months of the

by far the division’s most important market. Accordingly,

year. For example, in early December Display Technology

Display Technology is planning to establish a local facility for

received two large Asian orders with a total contract value of

research and development, engineering and final assembly,

more than CHF 100 million. The related deliveries should com-

which should commence operation by October 2004. Other

mence as of April 2004 and July 2004, respectively, and thus

key objectives of the division are to install the equipment that

will only have an impact on the current year’s sales figures.

has already been ordered, continue to expand its share of the
market, as well as to win initial orders for production lines in

Highlights

Both of the orders received late in the year rep-

the solar energy field.

resent a breakthrough for Display Technology in the area of
production systems for large-surface displays. Of particular

Key figures

strategic importance is the order for Generation 5 production

Orders received

systems placed by Shanghai SVA NEC Liquid Crystal Display

Sales to third parties

2003

2002

183

91

94

68

435

324

Company Ltd., because this equipment will be put to use in
the first production plant for flat panel displays ever to be built
in China. The second major contract represents a follow-on
order from a globally leading flat panel display manufacturer in
Taiwan for Generation 4 machines that will be required to
expand the company’s production capacity. At the FPD International Show in Yokohama, Japan, Display Technology introduced a revolutionary innovation: the world’s first coated glass
for Generation 7. The new machine was developed specifically

Number of employees at year-end
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The LCD flat panel display belongs to the future. The picture quality, combined with reduced weight and energy savings, speaks
for itself. Moreover, it is ideally suited for digital and interactive television. Display Technology has now developed the world’s first
production system for large-surface flat panel displays. In the processing chamber of the “KAI 3000,” glass substrates with up to
four square meters of surface area can be coated – for six 46-inch LCD displays. Thanks to its reliability, throughput rate and
yield, the “KAI 3000” affords a noticeable reduction in costs and thus enables flat screen TVs to achieve their breakthrough into
the mass consumer market.

45

46

DATA STORAGE SOLUTIONS

Activity

Data Storage Solutions is the world’s leading

Highlights

The successful market introduction of the

provider of coating and mastering systems for the data storage

“Fusion” DVD R production line, which was developed in col-

device industry. Data Storage Solutions is the only player in

laboration with Mitsubishi Chemical, marks the final milestone

the market with a comprehensive product range for all data

for Data Storage Solutions on its path to becoming a com-

formats. Its systems are used for the production of optical

prehensive provider of integrated replication lines. The first

media such as CDs and DVDs, as well as for magnetic data

deliveries of “Fusion” were made in the fourth quarter of 2003.

storage devices such as computer hard drives. In addition, the

Parallel to that, Data Storage Solutions launched “Matrix 2,”

segment offers integrated replication lines that are distin-

the second generation of its DVD 9 replication line. The

guished by their ability to provide the highest rate of through-

Segment’s traditional metallizing business also developed

put and lowest per-unit manufacturing costs. The customer

favorably. Thanks to technology innovations and a high

base of Data Storage Solutions on one hand comprises inte-

throughput rate, these new products are setting new standards

grators who manufacture their own production lines and, on

in the industry.

the other, replicators who directly produce the various data
storage media.

Sustainability

Data Storage Solutions’ coating systems

achieve the industry’s most favorable level of material utilizaMarket

The market for coating and mastering systems

tion. This helps customers to benefit not only from lower per-

as well as integrated production lines for data storage media

disk manufacturing costs, but also contributes to a reduction

represents a total annual turnover of roughly CHF 1.4 billion.

in the amount of expensive and largely toxic coating materials

The average annual growth rate of this segment lies in the area

consumed during the production process. With an eye towards

of 12 percent; however, it is subject to marked cyclical fluctua-

the systematic inclusion of environmental sustainability in all of

tions. The recovery that began in the previous year was con-

Unaxis’ business processes, Data Storage Solutions last year

firmed in 2003. Data Storage Solutions plays a dominant role

began to build up an environmental management system.

in the market for data storage equipment – worldwide, more
than one-third of all hard drives, two-thirds of all CDs and CD-

Outlook

ROMs, and more than 80 percent of all rewritable CDs, DVDs

devices is likely to consolidate at the high levels recorded in

and MiniDiscs™ are manufactured with this segment’s coating

2003. Initial signs of overcapacity are starting to appear in the

systems. Data Storage Solutions is also a leading provider of

sector devoted to rewritable data storage media. However,

mastering equipment.

Data Storage Solutions is convinced that this development can

In the current year, the market for data storage

be counterbalanced by its excellent position in the other
2003

Data Storage Solutions recorded a 60 percent year-

market segments. On the strength of its partnership with

on-year increase in orders received to a total of CHF 293 mil-

Mitsubishi in the field of DVD R, as well as the launch of the

lion, with sales rising an even stronger 72 percent, also to

“Matrix 2” for prerecorded DVDs, Data Storage Solutions

CHF 293 million. The main reason for this trend was booming

should once again witness a gratifying course of business.

demand for production systems used to manufacture rewritable data storage media such as DVD RW. Data Storage

Key figures

2003

2002

Solutions expanded its production capacity by a considerable

Orders received

293

184

margin and delivered almost 100 systems during the financial

Sales to third parties

293

171

year. As a result, Data Storage Solutions was able to widen its

Operating result (EBIT)

37

–4

473

474

lead in this market segment, an achievement that was also
attributable to its exclusive cooperative venture with Philips,
as well as the even higher-performance Paragon System. Also,
initial customer investments were made in the area of writable
DVDs. Demand remained consistently high for equipment used
in the production of prerecorded DVDs, and that in turn had a
favorable impact on the segment’s metallizing business.

Number of employees at year-end
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Since its market introduction in 1997, DVD has become the magical word for a small disk that enables entire concerts or feature
films to be played back with ease. Producing writable DVDs, however, is a much more demanding task. A finished DVD R consists
of a complex array of coatings, each with a thickness of only a few thousandths of a millimeter. The manufacturing of those disks
is accomplished by the new “Fusion” production line and comprises a number of discrete processing steps that are conducted at
a record-paced manufacturing cycle of less than four seconds per disk. The “Fusion,” developed by Data Storage Solutions in collaboration with Mitsubishi Chemical, is setting the industry standard for the years to come.
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COATING SERVICES (BALZERS)

Activity

Coating Services (Balzers) is the global leader in

Sustainability

The plasma coating processes developed

the coating of precision components, mainly for the auto-

by Balzers are very friendly to the environment. In contrast to

motive industry, as well as for tools used in metal working and

conventional surface treatments such as electroplating, none

plastics processing. The coatings developed by Balzers and

of the substances used are ecologically harmful. Moreover,

sold under the brand name BALINIT ® act to reduce friction

coated tools and components burden the environment to a

and wear, thereby increasing the performance and service life

lesser extent because they minimize or totally eliminate the

of the coated parts. Balzers offers coating technology on a

use of cooling, lubricating and separating agents as well as

contract basis via its network of coating centers in Europe, the

their disposal after use. In the automotive industry, coated

Americas and Asia, operates in-house coating centers at

precision components reduce fuel consumption and noxious

customer facilities, and directly sells complete coating

emissions, and prolong engine life. A three-liter engine can

systems.

only be produced thanks to coated components. To date,
Balzers has had two of its coating centers environmentally

Market

The global market for coating services amounted to

roughly CHF 1 billion in annual turnover for 2003. In addition, a

certified according to ISO 14001, and preparations are underway for certification of further centers.

volume of CHF 100 to 200 million is generated through sales of
coating equipment. With a 35 percent share of the overall mar-

Outlook

ket, Balzers is clearly the world leader in this field and, with its

of its favorable course of business. The segment’s growth in

56 coating centers in 22 countries, it is the only organization

sales should once again exceed the industry average. In estab-

that can offer globally active companies local coating services

lished market segments, Balzers will continue to pursue the

regardless of where they are situated. The coating market

expansion of its share of the business. Accordingly, the

today displays a certain degree of maturity and stability. How-

successful launch of its new generation of coatings will play a

ever, given its growth rates in the high single digits, this market

significant role in that effort. The segment will also be focusing

also remains attractive over the long term. Growth is primarily

on the additional growth potential afforded by the penetration

influenced by increasing market penetration as well as through

of new geographic markets.

For 2004, Balzers is reckoning with a continuation

continued geographic expansion and gains in market share.
Key figures

2003

2002

Orders received

315

305

results. Its total sales of CHF 315 million represented a

Sales to third parties

315

306

3 percent increase over the prior-year level. Expressed in local

Operating result (EBIT)

43

42

1 925

1 837

2003

Balzers once again recorded favorable 2003 business

currency, that represented a full 6 percent gain in sales. However, the individual country organizations witnessed distinctly
varying trends – those in new locations saw sales climb by 40
to 80 percent, while in more mature markets, the modest
declines in certain countries contrasted with the moderate to
very gratifying sales increases recorded in other countries.
Highlights

Balzers started out 2003 by celebrating the 25th

anniversary of the BALINIT ® coatings which grew to become
the world’s most successful hard coating for tools and components. Following intense development work, Balzers introduced during this anniversary year a completely new coating
system for tools. Through utilization of an aluminum compound
instead of the previously employed titanium alloy, yet another
significant increase in the performance of the coating was
achieved. Simultaneously, through the addition of nine new
coating centers, Balzers expanded its coating network to
a total of 56 locations. Of particular strategic importance
to Balzers was its signing of cooperation agreements with
two key suppliers to the automotive industry.

Number of employees at year-end
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Hobs are utilized in the production of all types of gears, be they for use in water sports, aeronautics, construction or tooling
machines. Coating Services (Balzers) coats hobs to give them higher performance. Thanks to the latest innovation from Balzers –
the BALINIT ® ALCRONA coating – the hob can mill faster and the duration of its use before it needs to be re-coated is longer.
Our products provide similar advantages in surface-coating applications in other areas, like injection molding. Molds coated by
Balzers “stay in shape” longer, and their flawless surfaces ensure that the end products are of consistently top quality.
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VACUUM SOLUTIONS (LEYBOLD VACUUM)

Activity

Vacuum Solutions (Leybold Vacuum) offers a broad

Sustainability

Leybold Vacuum is working continually on

range of advanced vacuum solutions for use in manufacturing

the technical improvement of its products. Aside from cost

and analytical processes, as well as for research purposes.

considerations, reduced environmental pollution also plays a

The segment’s core capabilities center on the development of

central role in this regard. The increased use of “dry” (i. e.

systems for the creation of vacuums and extraction of pro-

lubricant-free) pumps takes those goals into account. This

cessing gases. Areas of application are to be found in the coat-

technology is characterized by its low cost of operation and

ing of microchips, CDs and DVDs during production, as well as

reduced level of oil-related pollution. Leybold Vacuum pays

in the manufacturing of optical glass that can only be coated in

great attention to compliance with strict design guidelines, cur-

a vacuum.

rently valid packaging ordinances, as well as recycling systems
for raw materials.

Market

In 2003, the market for the Vacuum Solutions

segment’s vacuum pump technology comprised a total annual

Outlook

volume of roughly CHF 2.7 billion. Within its various markets,

forecast for the vacuum technology market. For the current

Leybold Vacuum retains a leading position. During the past

year, Leybold Vacuum is anticipating an increase in orders

year, a significant increase in growth was witnessed in the

received and sales that will grow in excess of the market aver-

Asian region. Trends in the field of architectural glass were

age. In addition to focusing on product development, Leybold

extremely favorable in China due to commercially driven con-

Vacuum is looking to expand its marketing and service activi-

struction activity, as well as in the area of analytics. In the

ties in Asia and the USA. In 2004, key emphasis will be placed

semiconductor segment, however, no increase in overall

on enlarging the segment’s existing facilities in Tianjin (China).

demand for vacuum technology was noticeable, with only the

Other important objectives are the strengthening of Leybold

data storage device sub-sector exhibiting favorable tenden-

Vacuum’s global supply chain management, the further opti-

cies.

mization of its production processes, as well as the new facili-

In 2004, growth in the order of 3 to 5 percent is

ties in Cologne.
2003

In 2003, the preexisting overcapacity in the vacuum

industry led to severe price pressures, with the weak US dollar

Key figures

2003

2002

also exerting a negative impact. Given those circumstances,

Orders received

365

352

the Vacuum Solutions segment was able to hold its own dur-

Sales to third parties

345

358

ing the past financial year. Orders received rose in comparison

Operating result (EBIT)

11

1

1 492

1 445

to the previous year by 4 percent to CHF 365 million. Total
sales of CHF 345 million stood 3 percent below the prior-year
level, whereas the decline amounted to only 1 percent if
expressed in local currency. Vacuum Solutions continued the
efficiency enhancement program already introduced in previous years and was thus able to achieve a significant improvement in profitability.
Highlights

Leybold Vacuum continued to pursue the expan-

sion of its marketing and service infrastructure. The primary
focus was placed on the growth region of Asia, where the
segment’s presence was established in Shanghai (China) and
significantly broadened in Taiwan. In addition, the production
plant in Tianjin (China) is being enlarged. Thanks to its firm
foothold in the Asian market, Leybold Vacuum won three of the
five projects awarded globally in the field of coated architectural glass, as well as a major project for the production of flat
panel displays in Korea. Despite the difficult market environment, the launch of the new “ScrewLine” fore-vacuum pump
ran favorably with excellent references being received in the
areas of glass coating and kiln construction.

Number of employees at year-end
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Many sophisticated coating processes can only be conducted in a vacuum. For example, that is the only way an ultra-thin layer in
the realm of nanometers can be applied to the glass substrate for flat panel displays. The new flat panel display production
equipment from Unaxis’ Display Technology division works with pump stand systems produced by Leybold Vacuum. In order to
evacuate the processing chamber, the system is encapsulated and consists of several interlinked fore-vacuum and high-vacuum
pumps. Vacuum pumps also create the operating conditions for food-packaging machines, refrigerators or magnetic resonance
imaging machines.
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COMPONENTS AND SPECIAL SYSTEMS:
OPTICS

Activity

Optics specializes in the production of optical com-

and exceeded its planned 2003 production volume by more

ponents and modules for use in the fields of data and video

than 50 percent. Unaxis also won qualification to supply

projection (projection display), biotechnology and lighting

several key customers, and as a consequence has received

systems. The division’s core capabilities encompass the man-

extensive orders for defect-free optical lids. In the BioChip

ufacture of highly precise optical coatings, as well as complex

substrate area, Optics completed product qualification trials at

opto-mechanical and opto-electronic modules. Thanks to its

the facilities of its most important customers – among others,

technological expertise and global manufacturing network,

Novartis – and has already received initial high-volume orders.

Optics can offer customer support that spans the entire value

Its know-how in BioChip substrates was reinforced in 2003

chain – from collaboration in product design all the way

through the issuance of additional patents and execution of

through to cost-efficient, high-volume production.

licensing agreements.

Market

Sustainability

Optics focuses on a market representing approxi-

Almost all of the Optics’ products and relat-

mately CHF 600 million in annual sales, and the division ranks

ed production methods are based on nontoxic materials and

among the leading providers in all segments of that market.

process gases. In addition, its use of harmful solvents has

Roughly one-half of that total volume is attributable to the pro-

been significantly reduced in recent years. During the year

jection display segment, which experienced significant growth

under review, Optics made considerable headway in improving

in 2003. In particular, rear-projection TVs with micro-display

the material consumption of its coating processes. Now that

technology have gained sway in the marketplace. Moreover,

the division’s Balzers (FL) facility, as one of the Group’s first

Optics has also emerged as a leading provider of defect-free

operating units to do so, received ISO 14001 certification in

optical lids for the future-oriented LCOS™ (liquid crystal on

2002 for its environmental management system, Optics has

silicon) market segment. On the whole, the projection display

established the goal of having all of its production plants certi-

segment should achieve future growth rates in a two-digit

fied in 2004.

order. The division’s BioChip substrates business has developed more slowly than originally anticipated. However, the

Outlook

complex patent situation in the biotechnology market was

markets should continue throughout 2004. In the projection

largely resolved in 2003, which in turn should lend this market

display segment, the strongest growth is once again likely to

segment a boost in growth.

be achieved from sales of rear-projection TV components.

The favorable development in the Optics division’s

Also, the division intends to make further inroads in the semi2003

In the 2003 financial year, orders received by the

conductor and BioChip substrates markets with its essentially

Optics division increased 69 percent to a total of CHF 160 mil-

defect-free products. With regard to BioChip substrates,

lion, while sales rose 36 percent to reach CHF 124 million. This

growth will most probably accelerate during the current year.

gratifying development is primarily attributable to the booming

In the lighting business segment, the division will gain addi-

demand for rear-projection TVs. In this segment, Optics has

tional growth potential by broadening its scope of activities

managed to establish itself as a trusted partner of leading TV

into the USA and Asia.

manufacturers such as Samsung, LGE, Sony, and Philips, and
has become involved in a number of new projects. Sales

Key figures

2003

2002

derived from BioChip production rose at a modest level. Light-

Orders received

160

95

ing systems recorded stagnating sales as the result of general

Sales to third parties

124

91

Number of employees at year-end

510

460

economic weakness in Europe.
Highlights

The expansion of the Optics division’s key

account management efforts led to extremely favorable results.
For example, the division signed cooperation agreements in
2003 with Samsung Electronics and InFocus for the production
of optical components used in rear-projection TVs. Optics has
shifted its entire high-volume production capacity for projection components to Shanghai and thus can produce those elements at competitive prices. The Shanghai production facility
managed to start up 24-hour-a-day operation in record time
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The newest generation of digital rear-projection TVs is setting standards for quality. The brilliant picture resolution of this technology, combined with a price tag that is two-thirds lower than in past years, is opening up an entirely new spectrum of consumers. Their fascination is not least of all piqued by the central element of these TVs: the color management system produced
by the Optics division. Leading manufacturers are building exclusively on the quality of the “Colored by Unaxis” product family.
Optical components such as ColorWheels™, LightGate™, LightTunnel™ and other similar elements render an almost perfect
visual image.
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COMPONENTS AND SPECIAL SYSTEMS:
SPACE TECHNOLOGY (CONTRAVES SPACE)

Activity

Space Technology (Contraves Space) is a signifi-

nism built by Contraves Space for the satellite’s ion engine

cant player in the field of aerospace technology. The division

went into operation on schedule. In another development, the

possesses years of experience in the development and pro-

division made timely delivery of the first structural units for the

duction of large composite structures as well as complex sub-

telescope on board ESA’s PLANCK scientific satellite.

systems and instruments. Contraves Space is world leading in

Sustainability

payload fairings for launch vehicles through application of

success, Contraves Space has fostered a longstanding, close

composites technology. Further products are its structures and

partnership with ESA as well as a strong presence among

precision mechanisms for satellites, instruments for use in

customers in the launch vehicle market. Simultaneously, the

space exploration and laser terminals for optical data trans-

division’s technology base in the fields of composite struc-

mission between satellites to facilitate global telecommunica-

tures, precision mechanisms and electro-optic subsystems is

tion.

being resolutely broadened. With its participation in ESA

With an eye towards sustainable corporate

research missions – such as the ENVISAT Earth observation
Market

The aerospace market relevant to Contraves Space

satellite, which is analyzing changes in the global ecosystem –

encompasses a total annual volume of roughly CHF 1 billion.

the division is also making an important contribution to world-

As a result of continuing stagnation in the telecommunications

wide environmental protection.

industry, there is currently less demand for satellites, which in
turn means that fewer rocket launches are taking place. The

Outlook

European launch service provider Arianespace, and thus also

2004 financial year will be slightly lower than those of last year.

Contraves Space, are subject to increasing competitive pres-

The main reasons for this are the stagnating market in the insti-

sure from global providers. In the institutional segment of the

tutional ESA-related area as well as an absence of demand

aerospace market, the division is allied with ESA in a number

from the telecommunications industry. Remedying the cause

of important programs. In the commercial segment of the

of the failed liftoff of the enhanced-performance Ariane 5

industry, Contraves Space is the preferred supplier of payload

launch vehicle in December 2002 remains of great challenges

fairings for European and American providers of launch

for the European space industry as a whole. The backup

services.

mission lifted off successfully in February 2004. Within the

Contraves Space anticipates that its results for the

scope of the project for the European Galileo navigation sys2003

Given the difficult market environment, Contraves

Space held its own during the 2003 financial year. The total of

tem, Contraves Space has a good chance of developing the
mechanisms used for positioning the solar-power generators.

CHF 83 million in orders received was slightly below the level
recorded in the previous year. The division’s sales declined

Key figures

by 8 percent to CHF 104 million. Above all, the space shuttle

Orders received

“Columbia” disaster in February 2003 had a negative influence

2003

2002

83

86

Sales to third parties

104

113

Number of employees at year-end

314

321

on the course of business, and ESA has temporarily halted
its orders for the European ATV space transporter. However,
Contraves Space was able to apply its technologies outside of
the aerospace market: Zeiss selected the division as a supplier
of aperture mechanisms for lithography systems used in chip
production.
Highlights

Among the noteworthy events during the past

financial year were the successful start of the European space
probe “Mars Express,” for which Contraves Space developed
and produced the satellite structure, as well as the first liftoff
of America’s Atlas V-500 launch vehicle, which was equipped
with a 20.7-meter long payload fairing provided by Contraves
Space. In September, SMART-1 became the first European
satellite to journey to the moon. The electrical drive mecha-
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How did our universe come into being? The European Space Agency (ESA) is searching for the answer by means of its PLANCK
scientific satellite. When it lifts off in 2007, the PLANCK telescope and its cryogenic structure will be the responsibility of Contraves
Space. The telescope’s structure carries the camera unit and mirror, and the “baffle” protects the telescope from random space
radiation. Stringent weight limits, the highest requirements for precision, and extreme operating temperatures down to 40 Kelvin
(–233 °C) are all challenges that the development team at Contraves Space must tackle.

55

56

GLOSSARY

Advanced Packaging

Back End

A market sector served by the Unaxis Wafer Processing divi-

The second phase in the chip production chain. Back-end

sion. Advanced Packaging is about bridge-building: electrical

processes involve slicing the finished wafer into single chips

bridges from one bare chip to its neighbor, and between chips

(dicing); affixing those chips to a substrate (die bonding);

and circuit boards. There are also mechanical and thermal

wiring gold, aluminum or copper electrical connections

bonds inside complex chip packages, and myriad connections

between the chip and corresponding pads on the substrate

to the “outside world.”

(wire bonding); plastic-encapsulating the assembled chip
(molding); identifying the molded package (marking), then a

Advanced Silicon

final test of the entire semiconductor device.

A market sector served by the Unaxis Wafer Processing division. Multi-layer metallized ICs and thin, back-metallized

BioChip

wafers find uses in discrete component manufacturing and

An aid to accelerated and deeper understanding of activity in

SiGe process technology. Advanced silicon techniques boost

cells, bodily organs, plants, animals, as well as humans. A

performance in high-end and commodity computers, PDAs

BioChip substrate has a coating with thousands of microscop-

(Personal Digital Assistants), and consumer electronics prod-

ic reaction sites that might contain molecules of DNA, or pro-

ucts.

teins, for example. These molecules react exclusively with their
complementary reaction partners – the lock-and-key principle.

Actuator

This means samples of cell material can be analyzed for the

The unit in a drive mechanism – e. g. a hard disk – that drives

presence of specific reaction partners. Thousands of biological

the read/write head to a desired position on the disc surface.

lock-and-key reactions can take place in parallel on a BioChip
substrate.

Assembly & Packaging
A Unaxis division, as well as the term used to describe a pro-

Blanking and Punching

duction process for encapsulating integrated circuits inside a

A mechanical engineering process for stamping out parts from

molded outer casing. Contact pads on the chip are bonded

sheet or strip metal, using a punch and die. In blanking, the

with external through-contacts on the casing, and then the

released profile becomes the work piece. Punching is the exact

integrated circuit (chip) proceeds to the next manufacturing

reverse, putting holes in a work piece made of sheet or strip

step.

metal.

Automated Transfer Vehicle (ATV)

Bonding

An unmanned space transporter. The ATV will go into space

Joining together a pair of materials with the aid of adhesives.

aboard an Ariane 5 launcher, and then automatically dock with
the ISS international space station. The ATV is a single-use

CD R

vehicle designed to re-provision the ISS and apply orbital cor-

Compact Disk Recordable. The writable disk has achieved

rections to the space station, with thrust from its on-board

ubiquity in the wake of the CD medium’s introduction in 1982.

rocket motor. Supply flights are planned every 18 months start-

The polycarbonate disks have diameters of 8 or 12 cm and can

ing in 2005. The ATV is a major contribution by the European

store up to 840 MB of data.

Space Agency to the ISS project, and the structural system
from Contraves Space is a key component thereof.

CD RW
A rewritable version of CD R that can store up to 650 MB using
phase-change technology.
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Chip (also: Semiconductor)

DVD R

A wafer element containing a complete semiconductor device

The recordable version of DVD, which uses coatings mostly

circuit.

based on organic dye.

Compound Semiconductors & Microtechnology

Etching

A market sector served by the Unaxis Wafer Processing divi-

A chemical reaction process for stripping away solid material.

sion. It involves etching and deposition technologies, and pro-

Etching may be “wet” (using liquid chemicals) or “dry” (in a gas

ducing the equipment used in manufacturing a wide range of

plasma). Etching is a key process in semiconductor manufac-

components for non silicon-based electronic applications.

turing.

Compound Semiconductors & Microtechnology are making
inroads in mobile phones, broadband optical communication,

Evacuation

and specialized lighting sectors.

A physical process for extracting gas from a vessel. Evacuation techniques fall into two common categories: Gas transfer

Cutting

pumps evacuate gas via an inlet and outlet to the outside

A production technique whereby a sharp-edged cutting tool

atmosphere. Gas-binding vacuum pumps operate in self-con-

shaves material off the work piece. Cutting processes includes

tained fashion within the vessel, by binding gas molecules to

drilling, milling, turning, thread cutting, sawing, planing, and

their interior surfaces.

reaming.
Flip Chip Bonding
Die Attach

An assembly technology that is a hybrid of die and wire bond-

A market sector served by the Assembly & Packaging division

ing. Chips that have been prepared with tiny solder globules at

(ESEC). Also, a collective term for die bonding and flip chip

the wafer stage are attached facedown to a matching sub-

bonding – two core technologies in the semiconductor industry.

strate.

Die Bonding

Forming

A die bonder machine affixes bare, unprotected semiconduc-

The process of applying mechanical pressure to a metal com-

tors (chips) to a carrier substrate using solder or epoxy adhe-

ponent in order to produce the desired three-dimensional form.

sive.

Thin metal is sheet-formed; solid metal pieces are massiveformed.

Die Casting
Production of metal parts by forcing molten metal into a mold.

Galvanizing
Electrochemical processing of metallic surfaces. A coat of dis-

Diesel Injection System

similar metal is electrolytically deposited in baths of metallic

The fuel supply side of a diesel engine.

salt solution; the passage of electric current decomposes the
dissolved metallic compounds.

DVD
Digital Versatile Disk or Digital Video Disk. Since its introduc-

Hard Disk

tion in 1997, DVD has proved a massively popular data storage

A magnetic disk capable of storing large quantities of data.

medium. DVDs are made of 1 or 2 sandwiched polycarbonate

Most hard disks reside permanently in their housings; remov-

disks 8 or 12 cm diameter, like a CD. Storage capacities range

able hard disk cartridges are less common. Hard disks are the

from 4.7 GB (DVD-5) to 17 GB (DVD-18), depending on disk

persistent storage memory found in computers, digital cam-

type. DVD-9 is a current successful format for recording and

eras and other electronic products. Data access is via a

replaying films and other video entertainment.

read/write head that moves mechanically across the hard disk
surface.
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IC (Integrated Circuit)

PECVD (Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition)

A tiny electronic component made of semiconductor material

A gas-phase chemical deposition technique involving plasma

(usually silicon). It is a single unit that includes every function-

electrons that make the process operable at low temperatures.

al component of the circuit, plus electrical conductors.

Conventional CVD processes require higher substrate temperatures in order to break existing chemical bonds and release

LCD (Liquid Crystal Display)

the desired species from the gas.

A technology for displaying characters and images in notebook
and compact computing devices, and color televisions. An

Photolithography

LCD surface is ruled with tiny segments (pixels) that transmit

The process of projecting a photomask pattern or image with

light when a voltage is applied and combine to form patterns

UV light onto a wafer coated with photosensitive emulsion.

of recognizable information.
Photomasks
Lighting

A market sector served by the Unaxis Wafer Processing divi-

A market sector served by the Optics division, which manu-

sion. A term given to the photolithographic masks used in chip

factures coated optical components for medical and technical

manufacturing.

illumination, and entertainment applications.
Plastic Injection Molding
Lightweight Structures

A technique for producing plastic parts by forcing molten plas-

Extremely light yet rigid structures, capable of withstanding

tic into a mold.

the heavy launch stresses and temperature excursions
encountered in space travel. The Space Technology division

Precision Technology

(Contraves Space) develops composite materials for satellite

A Unaxis core competence. A blend of applied mechanics, IT,

platforms and other load-bearing parts, made of carbon or

physics and chemistry for delicate processes. Interdisciplinary

glass-fiber layers around a light alloy core.

exchange drives development of innovative equipment and
products.

Liquid Crystal on Silicon (LCOS™)
A silicon-based reflective liquid crystal imaging element used

Projection Display

in high-resolution displays and projectors.

An Optics division business unit. Projection Display produces
optical components and modules for color management in

Mastering

data and video projectors, and rear-projection TVs.

The process of making a metal template original from which
optical storage media (CD, DVD) can be replicated.

PVD (Physical Vapor Deposition)
A coating process in which molecules from a solid body of

Metallizing

material are dislodged by positively charged particles in an

Deposition of single or multiple ultra-thin reflecting layers (e. g.

electromagnetic field and deposited onto a substrate. PVD can

silver) onto optical storage media. Reflective metallizing

be used to make electrical contacts and connections, for

bounces the laser beam that reads and writes data on the

example.

medium.
Replication
Packaging

The industrial process for copying optical storage disks (CD,

A collective term that covers a swathe of technologies for

DVD) from a template master.

encasing semiconductor chips and creating electrical and
other links between integrated circuits and the “outside world.”
PDA (Personal Digital Assistant)
An electronic diary, or “organizer,” for managing and checking
appointments and addresses.
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SiGe (Silicon-Germanium)

Wafer Processing

A physical compound of the elements silicon and germanium.

A Unaxis division, and the term for wafer handling and produc-

Silicon is a longstanding basic semiconductor material. Adding

tion.

traces of germanium produces a new, enhanced-performance
semiconductor. Faster SiGe chips are contributing to present

Wire Bonding

and upcoming electronic performance enhancements.

A market sector served by the Unaxis Assembly & Packaging
division (ESEC). Wire bonding equipment makes electrical con-

TFT (Thin Film Transistor)

nections between pads on the bare semiconductor (chip) and

A technology for controlling the individual picture elements

corresponding contacts on the substrate (lead frame).

(pixels) in flat panel displays, for example. These switching
devices are fabricated using PECVD and PVD thin film
processes.
Thin Film Technology
A Unaxis core competence. The technology is used to deposit
a layer of material with as little as one-thousandth the thickness of a human hair onto a substrate. Such ultra-thin coatings can filter and reflect light, protect and enhance surfaces,
insulate against heat or cold, conduct and control electric current, and are also vital to information storage.
Ultra-clean processes
Essential for most high-tech industrial manufacturing technologies and end products. Ultra-clean processes minimize the
incidence of problematic particles when producing precision
structures and films.
Vacuum Technology
A Unaxis core competence; essential in numerous surface
treatment processes. Vacuum assures dust-free environments
and the precisely controlled conditions essential to uniform
surface coatings or thermal surface hardening.
Wafer
A polished slice cut from a drawn cylinder of monocrystalline
silicon, and the starting point in chip manufacture. A wafer is
less than 1 mm thick and may have a diameter between 25 and
300 mm, depending on the material involved.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Unaxis Corporate Governance follows the “Swiss Code of
Best Practice for Corporate Governance” as well as internationally
recognized standards
Unaxis feels a strong sense of obligation to uphold the recognized principles of good corporate governance as laid out in
the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance”
propounded by “economiesuisse.” By addressing this justified
concern, Unaxis aims to sustain and increase the trust placed
in it by the company’s shareholders, providers of funding,
employees and business partners, as well as the general
public.
Responsible corporate governance requires transparency with
regard to the organization of management and control mechanisms at the uppermost echelons of the enterprise. Therefore,
the “Directive Governing Information on Corporate Governance” (DCG), enacted by the SWX Swiss Exchange and effective since July 1, 2002, requires that issuers of SWX-listed
securities make available to investors in an appropriate form
certain key information pertaining to corporate governance.
In its 2002 annual report, Unaxis provided for the first time
comprehensive disclosure of the information required under
this Directive. In the present annual report, the corporate governance information as prescribed by DCG is once again presented in a segregated section. The systematics of the Directive has now been fully adopted, whereas references to other
portions of the annual report have been included in certain
instances in an effort to avoid redundancies and enhance readability. All material changes between the balance sheet date
and the time this annual report went to press have been taken
into account.
Details on corporate governance at Unaxis can also be
accessed via the company’s Website – www.unaxis.com –
under the corresponding rubric.

GROUP STRUCTURE

EDITORIAL
GROUP
SEGMENTS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL REPORT

Group structure and companies

that directly conduct the operative business of the company.

Operational Group structure: Management of Unaxis Cor-

The Board of Directors, Executive Board and the managers of

poration is carried out at the behest of the Board of Directors

the company’s respective segments are supported in their

via the Executive Board and ultimately by the five segments

work by centralized Corporate Functions offices.

Operational Group structure
Group

Committees:
Audit and Finance
Board of Directors

Corporate Development
Human Resources
Internal Audit

CEO
Corporate Functions
Executive Board

Segments

Semiconductor

Data Storage

Coating

Vacuum

Components and

Equipment

Solutions

Services

Solutions

Special Systems

Wafer
Processing

Optics

Assembly &

Space

Packaging

Technology

Display
Technology

Listed Group companies: With the exception of Unaxis

ESEC Holding Ltd., which is domiciled in Steinhausen,

Holding Inc. and ESEC Holding Ltd., the Group companies are

Switzerland, is listed in the main trading segment of the SWX

not publicly listed. An overview of all Group companies can be

Swiss Exchange (security number 1 104 478; ticker symbol

found on page 123.

ESEN). Unaxis Holding Inc. owns a 56.8 percent equity interest
in the company. As at December 31, 2003, ESEC’s market capitalization amounted to CHF 385 million. ESEC is fully consoli-
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dated in Unaxis’ financial statements. On September 5, 2003,

Unlisted Group companies: With the exception of ESEC, all

Unaxis Holding Inc. and ESEC Holding Ltd. signed an agree-

the other companies of Unaxis are, to the greatest extent,

ment that foresees the merger of the two companies. At the

wholly owned either directly or indirectly by Unaxis Holding

October 7, 2003, extraordinary general meeting of ESEC Hold-

Inc. as the parent company of the Group. For further remarks

ing Ltd., its shareholders approved that agreement. Due to an

on Unaxis Holding Inc., see page 116 et seqq.

objection lodged by an ESEC shareholder, the completion of
this merger is still pending at present.

The country-specific companies included in the scope of consolidation are reflected on page 123 as part of the Group’s

Unaxis also holds a 19.5 percent equity interest in Inficon

legal structure of equity interests, as well as listed by country

Holding AG, Bad Ragaz, Switzerland, which is listed both

on pages 112/113 together with supplemental details on their

on the SWX Swiss Exchange (security number 1 102 994,

respective share capital, percentage of shares owned, work-

ticker symbol IFCN) and on NASDAQ (security number

force and company head.

1150 246, ticker symbol IFCN). As at December 31, 2003, Inficon had a market capitalization totaling CHF 243 million. This
shareholding is valued at current market price, whereas any
adjustments to its market value are reflected directly in shareholders’ equity, i.e. with no effect on the income statement.

Significant shareholders

Number of shareholders
Total share capital in CHF million
Percentage Ihag-Holding AG and Mrs. Anda-Bührle

2003

2002

2001

17 791

17 707

18 376

15 715

263.4

263.4

263.4

263.4

26%

29%

28%

27%

Cross-shareholdings
There exist no cross-shareholdings that would require disclosure.

2000
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Capital

chase the new shares. The Board of Directors is empowered

The equity capital of Unaxis Holding Inc. amounts to

to limit or exclude the advanced subscription rights of share-

CHF 263 401 840, consisting of 13 170 092 registered shares,

holders (1) to finance or refinance the acquisition of enterprises,

each with a par value of CHF 20.

divisions thereof, or of participations or of newly planned
investments of the company or (2) to issue warrant and con-

The company also has authorized capital totaling CHF 40 mil-

vertible bonds on the international capital market. To the extent

lion, as well as conditional capital in the same amount that is

that the right to subscribe in advance is excluded, (1) the

earmarked for the coverage of convertible bonds and warrant

bonds are to be placed with the public at market conditions,

bonds. Additional conditional capital of CHF 7.2 million exists

(2) the term to exercise the option and the conversion rights

for purposes related to employee stock ownership plans.

may not exceed seven years as of the date of the bond issue
and (3) the exercise price for the new shares must at least cor-

Authorized capital and conditional capital

respond to the market conditions at the time of the bond issue.

Authorized capital: Pursuant to Art. 6 of the Articles of
Association, the Board of Directors is authorized, at any time

Conditional capital for employee participation: Pursuant

up to May 7, 2004, to increase the share capital up to a maxi-

to Art. 6b of the Articles of Association, the company’s share

mum aggregate amount of CHF 40 million through the

capital shall, to the exclusion of the subscription rights of

issuance of a maximum of 2 million registered shares, which

shareholders, be increased through the issuance of a maxi-

shall be fully paid in with a par value of CHF 20 per share.

mum of 360 000 registered shares, which shall be fully paid in,

Increases by firm underwriting as well as partial increases are

with a par value of CHF 20 each, by a maximum aggregate

permissible. In each case, the issue price, the date for entitle-

amount of CHF 7.2 million by the exercise of option or conver-

ment to dividends and the type of contribution shall be deter-

sion rights, which have been granted to the employees of the

mined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is

company or of one of its Group companies according to an

authorized to exclude all or parts of the subscription rights of

employee participation plan to be approved by the Board

the shareholders and to convey them to third parties, provided

of Directors. The issuance of shares at less than the stock

that such new shares are to be used for the acquisition of

exchange price is permissible. The details shall be determined

enterprises through share swaps or for financing the acquisi-

by the Board of Directors.

tion of enterprises or divisions thereof, or of participations or
of newly planned investments of the company. Shares for

Changes in capital

which subscription rights exist but are not exercised shall be

The outstanding share capital of Unaxis Holding Inc. experi-

sold by the company at market conditions.

enced its most recent change in 1999, when a total of 14 539
convertible bonds representing a total nominal value of

The merger agreement with ESEC Holding SA of September 5,

CHF 72 695 000 were converted into 494 326 CHF 20 par value

2003 provides for ESEC shareholders to receive 1.1 shares

registered shares. That resulted in a CHF 9 886 520 increase in

of Unaxis in exchange for each ESEC share they own. In

share capital to a total of CHF 263 401 840 (13 170 092 regis-

total, 972 345 Unaxis shares with an aggregate par value

tered shares, each with a par value of CHF 20). The cor-

of CHF 19 446 900 are required to consummate the merger.

responding amendment to the Articles of Association was

Those shares will be newly created from authorized capital.

made in March 2000.

Due to an objection lodged by an ESEC sharholder, the completion of this merger is still pending at present.

To cover the stock options issued to members of the Board of
Directors, employees as well as to employees within the frame-

Conditional capital for warrant bonds and convertible

work of corresponding stock purchase plans, a total of 42 514,

bonds: Pursuant to Art. 6a of the Articles of Association, the

45 000, 44 250 and 35 750 Unaxis treasury shares were pur-

company’s share capital shall be increased by a maximum

chased in 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively (see also

aggregate amount of CHF 40 million through the issuance

pages 74 f. and 108). As at December 31, 2003, the company

of a maximum of 2 million registered shares with a par value of

held a total of 220 443 treasury shares and the reserve for

CHF 20 per share by the exercise of option and conversion

the purchase of the company’s own shares amounted at

rights which are granted in connection with bond obligations
of the company or one of its Group companies. The subscription rights of shareholders are excluded. The current holders of
option certificates and/or convertible bonds are entitled to pur-
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December 31, 2002, to CHF 44 041 871, of which 9 371 were
freely disposable.
Detailed information concerning changes in equity capital of
Unaxis Holding Inc. over the past three years can be found in
the equity capital overview on page 120 of the annual report.
Shares and participation certificates
The equity securities of Unaxis Holding Inc. consist of
13 170 092 fully paid in CHF 20 par value registered shares,
all of which are equal as to their attendant voting rights, dividend entitlement and other membership rights.
Fundamentally, the registered shares of Unaxis Holding Inc.
are not certificated, but instead are carried solely as bookentry securities in the inventory of SIS SegaInterSettle AG.
Shareholders may at any time request the company to print
and deliver their shares in certificate form free of charge, and
the company may at any time print certificates for uncertificated shares (registered shares with deferred printing of certificates). If the registered shares are in fact to be printed,
Unaxis Holding Inc. may issue certificates covering a specific
number of registered shares. The share certificates bear the
facsimile of the signatures of two members of the Board of
Directors.
Profit-sharing certificates
Unaxis has no outstanding profit-sharing certificates.
Limitations on transferability and
nominee registrations
There are no restrictions on the transfer of Unaxis Holding Inc.
shares. The company shall recognize only those parties
entered in the share register as shareholders or usufructuaries.
Fiduciary shareholders or, as the case may be, nominees are
also entered into the share register.
Convertible bonds and warrants /options
As at December 31, 2003, no convertible bonds or warrant
bonds of the company were outstanding.
In conjunction with the share ownership programs, members
of the Board of Directors as well as employees held as at
December 31, 2003, a total of 211 072 options (see page 107,
note 32), each of which entitles the holder to acquire one registered share of Unaxis Holding Inc. These options are covered
in their entirety by shares that have been acquired in the open
market, so that their exercise will not result in any change in
share capital. The aggregate par value of shares purchasable
by means of outstanding options amounts to CHF 4 221 440.
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The basis for the organization and duties of the Board of Direc-

Dr. Willy Kissling, who was Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

tors of Unaxis Holding Inc. is to be found in the Swiss Code of

of Unaxis Corporation Inc. from May 1998 to May 2002, the

Obligations, the Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding Inc.

Board members have never performed an executive activity for

and in its Rules of Organization.

a Group company.

Members of the Board of Directors

At the annual general meeting of shareholders on May 20,

The Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding Inc. comprised

2003, Dr. h. c. Lothar Späth stepped down from the Board of

seven (maximum number as per the company’s Articles of

Directors. As his replacement, Dr. h. c. Harald Eggers was

Association: nine) non-executive members as at December 31,

newly elected to the Board. As a result, the Board of Directors

2003. The members of the Board have no material business

comprises the following individuals (status as at December 31,

dealings with Unaxis Corporation Inc. With the exception of

2003):

Name

Nationality

Position

Age

Elected

Until

Executive/
Non-executive

Dr. Willy Kissling

CH

Chairman

59

1998

2005

Non-executive

Jack Schmuckli

CH

Vice Chairman

63

1998

2004

Non-executive

Prof. Dr. Pius Baschera

CH

Member

53

1998

2005

Non-executive

Dr. h. c. Harald Eggers

D

Member

53

2003

2006

Non-executive

Peter Küpfer

CH

Member

59

1998

2005

Non-executive

Dr. Markus Rauh

CH

Member

64

1999

2006

Non-executive

Bruno Widmer

CH

Member

62

1998

2004

Non-executive
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Dr. Willy Kissling

has been Chairman of the Board of

Peter Küpfer

has been a Director of Unaxis Holding Inc.

Unaxis Holding Inc. since 1998. Until May 2002, he simultane-

since 1998. He is also Chairman of the Board of Valora Holding

ously held the position of CEO. He is also Chairman of the

AG and Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG, as well as a Board member

Board of SIG Holding AG, Vice Chairman of Forbo Holding AG

of Swisscom AG, Julius Bär Holding AG and Holcim Ltd.

and Holcim Ltd., as well as a Board member of Kühne & Nagel

Mr. Küpfer has been an independent management consultant

and Schneider Electric S.A. (F). Since 1970, he has carried out

since 1996. From 1964 through 1983, he worked for various

various management functions: from 1978 through 1987, he

auditing firms and, from 1985 through 1996, held management

was Delegate of the Board of Directors of the Rigips Group

positions at CS Group. Mr. Küpfer is a certified public account-

and, from 1987 to 1996, CEO and Delegate of the Board of

ant.

Directors of Landis & Gyr AG. Dr. Kissling studied at the University of Bern (Dr. rer. pol.) and Harvard Business School

Dr. Markus Rauh

(PMD).

since 1999. He is also Chairman of the Board of Swisscom AG,

has been a Director of Unaxis Holding Inc.

Anova Holding AG and Synthes AG, Vice Chairman of the
Jack Schmuckli

has been a Director of Unaxis Holding Inc.

Board of Leica Geosystems AG, Vice Chairman of the Supervi-

since 1998 and was named Vice Chairman in 1999. He is also

sory Board of Leica Camera AG (D), Vice Chairman of the

a Board member of Hilti AG (FL), SEZ Holding AG and Wicor

Board of Dietiker Switzerland AG, as well as a Board member

Holding AG. From 1975 through 1998, he held a variety of man-

of the St. Galler Kantonalbank, The Generics Group AG and

agement positions at Sony Corporation: since 1985 as Chair-

Madison Management AG. Dr. Rauh worked in management

man and CEO of Sony Europe (D), and as of 1986 also

positions at Sperry Univac, Philips and Leica. He earned his

as a Board member of Sony Corporation (J). Mr. Schmuckli has

Dr. sc. tech. degree from the ETH in Zurich.

an educational background in business management.
Bruno Widmer
Prof. Dr. Pius Baschera

has been a Director of Unaxis Holding Inc.

has been a Director of Unaxis

since 1998. He is also Chairman of the Board of Panoramic

Holding Inc. since 1998. He is also a member of the Advisory

Communications (USA), a Board member of Barone Ricasoli

Board of Vorwerk Gruppe (D) and Ardex Gruppe (D), as

Ltd. (I), as well as a member of the Strategy Committee of the

well as Chairman of the Board of Venture Incubator AG.

European Business School (GB). Mr. Widmer joined the man-

Prof. Baschera has held the position of CEO of Hilti AG (FL)

agement of Advico AG in 1972 and was its Chairman and CEO

since 1993. He studied business management and manufac-

from 1978 to 1998. From 1998 through 2001, he held the office

turing sciences at the ETH Zurich (Dr. sc. tech.), where he has

of CEO of Young & Rubicam Europe, Middle East &

been an Honorary Professor since 2001. Prof. Baschera lec-

Africa (GB). Mr. Widmer’s educational background is in busi-

tures regularly on the topics of innovation management and

ness management.

corporate leadership.
Dr. h. c. Harald Eggers

has been a Director of Unaxis

Holding Inc. since 2003. As Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of
the Memory Products Group of Infineon Technologies AG,
Munich (D), he possesses an enormous level of know-how
in the field of semiconductors. Dr. Eggers earned a degree
in physics at the Technical University/ University of Applied
Sciences in Munich. In 2001, the Technical University of
Dresden’s physics faculty awarded him an honorary doctoral
degree.
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From left to right: Dr. Markus Rauh, Jack Schmuckli, Dr. h. c. Harald Eggers, Dr. Willy Kissling, Prof. Dr. Pius Baschera, Peter Küpfer, Bruno Widmer.
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Other activities and vested interests

agement and overall supervision of the Holding and the Group.

See information provided on page 66 (Members of the Board

It is empowered to rule on all corporation matters that are

of Directors).

not reserved by law, statutes or regulations for, or otherwise
delegated to, some other corporate body (see also page 69,

Cross-involvement

Definition of areas of responsibility).

No member of Unaxis’ Executive Board holds a seat on the
board of directors of any company that has a representative

The Chairman of the Board of Directors presides over the

who is a member of the Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding

Board and is the immediate superior of the Chief Executive

Inc. The directorships held by members of the Unaxis Board

Officer (CEO). The Chairman convokes, prepares and heads

of Directors at other listed companies can be ascertained from

meetings of the Board. He also represents the corporation vis-

the information on the individual Board members disclosed on

à-vis shareholders, chairs the general meeting of shareholders

page 66 (Members of the Board of Directors).

and, in conjunction with the Audit and Finance Committee,
supervises the internal audit. If the Chairman is prevented from

Elections and terms of office

fulfilling his tasks due to illness, accident or extended absence,

Board members are elected by the general meeting of share-

then those tasks are assumed by the Vice Chairman of the

holders for a term of office of three years. They may be elect-

Board for the duration of any such absence or, should he also

ed for a new three-year term of office prior to the expiration of

be unavailable, by some other member to be designated by

their current term. The schedule of elections is to be set in

the Board.

such a way that each year the term of office of about one third
of the members of the Board of Directors expires. Pursuant to

Committees of the Board of Directors: To assist the

the Rules of Organization, the mandate of Board members

Board of Directors or, as the case may be, prepare for impor-

expires – notwithstanding the current term of office – at the

tant decisions, three permanent committees exist: the Audit

annual general meeting of shareholders after completion of the

and Finance Committee (AFC), Corporate Development

given Board member’s 70th year of age.

Committee (CDC) and Human Resources Committee (HRC).
These committees are comprised as follows (status as at

Internal organizational structure

December 31, 2003):

Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors: The
Board of Directors bears responsibility for the ultimate man-

Name

Audit and Finance
Committee (AFC)

Corporate Development
Committee (CDC)

Human Resources
Committee (HRC)

C

C

M

M

Dr. Willy Kissling
Jack Schmuckli
Prof. Dr. Pius Baschera

M

Dr. h. c. Harald Eggers

M

M

Peter Küpfer

C

Dr. Markus Rauh

M

M

Bruno Widmer

M

M

C = Chairman; M = member
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Audit and Finance Committee (AFC)

meetings were held. On average, 6.8 of the total seven Board

The AFC comprises at least three non-executive and prefer-

members attended these meetings, which generally lasted an

ably independent members of the Board of Directors. The

entire day.

majority of its members, among them the Chairman of the
committee, must be experienced in the fields of finance and

The members of the committees, as well as their Chairmen, are

accounting. The AFC advises the Board mainly in the following

elected by the Board of Directors at the proposal of the Chair-

areas:

man of the Board. Their respective terms of office correspond
to their term of office as a Director. The Board members who

– Risk management and audit

are not members of the committees are entitled to take part in

– Accounting and financial reporting

committee meetings in an advisory capacity. As a general rule,

– Financial strategy, capital structure, determination of finan-

members of the Executive Board and, as required, individual

cial objectives, financial planning and financial controlling

specialists also take part in such meetings in an advisory

– Mergers and acquisitions, as well as other transactions

capacity. Minutes are kept of the meetings. The committees

bearing significant financial impact
– Examination and release of mid-year and quarterly financial
reports on behalf of the Board of Directors
– Corporate governance issues

meet at the invitation of their respective Chairman as often as
business matters require, but a least four times (AFC), two
times (CDC) and three times (HRC), respectively, per year. In
the case of the AFC, one additional meeting took place
in 2003.

Corporate Development Committee (CDC)
The CDC comprises at least three members of the Board of

Definition of areas of responsibility

Directors. The CDC advises the Board mainly in the following

Based on Art. 17 para. 3 of the Articles of Association, the

areas:

Board of Directors has essentially delegated the business
management of Unaxis Holding Inc. and the Group as a whole

– Strategic orientation of the corporation

to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The scope of tasks for

– Development of the corporation’s portfolio of holdings

which the Board bears responsibility encompasses essentially

– Mergers and acquisitions, as well as other transactions

those inalienable and non-delegable tasks as defined by law.

bearing significant strategic impact
– Organizational development and structure

Among those duties are the ultimate management of Unaxis
Holding Inc. and the Group as a whole; determination of the
strategic orientation of the corporation; the nomination and

Human Resources Committee (HRC)

relief from office of the CEO as well as the other members of

The HRC comprises three individuals, the majority of whom

the Executive Board and the Segment Heads; and the ultimate

are non-executive, independent members of the Board of

supervision of those who have been entrusted with the man-

Directors. The HRC advises the Board mainly in the following

agement and representation of the corporation.

areas:
Information and control instruments vis-à-vis
– Fundamental issues pertaining to the corporation’s personnel
– Personnel composition of the Board of Directors and key
governing bodies of the corporation

senior management
The Board of Directors receives regular comprehensive information that enables its members to perform their tasks of monitoring the strategic and operative progress of the corporation

– Measures pertaining to management development

as well as its risk exposure. Among the instruments at its dis-

– Issues regarding the compensation of Board members and

posal are in particular the following elements:

senior management
Controlling: With regard to strategic controlling, the key
Work methods of the Board of Directors and its com-

instruments are strategic analyses prepared by the Group’s

mittees: The Board of Directors meets at the invitation of its

individual business units (segments and divisions), including

Chairman as often as business matters require, or at the

an annually revised strategic plan.

request of one of its members or the CEO. In 2003, six Board
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With regard to operative controlling, the Board of Directors
receives the annual financial plan (budget) as well as comprehensive monthly controlling reports with budgeted /actual
analyses to assist in the assessment of the Group’s operative
developments.
Business Risk Management: A key component of Business Risk Management is the generation of a risk matrix
for the company as a whole as well as for its individual
segments / divisions. This closely scrutinized overview is generated at least once a year and enables the identification of
significant risks, facilitates monitoring of ongoing risk developments, and constitutes the basis for measures aimed at steering those risks. As a part of this discipline, Business Risk
Management is integrated into the strategic planning and
budgeting processes.
Internal audit: Since the summer of 2003, Unaxis has an
internal audit process that is conducted by specialized
employees of Ernst & Young.
On the basis of the most significant risks as determined
by Business Risk Management, the internal audit scrutinizes
crucial processes with the intent of structuring them more
securely and efficiently. In addition, compliance aspects are
also investigated.
External audit: The external auditors report primarily to the
Audit and Finance Committee, and secondarily to the Board of
Directors and ultimately to the shareholders of the corporation.
Since the 2003 financial year, the external audit is being performed by KPMG Fides Peat as the result of a reissuance of
the audit mandate.
The external Group auditors coordinate their audit plan with
that of the internal auditors. An integrated audit plan for the
upcoming year, formulated on the basis of a multi-year strategic set of objectives, is submitted annually in August for
approval by the Audit and Finance Committee. Once the audit
has been conducted, the Group auditors provide the Audit and
Finance Committee with a detailed report of their relevant findings.
Through corresponding written declarations by the Group
auditors, as well as by means of monitoring the relationship
between the auditing fees and the overall volume of fees paid
by Unaxis Corporation, it is ensured that the independence of
the Group auditors remains intact.
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Fundamental management philosophy

Executive Board / Segment Heads

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), the Executive Board and

The CEO bears fundamental responsibility for managing the

the Corporate Functions offices create an environment that is

business of Unaxis Holding Inc. and the Group as a whole. In

conducive to the optimal development of the segments, which

addition, the CEO presides over the Executive Board, which in

in turn conduct and bear responsibility for the operative busi-

particular is responsible for preparations and consultation with

ness of the corporation. The considerable leeway afforded to

regard to the business activities of Unaxis Holding Inc. and the

Segment Heads in their day-to-day business is clearly bal-

Group. In addition to the CEO, the Executive Board consists of

anced by centrally directed management and supervisory

the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and two other members.

functions. This applies in particular with regard to financial
management and issues of strategic importance.

Executive Board
Name

1

Nationality

Age

Position

Joined in

Position
held since

Heinz Kundert

CH

51

Chief Executive Officer

1981

20021

Kaspar Kelterborn

CH

39

Chief Financial Officer

2002

2003

Matthias Mölleney

D

43

Member of the Executive Board as of 11/03

2003

2003

Asuri Raghavan

USA

50

Member of the Executive Board as of 03/03

2003

2003

Kurt Mück

D

48

Member of the Executive Board until 12 /03

2000

2000

Prior thereto, Heinz Kundert held the position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) since 1999.

The Segment Heads, who report directly to the CEO or, as the case may be, the Executive Board, are as follows:
Segment Heads
Name

Nationality

Age

Segment

Joined in

Position
held since

Asuri Raghavan

USA

50

Semiconductor Equipment

2003

2003

Peter Tinner

CH

42

Data Storage Solutions

1984

2003

Dr. Hans Schulz

D

44

Coating Services

1987

1999

Dr. Monika Mattern-Klosson

D

46

Vacuum Solutions

1981

1999

Heinz Kundert

CH

51

Components and Special Systems

1981

2003

71

72

Heinz Kundert

has been CEO of Unaxis since May 2002.

Asuri Raghavan

has been a member of the Executive Board

Following earlier professional activities outside of today’s

of Unaxis Corporation since March 2003 and bears respon-

Unaxis Corporation, he headed the Far East sales region for

sibility for the Semiconductor Equipment segment. From 1987

Balzers AG (FL) from 1981 through 1991. As of 1991, he headed

to 1998, Mr. Raghavan was employed by Kullike and Soffa

its Electronics Business Unit and, in 1995, assumed responsi-

Industries, Inc. (USA), where his last position was that of

bility for the BPS segment of the newly formed Balzers &

President of the company’s Equipment Group. Subsequently,

Leybold Group. In 1999, he was named COO of the restruc-

Mr. Raghavan became President and CEO of Gasonics Inter-

tured Oerlikon-Bührle Group (today’s Unaxis). Mr. Kundert is

national (USA) until its acquisition by Novellus Systems Inc.

Chairman of the Board of ESEC Holding Ltd., as well as a

(USA) in 2001. At Novellus, he was Executive Vice President of

member of the boards of SEMI International and the Interstate

the Surface Integrity Group division of Novellus Systems Inc.

University of Applied Sciences of Technology Buchs (NTB). He

(USA). Mr. Raghavan has completed studies in the fields of

has a technical/ business management educational back-

engineering, computer and information sciences.

ground.
Significant changes since December 31, 2003
Kaspar Kelterborn

was named CFO of Unaxis Corporation

Effective December 31, 2003, Kurt Mück – previously a mem-

in January 2003. Before assuming that post, he held various

ber of the Executive Board and responsible for Unaxis’ Data

international management positions at Clariant International

Storage, Optics, Surface Technology, Leybold Vacuum and

AG in the area of finance and controlling, including Regional

Contraves Space divisions – left the corporation.

Head of Finance & Administration in Singapore, which he took
over in January 1999. Prior to joining Unaxis, he was Divisional

Management contracts

Head of Finance & Controlling responsible for the financial

As at December 31, 2003, Unaxis Holding Inc. and its compa-

management of Clariant’s Life Science & Electronic Materials

nies had no outstanding third-party management contracts of

division, headquartered in Great Britain. He is a member of the

a material nature.

Board of Tertianum-Neutal AG. Mr. Kelterborn holds a lic. oec.
degree from the University of St. Gallen.
Matthias Mölleney

has been a member of the Executive

Board since November 2003 and is Head of Corporate Human
Resources at Unaxis Corporation. As of 1982, he was
employed by Deutsche Lufthansa AG, initially in its sales
division and subsequently in various positions with international responsibilities in the human resources area. In 1998,
Mr. Mölleney joined Swissair as Head of Human Resources and
member of senior management, and was appointed to the
Executive Committee of the parent company, SAirGroup, in
2001. In May 2002, he became an Executive Committee member and Head of Group Human Resources at Centerpulse AG,
which was subsequently acquired in October 2003 by the US
company Zimmer Holdings. Mr. Mölleney has a commercial /
business management educational background with a major
focus on human resources management.
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From left to right: Asuri Raghavan, Kaspar Kelterborn, Heinz Kundert, Matthias Mölleney.
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COMPENSATION,
SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS

Content and method of determining the compensation

the 2003 financial year to the members of the Executive Board

and share ownership programs

amounted to CHF 3 088 702. Those individuals were also

The members of the Board of Directors receive compensation,

issued a total of 55 902 options for Unaxis.

the value of which in a normal year is paid half in cash and half
in the form of stock options. Depending on the development of

In the 2003 financial year, a total of CHF 991 000 in severance

EBITDA over the previous financial year, the total compensa-

compensation was paid to members of the Executive Board

tion may vary between 70 and 200 percent of the established

who left the company.

value. The amount of remuneration for Board members is proposed by the Human Resources Committee and set by the

Compensation for former members of

Board of Directors.

governing bodies
In the 2003 financial year, a total of CHF 3 040 000 was paid to

Members of the Executive Board, as well as Segment and

former members of governing bodies (Extended Executive

Division Heads, receive compensation that, in addition to a

Board) of Unaxis Corporation.

fixed basic salary, includes a variable component generally
amounting to 25 percent of their total remuneration, whereas

Share allotments

the actual amount of the variable component payable is

In the 2003 financial year, no shares were allotted to members

dependent upon their having achieved annually predetermined

of either the Board of Directors or the Executive Board.

individual (30 percent) and financial (70 percent) goals, whereas
the latter are based on total revenues, EBIT and capital

However, within the framework of the company-wide stock

turnover. In addition, the members of the Executive Board, as

ownership plan, members of the Executive Board each had the

well as Segment and Division Heads, receive stock options as

opportunity on May 23, 2003, to purchase Unaxis shares for a

a form of long-term bonus, which generally also represents 25

maximum of CHF 10 000 at a 30 percent discount to the then-

percent of their total remuneration. The Human Resources

current market price of CHF 110. Those shares are restricted

Committee approves all of the aforementioned compensation,

as to sale for a period of two years.

including the related options, at the proposal of the CEO.
Share ownership
The issuance of options is based on the Board of Directors

As at December 31, 2003, members of the Board of Directors

Regulations dated November 11, 1998, and September 11,

held, according to their own declaration, a total of 6 225 regis-

2002, the Rules for Employees dated May 23, 2001, or June 6,

tered shares of Unaxis Holding Inc.

2001.
As at December 31, 2003, members of the Executive Board
Compensation for acting members of governing bodies

held, according to their own declaration, a total of 142 regis-

Total compensation (excluding employer contributions to the

tered shares of Unaxis Holding Inc.

AHV state pension fund) paid to the members of the Board of
Directors amounted to CHF 260 000 in the 2003 financial year.

Options

The Board members were also issued 18 526 stock options.

Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Board were
granted options during the corresponding year in the amounts

Total compensation (including all employer pension fund con-

indicated below, whereas each option entitles the holder to

tributions, but excluding employer’s AHV contributions) paid in

acquire one registered share of Unaxis Holding Inc.:

Options granted to Board members
Issued

Members

Number of options

Expiration

Restricted until

Exercise price
in CHF
400

2001

7

9 118

5/30/2005

5/28/2004

2002

7

11 246

5/12/2006

5/12/2004

225

2003

7

18 526

5/22/2007

5/22/2005

123
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Options granted to Executive Board members
Issued

Members

Number of options

Expiration

Restricted until

Exercise price
in CHF

2000

8

14 583

2001

8

6 682
5 538

5/30/2005

5/28/2004

400

2002

11

12 198

5/13/2009

5/13/2004–05*

189.5

7 226

5/12/2006

5/12/2004

225

5

15 902

5/23/2010

5/23/2005–06*

110

20 000

5/23/2010

5/23/2005–06–07*** 110

20 000

3/3/2010

3/3/2005–06–07***

2003**

*** 50 percent each on both dates
*** 2003: streamlined Group structure
*** Issued in 50%, 25%, 25% proportions on the three separate dates

The options with an exercise price of CHF 350 (1998 and 1999)
and CHF 650 (2000) issued to Board members in the aforementioned years expired worthless in November 2001, May
2002 and May 2003, respectively. The issuance of options to
Extended Executive Board members only commenced in 2000.
Although conditional capital exists for the issuance of stock
options to Group employees, all previously issued options are
covered by shares acquired in the open market.
Additional fees and remunerations
The members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Board, or parties closely related to those individuals, received
in the 2003 financial year no fees or any other kind of remuneration for any additional services they may have rendered to
Unaxis Holding Inc. or its companies.
Loans to members of governing bodies
As at December 31, 2003, Unaxis Holding Inc. and its companies had granted no guarantees, loans, advances or credits
to members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board or
any party closely related to those individuals.
Highest total compensation
The highest total compensation paid in the 2003 financial
year to a single member of the Board of Directors amounted
to CHF 100 000. That Board member was also granted
7 945 stock options during the year under review.

5/4/2004

5/5/2003

650

5/28/2008

5/28/2003–04*

315

82.05
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SHAREHOLDERS’ PARTICIPATION

Voting rights and representation restrictions

Decisive for the issuance of an admission card is the status of

No voting rights restrictions exist with regard to the shares of

the share register as at May 12, 2004. In the case that shares

Unaxis. Each shareholder may be represented at the general

have been sold from the holdings listed on the admission card,

meeting of shareholders by the company-appointed independ-

the shareholder is no longer entitled to exercise the voting

ent voting rights representative, by Unaxis Holding Inc. as rep-

rights associated with the divested shares.

resentative of the governing bodies, or by means of a written
proxy issued to some other registered shareholder.

Right to inspect minutes of the general meeting of
shareholders

Statutory quorums

Minutes of the previous general meetings of shareholders may,

The Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding Inc. provide for

upon prior notification, be inspected at the headquarters of the

no specific quorums that exceed the provisions of corporate

corporation. As of the 2004 annual general meeting of share-

law.

holders, the minutes of the meeting, once completed, will be
made accessible via the Internet at www.unaxis.com. Share-

Convocation of the general meeting of shareholders

holders who attend the 2004 annual general meeting will be

Supplemental to the provisions of corporate law, the com-

made aware of this additional service.

pany’s Articles of Association provide for the convocation of
the general meeting of shareholders via a one-time announcement in the Swiss Commercial Gazette.
Agenda
Supplemental to the provisions of corporate law, the company’s Articles of Association provide that the addition of a
matter for discussion to the agenda can be requested at latest
ten weeks prior to the date of the general meeting of shareholders.
Share register entries and related deadlines
At the general meeting, all shareholders recorded in the share
register at the time the invitation is issued are entitled to vote.
Changes made at a later date will be taken into consideration,
provided this is possible from an organizational standpoint and
that equal treatment can be ensured.
The 2004, general meeting of shareholders will be held on
June 1, 2004, at the Lucerne Culture and Convention Center
(KKL). Shareholders who are already recorded in the share register or will be recorded by May 12, 2004, will receive along
with their invitation a registration form for participation at the
annual general meeting, with which an admission card including voting material can be requested.

CHANGES OF CONTROL AND
DEFENSE MEASURES
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Duty to make an offer
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Unaxis Holding Inc.,
a person who acquires shares in the company is not required
to make a public purchase bid pursuant to Arts. 32 and 52 of
the Federal Act on Stock Markets and Securities Trading (“opting out”).
Clauses on changes of control
In the case of a change of control with regard to Unaxis Holding Inc., Unaxis Management Inc. is under the obligation to
make a severance payment to any members of the Executive
Board who have been dismissed other than for cause within
the meaning of Art. 337 of the Swiss Code of Obligations
within a period of two years from the effective date of a change
of control or who, themselves, resign within one month subsequent to the effective date of a change of control. The amount
of such severance payment is equal to one yearly base salary
at the time of termination plus one yearly target short-term
cash bonus as well as all employer contributions in the pension fund in the twelve-month period preceding the date of
termination.
In addition, upon any change of control, all options granted to
members of the Executive Board under their respective
employment contracts but not yet vested shall vest immediately, and this regardless of whether the individual’s employment contract is terminated or remains in force. Such options
may be exercised within a period of one year or, alternatively,
sold to Unaxis Management Inc. at the market value at the
date of change of control.
Deemed to constitute a change of control is the acquisition of
at least 50 percent of the shares of Unaxis Holding Inc. by any
person or entity who, at the time the employment contract with
the given Executive Board member was signed, held no more
than 5 percent of the company’s shares, in combination with
the replacement of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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AUDITORS

Duration of mandate and lead auditor’s term of office
In 2002, the Audit and Finance Committee resolved to implement the decision by the Board of Directors to establish an
internal revision mechanism by outsourcing the related tasks
to a qualified partner. Given that Ernst & Young have been the
external auditors of Unaxis Holding Inc. (formerly OerlikonBührle Holding Ltd.) since the founding of the enterprise in
1973, corporate governance considerations resulted in the
decision to issue simultaneously invitations to tender for the
internal and external auditing mandates.
Following comprehensive evaluations, it was decided to grant
the mandate for internal auditing to Ernst & Young AG and for
external auditing to KPMG Fides Peat. With the 2003 annual
financial statements, the lead auditor of KPMG has commenced his auditing activities on behalf of Unaxis for the first
time.
Auditing fees
In the calendar year 2003, KPMG invoiced the company
CHF 1.2 million for global auditing fees.
Additional fees
In the calendar year 2003, KPMG invoiced the company
CHF 0.2 million for additional services provided globally.
Supervisory and control instruments pertaining
to the audit
The Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors
conducts an annual assessment of the work, remuneration and
independence of the auditors and Group auditors, and submits
a proposal to the Board for the election of external auditors by
the general meeting of shareholders.
On the basis of an integrated strategic audit plan that encompasses both the internal and external audit, the Audit and
Finance Committee conducts an annual examination of the
auditing schedules for the upcoming year-end rendering of
accounts. Once the auditing work has been completed, the
results are analyzed extensively and discussed with the external auditors. Those results, in turn, constitute the basis for
determining the following year’s audit plan.

SHARE DATA

EDITORIAL
GROUP
SEGMENTS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL REPORT

2003

2002

2001

2000

20

20

20

20

20

1

1

1

1

1

13 170 092

13 170 092

13 170 092

13 170 092

13 170 092

220 443

213 360

180 840

147 014

104 500

Shares with voting and dividend rights

12 949 649

12 956 732

12 989 252

13 023 078

13 065 592

Conditional shares for
convertible bonds and warrant bonds

2 000 000

2 000 000

480 000

480 000

480 000

0

0

0

0

0

360 000

360 000

360 000

360 000

0

0

0

0

0

0

2 000 000

2 000 000

2 000 000

2 000 000

0

2.50

–3.00

8.53

39.17

0.39

115

114

128

116

79

2.00

2.00

2.00

2.00

–

184

207

393

511

320

Number of shares
Par value
Voting rights per sharel
Total outstanding shares
including treasury holding
Treasury shares

a)

of which reserved
Conditional shares for
employee participation
of which reserved
Authorized shares

b)

1999
in CHF

number of pieces

Per-share data
Net income per share
Equity per share

c)

c)

Dividends per share

d)

Share price*

high
low

74

66

103

300

157

year-end

175

93

179

365

320

high

2 423

2 726

5 176

6 730

4 214

low

975

869

1 357

3 951

2 068

year-end

2 305

1 225

2 357

4 807

4 214

in CHF

* adjusted values

Market capitalization

a)
b)
c)
d)

Shares reserved for stock options issued to individual directors and executives
Resolution by the annual general meeting of shareholders on May 7, 2002
New basis: number of shares with voting and dividend rights
Dividend 2003: proposal of the Board of Directors

in CHF million
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INFORMATION POLICY

General

Contact

Unaxis provides its shareholders and the capital market with

Investor Relations

information on facts and developments of relevancy to them,

Dr. Philipp Gamper

and this in an open, comprehensive and timely manner. The

Phone +41 (0)58 360 97 03

company’s information policy is oriented towards the principle

Fax +41 (0)58 360 91 93

of equal treatment of all capital market participants.

E-mail investor.relations@unaxis.com

Aside from its detailed annual report and mid-year report that

Media Relations

are prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-

Nicolas Weidmann

ing Standards (IFRS, formerly IAS), Unaxis publishes key finan-

Phone +41 (0)58 360 96 96

cial figures and a related commentary for the first and third

Fax +41 (0)58 360 91 93

quarters of its financial year. In addition, media releases keep

E-mail media.relations@unaxis.com

shareholders and the capital market abreast of significant
changes and developments at the company. Also, the company’s Website – www.unaxis.com – is a permanently accessible platform for company-specific information.
As a company listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, Unaxis is
subject to the obligation to disclose price-sensitive facts (“ad
hoc publicity” requirement).
Corporate notifications
The corporate notifications published in 2003, as well as those
from the previous two years, can be accessed at the company’s Website www.unaxis.com.
Agenda
March 23, 2004

Media and analysts conference on 2003
annual results; Convention Point, SWX
Swiss Exchange, Selnaustr. 30,
8021 Zurich

April 27, 2004

Key figures for the 1st quarter of 2004
(sales, orders received, orders on hand)

June 1, 2004

Annual general meeting of shareholders;
KKL Lucerne

August 17, 2004

Publication of the 2004 mid-year report

October 21, 2004 Key figures for the 3 rd quarter of 2004
(sales, orders received, orders on hand)
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GROUP KEY FIGURES

Total Group

2003

2002

1 788

1 494

– Change in %

20%

–5%

Orders on hand

575

409

Orders received

1 610

1 490

8%

–30%

Operating result (EBIT)

16

–83

Other result

37

47

Financial result

–8

–11

Result before taxes

45

–47

Net income/ loss for the period

32

–39

Total assets

2 550

2 525

Shareholders’ equity

1 488

1 476

– in % of total assets

58%

58%

Sales
– Change in %

Net liquidity
– as a % of shareholders’ equity
Net assets1
Capital expenditure in property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

682

686

46%

47%

1 032

1 075

98

77

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

157

71

Research and development

154

157

Personnel expenses
Number of employees at year-end
1

595

634

6 456

6 544

Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less operating liabilities (excluding
financial debts, provisions for post-employment benefits and for taxes and other provisions not charged against operating result).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

Group

The financial result of CHF –8 million was an improvement on the

In the 2003 financial year, Unaxis Corporation recorded sales in the

previous year’s total of CHF –11 million. Although the income side of

amount of CHF 1 610 million (2002: CHF 1 490 million) and orders

our financing activities worsened as a result of generally lower inter-

received totaling CHF 1 788 million (2002: CHF 1 494 million). Effec-

est rates, the balanced results from foreign currency hedging oper-

tive as of January 1, 2004, Unaxis is now conducting its business

ations had a countering effect. In contrast to the 2002 financial year,

via the five segments reflected below, and consequently is reporting

during which the activities of Materials were divested, no significant

its 2002 and 2003 financial results according to this newly estab-

divestitures were made in the year under review. “Other income”

lished organizational structure. With the exception of the “Others”

totaling CHF 37 million is mainly attributable to the elimination of

segment, which includes the activities of the Materials division that

provisions for warranties on previously sold equipment.

were divested in 2002 (sales: CHF 63 million; EBIT CHF 3 million),
the reported segment results are directly comparable with each

In total, the 2003 financial year resulted in a Group consolidated

other, i. e. no divestments or acquisition effects have been taken

net profit of CHF 32 million following a prior-year net loss of

into account.

CHF 39 million. That corresponds to earnings per share of
CHF 2.50, respectively, CHF 2.49 on a fully diluted basis.

The aforementioned 20 percent increase in orders received is attributable to a recovery in the information technology markets that

Group net assets, investments and workforce

accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2003, as well as to the continu-

For the period under review, Group net assets declined by

ing strong demand enjoyed by the Data Storage Solutions segment,

CHF 43 million to CHF 1 032 million (2002: CHF 1 075 million). As

which recorded a 60 percent increase in orders received. The

was the case in the previous year, investments in fixed assets were

69 percent increase in orders received by the Optics division is

adapted to reflect the general course of business and were primari-

mainly due to its commencement of assembly operations for light-

ly focused on maintaining our production competency. The total

ing machines on behalf of a customer. The Coating Services and

invested amount of CHF 98 million stood clearly above the prior-

Vacuum Solutions segments witnessed stable development in line

year level (2002: CHF 77 million) and corresponded to a reinvest-

with general economic conditions.

ment rate of 1 for the 2003 financial year. Unaxis earmarked
CHF 154 million for research and development (2002: CHF 157 mil-

In response to the pronounced increase in demand during the

lion). The average number of employees declined from 6 544 in the

second half of 2003, orders on hand grew by 40 percent in com-

previous year to the 2003 year-end level of 6 456.

parison to the previous year and by year’s end came to a total of
CHF 575 million (2002: CHF 409 million). The increase in revenues

Solid shareholders’ equity base and

at the Group level amounted to 8 percent. On a comparable basis –

high level of net liquidity

i. e. excluding the activities of the Materials division that were divest-

At the end of 2003, Unaxis Corporation possessed net liquidity in

ed in 2002 – revenues increased by 13 percent, whereas that total

the amount of CHF 682 million (2002: CHF 686 million). Our share-

includes a negative foreign currency effect of 4 percent.

holders’ equity at year’s end stood at CHF 1 488 million, reflecting
an unchanged shareholders’ equity ratio of 58 percent (2002 share-

Positive operating earnings and net income

holders’ equity: CHF 1 476 million). Thanks to its high level of net

Group consolidated operating earnings (EBIT) for the 2003 financial

liquidity and solid base of shareholders’ equity, Unaxis is well

year amounted to CHF 16 million versus the previous year’s nega-

equipped to meet the future and can continue to drive forward the

tive EBIT of CHF 83 million, thus representing a CHF 99 million

Group’s strategic development even in a cyclical market environ-

improvement. Contributing to that increase were mainly Data

ment.

Storage Solutions with an EBIT of CHF 37 million (2002: CHF –4 million), Components and Special Systems with an EBIT of CHF 28 million (2002: CHF 8 million), as well as Coating Services, which
recorded an EBIT of CHF 43 million (2002: CHF 42 million),
thereby maintaining its return on sales level of 14 percent. The
Semiconductor Equipment segment continued to incur an operating
loss (CHF –98 million) but it, too, managed to achieve a significant
improvement over the previous year (2002: CHF –133 million).
Margin pressures continued to increase during the 2003 financial
year. As a result of the higher volume of sales, however, Unaxis
was able to improve its capacity utilization rate and thus, despite
pricing pressures, increase its operating margin to 36.5 percent
from 35.4 percent in the 2002 financial year. The cost-reduction
measures introduced in previous years continued to have a favorable influence on the 2003 financial year – in the wake of cost
savings that amounted to CHF 100 million in 2002, overhead costs
were reduced by an additional CHF 35 million in 2003, of which
CHF 12 million is attributable to positive foreign currency effects.
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SEGMENT KEY FIGURES

Business development by segment

2003

2002

Orders received

562

406

Orders on hand

267

129

Sales

420

388

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

–47

–82

Operating result (EBIT)

–98

–133

–23%

–34%

530

563

Orders received

293

184

Orders on hand

52

53

293

171

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

56

15

Operating result (EBIT)

37

–4

13%

–2%

96

88

Semiconductor Equipment 2

As a % of sales
Net assets1
Data Storage Solutions 2

Sales

As a % of sales
Net assets1
Coating Services
Sales

315

306

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

83

82

Operating result (EBIT)

43

42

14%

14%

208

198

Orders received

365

352

Orders on hand

51

31

345

358

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

20

11

Operating result (EBIT)

11

1

As a % of sales

3%

0%

Net assets1

114

104

Orders received

243

181

Orders on hand

205

193

Sales

228

204

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

45

24

Operating result (EBIT)

28

8

12%

4%

21

4

8

64

As a % of sales
Net assets1
Vacuum Solutions 2

Sales

Components and Special Systems 2

As a % of sales
Net Assets1
Others 3
Sales
Operating result (EBIT)

–5

3

Net assets1

64

119

1

2
3

Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less operating liabilities (excluding
financial debts, provisions for post-employment benefits and for taxes and other provisions not charged against operating result).
Prior-year figures were adjusted to reflect the new segment structure.
2002 figures include the divestment of Materials division's activities (sales: CHF 63m; EBIT: CHF 3m). As a consequence, the results reported in this segment
are not directly comparable.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

Semiconductor Equipment segment

Vacuum Solutions segment

The Semiconductor Equipment segment saw its sales increase

The total of CHF 345 million in sales for the Vacuum Solutions seg-

in the 2003 financial year by 8 percent to CHF 420 million (2002:

ment in the 2003 financial year stood 3 percent lower than in the

CHF 388 million). A significant increase in demand during the fourth

previous year (2002: CHF 358 million), whereas expressed in local

quarter led to a 39 percent overall rise in orders received to

currency, that decline amounted to 1 percent. On the other hand,

CHF 562 million (2002: CHF 406 million). The main beneficiary was

orders received increased by 4 percent to CHF 365 million (2002:

the Display Technology division, which received major orders for

CHF 352 million). Despite enormous pricing pressures, improve-

production equipment used in making large-format displays. The

ments in capacity utilization as well as the segment’s cost structure

total value of orders it received rose from CHF 91 million in 2002 to

led to increased profitability: its operating earnings (EBIT) rose to

CHF 183 million. At CHF 267 million, the value of orders on hand at

CHF 11 million in comparison to the CHF 1 million recorded in 2002.

December 31, 2003, was more than twice as high as in the previous
year (2002: CHF 129 million).

Components and Special Systems segment
For the 2003 financial year, the Components and Special Systems

Sales for the 2003 financial year remained clearly below the volume

segment witnessed a 12 percent increase in sales to CHF 228 mil-

required to exhaust existing production capacity. However, as

lion (2002: CHF 204 million), while the value of orders it received

a result of its higher level of sales as well as increased efficiency

rose 34 percent to CHF 243 million (2002: CHF 181 million). At

with regard to overhead, the Semiconductor Equipment segment

CHF 28 million, the segment’s operating earnings (EBIT) improved

managed to compensate for the relentless pressure on margins.

significantly (2002: CHF 8 million).

Accordingly, the segment’s operating result (EBIT) improved to
CHF –98 million in comparison to the previous year’s level of
CHF –133 million.
Data Storage Solutions segment
The Data Storage Solutions segment witnessed a 72 percent rise
in sales to CHF 293 million (2002: CHF 171 million) and a 60 percent
increase in orders received to CHF 293 million (2002: CHF 184 million). This gratifying development was mainly attributable to strong
demand for production systems for rewritable storage media such
as DVD RW, as well as for Metalizers. The segment concluded the
transition of its business model into one that focuses on fully
integrated production lines for CD/CD R and DVD/DVD R, and the
first of these systems were delivered during the 2003 financial year.
Thanks to its higher volume of sales and resolute cost controls, the
Data Storage Solutions segment was able to increase its operating
result (EBIT) from CHF –4 million in the previous year to CHF 37 million in 2003. Included in those figures is amortization of goodwill
from the acquisition of Nimbus in 2001 amounting to CHF 13 million
for each of the two years. This acquisition-related goodwill has now
been fully amortized as of December 31, 2003.
Coating Services segment
The Coating Services segment increased its sales during the 2003
financial year by 3 percent to CHF 315 million. Expressed in local
currency, sales rose by 6 percent. The segment saw its gross margin improve modestly from an already high level. The establishment
of new country-specific companies as well as the segment’s determined effort to expand incurred slightly higher overhead costs. Its
return on sales of 14 percent was maintained, while operating earnings (EBIT) rose from CHF 42 million in 2002 to CHF 43 million for
the year under review.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Notes

Sales

2003

2002

1 610

1 490

Cost of sales*

–1 022

–962

Gross margin*

587

527

Marketing and selling*

–208

–217

Research and development

–154

–157

Administration

–169

–193

3

Amortization of goodwill

4

–43

–45

Other operating income and expenses

5

3

2

6, 7

16

–83

8

–8

–11

Operating result (EBIT)
Financial result
Result from associated companies

0

0

37

47

45

–47

–17

–8

28

–54

5

16

32

–39

Net income / loss per registered share in CHF**

2.50

–3.00

Diluted earnings per registered share in CHF**

2.49

–3.00

Dividend paid out per registered share in CHF (gross)

2.00

2.00

Other result

9

Result before taxes
Income taxes
Net income / loss including minority interests
Minority interests
Net income / loss for the period

10

* Prior-year figures adjusted to reflect new classification (warranty costs are now included in the cost of sales).
** Average number of shares with voting and dividend rights (2003: 12 953 191/diluted: 12 999 609; 2002: 12 972 992 /diluted: 12 972 992).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF DECEMBER 31

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes

2003

2002

11

712

726

Marketable securities

2

1

Receivables

12

357

345

Inventories

13

355

272

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

14

39

31

1 466

1 376

35

40

Assets
in CHF million

Non-current assets
Loans receivable
Investments in associated companies

0

0

Other investments

15

66

50

Property, plant and equipment

16

591

597

Intangible assets

17

287

345

Post-employment benefit assets

18

30

37

19, 27

76

80

20

1 085

1 149

2 550

2 525

Deferred tax assets

Total assets
Current liabilities

Liabilities and
shareholders’ equity
in CHF million

Payables

21

129

122

Accrued liabilities

22

188

139

Current customer advances

23

99

28

Current financial debt

24

13

20

Current income tax provisions

25

26

15

Current post-employment benefit provisions

26

5

1

Current other provisions

28

96

118

556

441

59

Non-current liabilities
Non-current customer advances

23

34

Non-current financial debt

24

17

20

Non-current post-employment benefit provisions

26

251

244

Deferred tax provisions

27

42

53

Non-current other provisions

28

91

151

435

530

991

970

72

79

Share capital

263

263

Treasury shares

–44

–47

1 268

1 259

1 488

1 476

2 550

2 525

Total liabilities
Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity

Reserves and retained earnings

Total liabilities and equity

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2003

2002

Net income / loss including minority interests

28

–54

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

96

104

Other depreciation and amortization

48

58

–43

–14

Notes

Addition (+), release (–) in other provisions*
Increase (+), decrease (–) in post-employment benefit provisions*

–6

4

–13

–6

Losses (+), gains (–) from sales of non-current assets

4

–16

Decrease (+), increase (–) in post-employment benefit assets*

4

1

Conversion losses (+), gains (–) on intercompany positions*

8

23

127

100

Expense (+), income (–) in deferred taxes

Net funds before change in net current assets*
Decrease (+), increase (–) in marketable securities

–1

–1

Decrease (+), increase (–) in receivables / accrued assets*

–22

36

Decrease (+), increase (–) in inventories

–86

21

Increase (+), decrease (–) in payables / accrued liabilities and use of other provisions*

21

–157

Increase (+), decrease (–) in customer advances

46

–41

Thereof due to hedge accounting under IAS 39

4

2

88

–41
–74

Net funds from operations
Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment

16

–96

Capital expenditure in intangible assets

17

–2

–3

11

12

Decrease (+), increase (–) in loans receivable
Increase (+), decrease (–) in cash from purchase /sale of subsidiaries

–1

–6

4

10

7

43

Net funds from / used by investing activities

–76

–17

Dividends paid

1

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of consolidated subsidiaries

9

–29

–27

Purchase of treasury shares

0

–2

Transactions with minority shareholders

0

–1

Increase in (+), repayment of (–) financial debt

–11

–23

Net funds from / used by financing activities

–40

–53

14

–14

Increase (+), decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents

–14

–124

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

726

850

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

712

726

Increase (+), decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents

–14

–124

Conversion adjustments on cash and cash equivalents

Increase (–), decrease (+) in financial debts from purchase /sale of subsidiaries

1

13

Repayment of (+), increase in (–) financial debt

11

23

Conversion adjustments on financial debt

–2

7

Increase (+), decrease (–) in net liquidity

–4

–82

1

Additional information:
Interest paid

17

4

Interest received

10

19

Taxes paid

19

45

* Prior-year figures adjusted to reflect new classification.
All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at January 1, 2002

Additional
paid-in
capital

Treasury
shares**

471

–45

263

Conversion
differences

Retained
earnings

21

974

Minority restatement
Balance at January 1, 2002
after min. rest.

Hedge Fair value
Deferred
Total Minority
account- adjustments
taxes on
share- interest
ing under
under IAS 39 ad- holders’
IAS 39
IAS 39 justments
equity

3

79

–4

–95
263

471

–45

21

3

79

–4

in CHF million

0 1 762

1 762

95

–95

879

Total

0

95 1 762

1 667

Net income

–39

–39

–16

–54

Dividends paid

–26

–26

–1

–27

Fair value adjustments
under IAS 39

5

Realization under IAS 39

–50

–3

Conversion differences

–76

–1

–46

1

–2

1

Transactions with
minority shareholders
Purchase of treasury shares

–5

Sale of treasury shares

3

Others

1

–46
–2

–75

–1

–76

0

–1

–1

–5
–1

2

2

–4

–1

–5
2
3

2

Balance at
December 31, 2002

263

471

–47

–53

810

5

28

–4

1 476

79 1 555

Balance at January 1, 2003

263

471

–47

–53

810

5

28

–4

1 476

79 1 555

Net income
Dividends paid

32

32

–5

28

–26

–26

–3

–29

Fair value adjustments
under IAS 39

8

Realization under IAS 39

23

–5

Conversion differences

–4

27

2

–3

–19

–4

Sale of treasury shares

Balance at
December 31, 2003

263

471

–44

–18

0

0

–4

–4

–3

4

4

1

1

1

1

–71

815

1 488

72 1 560

7

Others

–3
1

–19

Transactions with
minority shareholders
Purchase of
treasury shares

27

8

51

–6

* The share capital of Unaxis Holding Inc. consists of 13 170 092 fully paid-up registered shares, each with a par value
of CHF 20.
** The historical cost of treasury shares purchased to ensure the ability of Unaxis Holding Inc. to meet potential commitments from its stock option plans (see also note 15 to the financial statements of Unaxis Holding Inc.):
Number
of shares

Balance at December 31, 2001
Purchase 2002
Sale 2002 due to employee share purchase plan
Re-purchase from employee shares
Balance at December 31, 2002
Purchase 2003
Sale 2003 due to employee share purchase plan
Re-purchase from employee shares
Balance at December 31, 2003

Price per
share
in CHF

Cost
value

180 840

250

45

44 250

101

4

–11 943

250

–3

213

252

0

213 360

219

47

35 750

97

3

–32 687

200

–7

4 020

116

0

220 443

200

44

Market
value

Result
in CHF million

–2

–1
–1

–4

–3

–3

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Introduction

Goodwill: At the time of their initial consolidation, the assets and

Unaxis Holding Inc. is a Swiss limited liability corporation located in

liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries are stated at market value

Freienbach SZ, Churerstrasse 120, Pfäffikon SZ. It is the ultimate

according to uniform Group principles. The difference between the

holding company of the Unaxis Group, a global leader in providing

purchase price and the net assets of the acquired company based

production systems, components and services for selected market

on such valuation is capitalized as goodwill in the year of acquisi-

segments in information technology as well as for use in highly

tion and amortized on a straight line basis over a maximum of

demanding industrial applications. In addition to Switzerland, the

twenty years as a component of net income. Goodwill denominated

Unaxis Group operates in particular in the European Union coun-

in foreign currencies is translated using year-end rates.

tries, North America and Asia, and employed some 6 500 persons
as of the end of 2003.

Conversion of foreign currencies: Assets and liabilities of
foreign subsidiaries are converted into Swiss francs at the exchange

Basis

rate prevailing as of the balance sheet date; income and expenses

The consolidated financial statements of Unaxis Holding Inc. were

of foreign subsidiaries are converted into Swiss francs using aver-

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

age rates for the year. Differences resulting from the application of

Standards (IFRS, previously IAS). The financial statements were

different exchange rates are added to or deducted from share-

approved by the Board of Directors on March 3, 2004, and will be

holders’ equity without impacting net income. Exchange gains and

submitted to the annual general meeting of shareholders on June 1,

losses reported by the individual subsidiaries are included in

2004, for approval. All standards issued by the IASB and all inter-

net income. Exchange gains and losses resulting from specific

pretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations

intercompany financial transactions, which are of a long-term

Committee (IFRIC) effective until the date of the consolidated finan-

investment nature, are excluded from this rule and are charged or

cial statements were considered. The consolidation was based on

credited directly to shareholders’ equity. At the time foreign sub-

audited annual accounts of the individual subsidiaries which were

sidiaries are sold, accumulated conversion differences recorded

prepared according to uniform Group accounting principles. All

directly in shareholders’ equity are included in the income statement

asset values have been determined based on historical costs, with

as gain or loss on sales of investments.

the exception of derivative financial instruments and financial assets
available for sale or held for trading purposes, which are stated at

Elimination of intercompany profits: Profits on intercompany

current market value. The preparation of the financial statements

sales not yet realized through sales to third parties as of year-end,

requires that management make estimates and assumptions, which

as well as intercompany results on transfers of fixed assets and

have an impact on the amounts of the assets and liabilities shown in

investments in subsidiaries, are eliminated in the consolidation.

the balance sheet. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Valuation principles
Accounting principles

Cash and cash equivalents: These assets are placed with vari-

During the year, no new or revised IFR standards went into effect.

ous financial institutions with top-quality international ratings. Time

The accounting principles applied during the prior year remained

deposits included therein mature in three months or less.

unchanged in 2003. All amounts (including subtotals and totals)
have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual

Receivables: Credit and default risks are systematically taken into

amounts may result in rounding differences.

account through value adjustments. These risks are insured with
third parties only in rare cases.

Consolidation principles
Method and extent of consolidation: December 31 represents

Derivative financial instruments: Forward contracts and

the uniform closing date for all companies included in the consoli-

options are utilized systematically and solely for the purpose of

dated financial statements. All companies in which Unaxis Holding

reducing business-related foreign currency and interest rate risks.

Inc. has either a direct or indirect interest exceeding 50 percent of

These transactions are concluded with first-rate financial institu-

the shareholders’ voting rights and companies over which control is

tions and, as a general rule, have a term to maturity of up to

assured through contractual arrangements are consolidated. Using

12 months. These derivative financial instruments are stated at fair

the full consolidation method, the assets, liabilities, income and

values. With the exception of ESEC, hedge accounting is applied in

expenses of these consolidated subsidiaries are included in their

accordance with IAS 39, i.e. the gains or losses arising from the

entirety. Minority interests are shown separately in the consolidated

adjustments of the derivatives to fair values are deferred and record-

financial statements. Group companies acquired or sold are includ-

ed in shareholders’ equity until the underlying hedged transactions

ed in or, respectively, eliminated from, the consolidated financial

are recorded in the balance sheet.

statements as of the month of purchase or sale. All majority interests held are shown in the organization chart at the end of this
report.
Capital consolidation: The capital consolidation is performed
according to the Anglo-Saxon purchase method.

Inventories: Inventories of raw materials, purchased components

Stock option participation plans: Unaxis Holding Inc. offers the

and trade merchandise are carried at cost or their lower net

Board of Directors, corporate management and key employees

realizable value, determined by either the FIFO or the weighted

options to purchase its shares under various profit participation

average cost method. Produced components, work in process and

plans. The costs related to such plans (reduced subscription price,

finished goods are carried at the cost of productions. This includes

mandatory social security contributions) are included in net income

all material and labor costs as well as a reasonable allocation

as a component of personnel expense at the time they are incurred.

of overhead. Recognizable reductions in value resulting from

From time to time, the company purchases treasury shares in order

excess stock, declines in replacement cost or sales price are

to cover the risk associated with the options granted. Acquisition

taken into consideration by appropriate write-downs of inventory

costs of treasury shares are deducted directly from shareholders’

values.

equity.

Unconsolidated investments in subsidiaries: Under the equity

Post-employment benefit plans: Within the Group, various post-

method, investments held in associated companies (ranging from

employment benefit plans exist, which differ in their purpose and

20 to 50 percent of voting rights) are carried in the balance sheet at

financing according to local needs. Defined-benefit retirement plans

an amount equal to the Unaxis Group’s proportional share of the

are valued by independent actuaries. In these calculations, the pro-

investee’s net equity value. Other investments (less than 20 percent

jected unit credit method is applied uniformly throughout the Group.

of voting rights) are stated at current market value as at the balance

Costs and cost reductions that result from the introduction of or

sheet date, and any increases in market value above cost are

changes in benefits provided for by a plan (past service cost) are

recorded in shareholders’ equity without impacting net income until

charged or credited to income linearly over the average remaining

such investments are sold. Investments in non-public companies for

period until the amended benefits become vested. The impact of

which no reliable market value can be determined are carried at his-

changes in plans relating to retirees is immediately recorded in the

torical cost less any necessary value adjustment.

income statement. Actuarial gains and losses, which result among
other reasons from changes in actuarial assumptions, are charged

Fixed assets: Fixed assets are recorded at historical purchase or

or credited to income linearly over eight years, if such deviations

production costs, less economically necessary depreciation. Depre-

exceed 10 percent of the projected benefit obligation or – if larger –

ciation is calculated on the straight-line basis according to detailed

of plan assets. The interest component included in the increase in

asset useful life catalogues. Asset useful lives, as specified for eight

provisions for unfunded plans is included in the financial result. The

asset categories, lie within the following Group ranges:

calculation of the interest component is performed on an individual

– Plant and equipment:

company basis using discount rates determined by third-party

3–15 years

– Production and administration

appraisals.

buildings used in Group operations: 20–40 years
Fixed assets used under financial leasing agreements are treated

Impairment of assets: At each balance sheet date, an assess-

similarly to fixed assets owned outright. Non-operating properties

ment is made as to whether there are indications that assets may be

available for sale are carried at the lower of their residual net book

impaired. If any such indication exists regarding assets of significant

value or estimated net realizable value.

value, an impairment test is carried out in order to determine if and
to what extent a valuation allowance is necessary to reduce the

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill): Intangible assets are

asset to its value in use (the present value of estimated future cash

identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance from

flows) or, if higher, to its net selling price. Then, and only then, is an

which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the Group.

impairment loss recorded and completely charged against income.

Intangible assets are amortized linearly over their economically use-

With the exception of impairment losses recorded on goodwill, as

ful lives (limited to twenty years maximum), but when such useful

soon as it is recognized that an impairment allowance previously

lives cannot be clearly determined, over a period not to exceed five

recorded is no longer justified, it is reversed and credited to income.

years. Software is amortized on a straight-line basis over two to
three years.
Provisions: Provisions are established based on consistent economic criteria applied uniformly throughout the Group. They serve
to cover recognizable outflows of resources that will probably be
necessary to settle obligations arising from past events and that can
be reasonably estimated.
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Income statement

Segment information

Sales: Sales are recorded net of sales taxes, as well as deductions

As of January 1, 2004, Unaxis is conducting its business via the five

for returns and discounts, at the time the risks and benefits of own-

segments described in this annual report. The presentation of finan-

ership are substantially transferred to customers. Revenue under

cial figures for 2002/2003 has been adjusted to reflect this new

long-term construction and service contracts in the Semiconductor

organizational structure. Sales between business segments are

Equipment segment is recognized according to the percentage-of-

carried out at normal market conditions. Costs are allocated on a

completion method. The percentage of completion is determined

systematic basis, which considers their origin and purpose.

based on the direct project costs, excluding material costs.
Transactions with related parties
Interest on financial debts: Interest expenses are charged

Deemed to be related parties are members of the Board of Directors

against income without restriction. Thus, no borrowing costs direct-

or Executive Board, significant shareholders, as well as companies

ly incurred during construction are capitalized.

controlled by any of those parties. Related-party transactions are
conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Research and development: Expenditures for research are
charged directly against net income as incurred. Development costs
that meet the requirements for capitalization set forth in IAS 38 are
capitalized.
Taxes: Current-year income taxes are accrued based on the
current-year income reported locally by the individual Group companies. Wherever the tax basis differs from Group values, deferred
taxes are determined and recorded by applying currently effective
local tax rates to the differences (liability method). Deferred tax
assets resulting from negative differences are thereby capitalized
only to the extent that their realization through corresponding profits
is expected. To the extent that the offset of tax loss carry-forwards
against future earnings is deemed probable, these benefits are capitalized or netted against any positive valuation differences on an
individual company basis. Taxes payable on anticipated dividends
from subsidiaries are not material and are not accrued.
Financial instruments
In order to reduce foreign currency risks, the Group companies’
transactions are hedged on a centrally coordinated basis with commonly utilized financial instruments (see Derivative financial instruments: As a general rule, project business is hedged 100 percent;
serial business at least 50 percent). In addition, financial debts of
Group companies are denominated congruently in their own local
currencies. The Group centrally coordinates and optimizes the conditions of Group companies’ net liquidity/net debt through a cash
management program in the relevant CHF and EUR areas. Interest
rate risks are monitored by the Corporate Treasury and, on a caseby-case basis, hedged at the Group level. As a fundamental rule,
no speculative transactions are conducted in the foreign currency
or fixed-income/money market area. The credit or default risks
associated with commercial accounts receivable are monitored
decentrally by the individual Group companies (see Receivables).
Financial instruments are recorded in the balance sheet as of their
transaction date and are stated at their market values. An exception
applies to financial assets held to maturity as well as receivables
and credits generated by the Group, which are carried at cost. Gains
and losses arising from changes in the market values of “available
for sale” financial assets are recorded temporarily in shareholders’
equity, until such assets are sold or disposed of, at which time the
gains or losses are transferred to the income statement.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Change in Group companies

Note (1)

The following change in Group companies occurred during the year 2003:
With the sales of Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore (reported previously under the segment Others), the following
amounts were removed from the consolidation as of November 30, 2003:
Cash and cash equivalents

1

Receivables

1

Inventories

2

Property, plant and equipment

8

Assets

in CHF million

12

Payables

1

Accrued liabilities

1

Financial debt

1

Liabilities

2

Shareholders’ equity

10

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

12

The above-mentioned sold company is included in the consolidated income statement with sales of CHF 8 million
(prior year CHF 9 million) and EBIT of CHF 0.4 million (prior year CHF 0.3 million).
Additional information can be found in note 9.

Conversion rates

Note (2)

The following rates were used to convert the most important foreign currencies in the financial statements:
Average
rates

Change

Year-end
rates

Change

2003

2002

02/03

2003

2002

02/03

1 USD

1.35

1.56

–13.8%

1.24

1.39

–10.6%

1 EUR

1.52

1.47

3.5%

1.56

1.45

7.6%

1 GBP

2.20

2.33

–5.7%

2.21

2.22

–0.5%

100 JPY

1.16

1.24

–6.4%

1.16

1.17

–0.8%

100 CNY

16.30

18.83

–13.4%

15.00

16.78

–10.6%

100 HKD

17.30

19.96

–13.3%

16.00

17.79

–10.1%

1 SGD

0.772

0.869

–11.2%

0.729

0.800

–8.9%

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Impact of conversion rates on sales

Note (3)
Change from prior year
Effective
Excluding conversion impact

Semiconductor Equipment

Impact of
conversion
rates

8.2%

11.7%

–3.5%

71.6%

76.7%

–5.1%

Coating Services

3.0%

5.8%

–2.8%

Vacuum Solutions

–3.4%

–1.0%

–2.4%

Components and Special Systems

11.9%

14.7%

–2.8%

–87.5%

–85.0%

–2.5%

8.0%

11.2%

–3.1%

2003

2002

Semiconductor Equipment

29

31

Data Storage Solutions

13

13

1

1

43

45

Data Storage Solutions

Others
Total

Amortization of goodwill

Coating Services
Total

Note (4)
in CHF million

In the Semiconductor Equipment segment, the amortization relates to ESEC and Unaxis USA (Plasma-Therm) based on
a useful life of 15 years. The decrease of CHF 2 million is mainly due to a weaker US dollar. In the Data Storage
Solutions segment, goodwill arising from the acquisition of Nimbus, with an amortization of CHF 13 million this year, is
fully amortized.

Other operating income and expenses
2003

License, patent and know-how revenue

2002

1

0

Other operating income

22

24

Income

22

24

Taxes not based on income

–4

–5

Other operating expenses

–16

–17

Expenses

–20

–22

3

2

Total

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (5)
in CHF million

Expenses included in operating result (EBIT)
2003

2002

Salaries and wages

480

508

Social security and other employee benefits

115

126

Personnel expenses

595

634

94

103

Note (6)
in CHF million

Depreciation and amortization of
– operating property, plant and equipment
– intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
– goodwill for subsidiaries
Depreciation and amortization of operating assets

4

6

43

45

141

154

Of the total cost of social security and other employee benefits of CHF 115 million, CHF 22 million (prior year
CHF 20 million) relate to specific post-employment benefit plans of the individual companies. The remainder includes
the legally required retirement benefit contributions of Group companies as well as other social security expenses.

Impact of conversion rates on operating result (EBIT)

Note (7)
Change from prior year
Effective
Excluding conversion impact

Impact of
conversion
rates

Semiconductor Equipment

35

30

Data Storage Solutions

41

41

0

1

1

–1

Coating Services

5

Vacuum Solutions

10

10

–1

Components and Special Systems

19

18

1

Others

–7

–8

1

Total

99

94

5

2003

2002

Financial result
Interest on financial debt

–3

–4

–14

–14

Interest income

10

19

Net interest result

–7

0

Other financial expenses

–1

–1

1

1

Exchange gains / losses, net (incl. foreign currency derivatives
for booked /settled underlying transactions)

–1

–11

Other financial result

–1

–11

Total

–8

–11

Interest on provisions for unfunded post-employment benefit plans

Other financial income

in CHF million

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (8)
in CHF million
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Other result
2003

Rental income from non-operating real estate

2002

5

6

Expense of non-operating real estate

–3

–2

Depreciation of non-operating real estate

–1

–2

Result from sale of non-operating real estate

1

1

Result from non-operating real estate

3

3

Result from sale of operating real estate
Result from sale of activities and investments
Impairment of other investments*
Others**
Total

0

1

45

56

–1

–6

–11

–7

37

47

Note (9)
in CHF million

Result from sale of activities and investments
Gross sale proceeds for Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore
less Group share in equity

7
–10

less selling expenses and provisions for expenses to be incurred

–4

plus reversal of unused provisions recognized in 2002 related to the sale of
remaining Materials activities

17

Remaining result of the sale of the Material activities 2002/2003

10

plus reversal of unused provisions for guarantees related to the sale of
Bally, Large Area Coating and Leybold Optics in the years 1999, 2000 and 2001

35

Total result from sale

45

* The impairment of other investments of CHF 1 million (prior year CHF 6 million) relates to the 2.34% investment in
the Groupe Arianespace in both years.
** This includes certain expenses related to changes in the portfolio.

Income taxes
Current income taxes
Deferred taxes
Total

2003

2002

30

14

–13

–6

17

8

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (10)
in CHF million

Analysis of tax expense
2002

2003
Result
before taxes

Group total

45

Tax
expense

Result
before taxes

Tax
expense

–47

8

17

in CHF million

Tax expense based on weighted average
expected tax rate for 2003: 57.8% (2002: 25.5%)*

26

–12

Difference between actual and expected tax expense

–9

20

22

25

Deferred taxes on current year losses not capitalized
Inclusion of prior tax loss carry-forwards not capitalized
Loss correction of tax loss carry-forwards capitalized

–15

–8

7

17

Change in potential deferred tax assets not capitalized

–2

–3

Impact of changes in tax rates

–4

16

Subsequent taxes for prior periods (incl. credits)

6

–4

Non-recoverable withholding taxes

2

2

Non-deductible expenses

2

3

–28

–33

0

5

–9

20

Non-taxable income
Other items
Total tax expense in excess of / below expected tax expense

* Calculation of weighted average expected tax rates
2002

2003
Result
before taxes

Average
Expected
tax rate tax expense

Result
before taxes

Average
Expected
tax rate tax expense

Income on company basis

197

27.5%

54

158

24.1%

38

Losses on company basis

–148

18.3%

–28

–202

24.8%

–50

Income, net

49

53.1%

26

–44

27.3%

–12

Consolidating entries not
subject to taxes

–4

0.0%

0

–3

0.0%

0

Total

45

57.8%

26

–47

25.5%

–12

Cash and cash equivalents
2003

2002

Cash, postal and current bank accounts

303

237

Time deposits

409

490

Total

712

726

–14

–124

Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies

–1

–6

due to conversion differences

14

–14

Some CHF 28 million of total cash and cash equivalents are held in countries in which prior approval is required to
transfer funds abroad. Nevertheless, if the Group complies with these requirements, such liquid funds are available at
its disposition within a reasonable period.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

Note (11)
in CHF million
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Receivables
Trade accounts receivable

2003

2002

315

312

Trade notes receivable

19

15

Other receivables

44

46

Allowance for doubtful accounts

–21

–29

Total

357

345

Change against previous year

12

–77

due to changes in Group companies

–1

–12

1

–23

due to conversion differences

Inventories

Note (13)

2002

2003
Gross
value

Value
adjustment

Raw materials and components

111

–32

Work in process

124

–3

Finished goods

75

–24

Trade merchandise

36

–9

Gross
value

Value
adjustment

78

111

–35

76

121

106

–3

104

51

77

–27

50

27

33

–11

4

22

0

4

5

0

5

73

0

73

15

0

15

423

–68

355

348

–76

272

Advances for inventories
Accrued sales under percentage-ofcompletion method
Total

Note (12)
in CHF million

Net
value

Net
value

Change against previous year

83

–54

due to changes in Group companies

–2

–18

0

–16

due to conversion differences

in CHF million

Revenue is recognized based on the percentage-of-completion (POC) method for nine customer contracts in the
Semiconductor Equipment segment. As a whole, these projects are summarized as follows:

Invoices for POC contracts
– POC accruals as of January 1
+ POC accruals as of December 31
Sales recorded using the POC method
– Costs of POC sales recorded /accrued
– Expected losses recognized
Gross profit recognized on POC contracts
Project costs included in work in process as of January 1
Project costs incurred
Costs of POC sales recorded /accrued
Project costs included in work in process as of December 31
Advance payments received

2003

2002

22

0

–15

0

73

15

79

15

–62

–11

0

0

18

5

5

0

62

16

–62

–11

5

5

55

2

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
2003

2002

Derivative financial instruments (IAS 39)

21

12

Other prepaid expenses and accrued income

18

20

Total

39

31

Change against previous year

8

1

due to changes in Group companies

0

0

due to conversion differences

0

–2

Note (14)
in CHF million

Gains on derivatives which qualify as hedges of future cash flows have been recognized directly in equity, in accordance with hedge accounting as per IAS 39 (refer to the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity).

Other investments
2003

2002

Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG, Stans (10%)

19

19

Inficon Holding AG, East Syracuse, USA (19.5%)

47

30

0

1

66

50

Others
Total
Change against previous year

16

–45

due to changes in Group companies

0

0

due to conversion differences

0

0

The increase of value of the Inficon shares at CHF 17 million has been credited to shareholders’ equity without impacting net income in accordance with the accounting principles applied under IAS 39 (see also changes in shareholders’
equity).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (15)
in CHF million
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Property, plant and equipment

Note (16)
Plant,
Production
equipment and adminisand furniture
tration
buildings

Developed
land

Advances
and assets
under construction

Non-operating
real estate
designated
for sale

Investment
properties
(IAS 40)

69

0

Total

in CHF million

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2003

857

412

34

13

7

5

1

1

–7

–7

Additions

54

1

Disposals

–33

Transfers

15

–4

892

406

557

188

6

4

Changes in Group companies

–4

–1

Depreciation

83

11

Conversion differences
Changes in Group companies

Balance at December 31, 2003

1 384
13
–13

41

96
–2

–35

–13

2

–1

35

42

69

0

1 444

0

0

41

0

787

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2003
Conversion differences

10
–6
1

96

–2

–33

1

–1

Impairment losses

0

Disposals

–31

Transfers

0

–2

Balance at December 31, 2003

611

200

0

0

42

0

853

Net Group values at December 31, 2002

299

224

34

13

27

0

597

Net Group values at December 31, 2003

281

206

35

42

27

0

591

757

414

35

160

Including assets held under finance leases
Insured values in the event of fire

27

27
1 365

Commitments under outstanding orders for capital expenditures amounted to CHF 2 million at the end of 2002 (prior
year CHF 5 million).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Intangible assets

Note (17)
Purchased goodwill on
parts of
Group
operations
companies

Purchased
software

Purchased
other
intangible
assets

Internally
generated
intangible
assets

Total

4

0

696

in CHF million

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2003

1

657

34

Conversion differences

0

–18

1

–17

Additions

2

2

Disposals

–6

–6

Transfers

1

1

Changes in Group companies

Balance at December 31, 2003

0

0

639

31

4

0

674

Balance at January 1, 2003

1

321

26

3

0

351

Conversion differences

0

–5

1

–4

43

4

47

Disposals

–6

–6

Transfers

1

1

Accumulated amortization and
impairment losses

Changes in Group companies

0

Amortization
Impairment losses

0

Balance at December 31, 2003

0

359

25

3

0

388

Net Group values at December 31, 2002

0

336

8

0

0

345

Net Group values at December 31, 2003

0

280

6

0

0

287

Of the total reported goodwill of CHF 280 million, CHF 274 million relates to the Semiconductor Equipment segment
and CHF 6 million to the Coating Services segment (see also note 4).

Post-employment benefit assets
Total
Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies
due to conversion differences

2003

2002

30

37

–7

–6

0

0

–3

–5

2003

2002

76

80

–4

0

Note (18)
in CHF million

Refer to note 26 for detailed pension plan information.

Deferred tax assets
Total
Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies
due to conversion differences

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
resulting from tax loss carry-forwards
of CHF 546 million (prior year CHF 575 million)
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
resulting from potential taxable differences
of CHF 21 million (prior year CHF 25 million)

0

0

–2

–6

159

159

4

5

The composition of deferred taxes is set out in note 27.
All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (19)
in CHF million
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Tax loss carry-forwards expire as follows:
CHF

8 million in 1 year

CHF

4 million in 2 years

CHF

2 million in 3 years

CHF

20 million in 4 years

CHF

132 million in 5 years

CHF

510 million beyond 5 years

CHF

676 million total tax loss carry-forwards

CHF

129 million of which capitalized

CHF

546 million not capitalized

Assets pledged /otherwise restricted
2003

2002

Property, plant and equipment

27

30

Total

27

30

Note (20)
in CHF million

The CHF 27 million included in property, plant and equipment relates to assets held under finance leases whose titles
are restricted.

Payables
Trade accounts payable
Trade notes payable
Other payables
Total
Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies
due to conversion differences

2003

2002

96

80

3

3

30

38

129

122

7

–31

–1

–2

2

–6

2003

2002

Accrued liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (IAS 39)

2

1

Accrued personnel costs

71

48

Accrued cost of sales

41

24

Other accrued liabilities

74

67

188

139

Total
Change against previous year

49

–9

due to changes in Group companies

–1

–2

0

–5

due to conversion differences

Losses on derivatives which qualify as hedges of future cash flows have been recognized directly in equity, in accordance with hedge accounting as per IAS 39 (refer to the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (21)
in CHF million

Note (22)
in CHF million

Customer advances

Note (23)

2003

Total
Change against previous year

133

within
1 year

Due
1 to
5 years

99

34

Secured

2002

beyond
5 years

in CHF million

87
–42

46

due to changes in Group companies

0

0

due to conversion differences

0

–2

Financial debt /net liquidity

Note (24)

2003
within
1 year

Current bank accounts
Loans payable
Mortgages payable
Finance lease obligations*
Total financial debt
– less cash and cash equivalents
Net liquidity
Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies

Due
1 to
5 years

Secured
beyond
5 years

2002
in CHF million

6

6

11

5

4

2

11

12

1

4

7

12

30

13

8

9

12

12
3

0

14
40

–712

–726

682

686

–4

–82

0

7

due to conversion differences

14

–7

* Future finance lease payments

18

2

7

9

21

6

1

3

2

7

– thereof financial costs

Reflecting their actual economic nature, mortgages not yet canceled are treated as long-term debt. 81 percent
of total financial debt is denominated in euros, 7 percent in Korean won and Polish zloty, respectively 2 percent in
US dollars and Taiwanese dollars, respectively and 1 percent in Japanese yen. 99 percent of total financial debt is
owed to banks, while 54 percent is subject to floating interest rates. As an average taken over all currencies, financial debts resulted in interest charges of 5.6 percent (prior year 5.0 percent).

Current income tax provisions

Note (25)

2003
within
1 year

Total

26

Change against previous year

11

Due
beyond
1 year

26

2002
in CHF million

15
–32

due to changes in Group companies

0

0

due to conversion differences

0

–1

Post-employment benefit provisions

Note (26)

2002

within
1 year

Due
beyond
1 year

5

251

246

2003

Total
Change against previous year
due to changes in Group companies
due to conversion differences

256

in CHF million

10

–2

0

–3

17

–6

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.
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Post-employment benefit provisions are related to the following plans:
Summary of post-employment benefit plans
2002

2003
Total

Funded plans

Defined
Defined
benefit contribution
plan
plan

Total

Defined
benefit
plan

Defined
contribution
plan

25

12

13

25

13

12

7

7

0

8

8

0

Active participants

5 585

5 322

815

5 977

5 436

654

Retirees

2 066

2 064

2

1 962

1 962

0

Post-employment benefit cost (operating)

22

20

2

20

18

1

Post-employment benefit cost (financial)

15

15

0

13

13

0

Post-employment benefit cost, total

37

35

2

33

32

1

Post-employment benefit provisions

256

256

0

246

239

6

30

30

0

37

37

0

Total

Funded

Unfunded

Total

Funded

Unfunded

Unfunded plans

Post-employment benefit assets

in CHF million

Number of plans

Number of
persons covered

in CHF million

Defined benefit plans
2002

2003

Plan assets at market values

468

468

0

455

455

0

Present benefit obligation (PBO)

–712

–471

–241

–688

–462

–226

Assets in excess of / below PBO

–244

–2

–241

–233

–7

–226

Post-employment benefit provisions

256

9

246

239

9

231

Post-employment benefit assets

–30

–30

0

–37

–37

0

Unrecognized gains / losses

–18

–23

5

–30

–35

5

–18

–23

5

–30

–35

5

0

0

0

0

0

0

2003

2002

Current service cost after deduction of employee contributions

22

20

+ interest cost of post-employment benefit obligations

33

34

–22

–23

+ amortization of past service costs

0

0

+ amortization of actuarial gains / losses

1

1

Total

34

32

Actual return on plan assets (loss)

37

–23

– Value of fixed assets used by Group companies

0

0

– Receivables from Group companies

3

0

in CHF million

of which:
– actuarial gains / losses
– past service costs

Post-employment benefit cost from defined benefit plans

– expected return on plan assets

Assets:

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million
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Actuarial assumptions
2003

2002

Discount rate

4.7%

4.9%

Salary progression

2.7%

2.9%

Benefit progression

1.1%

1.4%

Return on plan assets

4.8%

5.0%

Due
beyond
1 year

2002

42

53

(weighted average rates)

Deferred tax provisions

Note (27)

2003
within
1 year

Total

42

Change against previous year

in CHF million

–11

–2

due to changes in Group companies

0

0

due to conversion differences

0

0

Composition of deferred taxes
(including deferred tax assets, see note 19)
2002

2003
Total
taxable
differences

Potential
deferred
tax asset

Total
taxable
differences

Potential
deferred
tax asset

Deferred
tax liability

Deferred
tax liability

Trade accounts receivable

–2

2

Other receivables and accruals

14

1

1

–3

3

1

4

13

1

Inventories

95

3

7

22

37

6

10

Post-employment benefit assets

30

0

10

37

0

13

Financial assets

30

0

5

149

0

16

Property, plant and equipment

60

14

40

73

10

41

Intangible assets

–49

8

0

–63

19

2

Assets

177

33

83

242

40

87
0

Trade account payable

0

0

0

–2

0

Other current and long-term liabilities

–93

21

2

–49

16

3

Financial debt

–11

4

0

–14

5

0

Provisions

–29

29

3

–63

25

0

Liabilities

–132

54

6

–128

47

4

Subtotal
Netting within each company

Thereof potential deferred tax assets
not recognized
Tax loss carry-forwards recognized
Netting via tax entities and others
Net total
Thereof deferred taxes
recognized directly as equity (IAS 39)

45

87

89

114

88

91

0

–28

–28

0

–20

–20

45

59

60

114

68

71

0

21

–4

0

25

–5

–129

40

0

–124

36

0

0

–19

–19

–18

–18

n/a

76

42

n/a

80

53

59

0

6

33

0

4

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million
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Other provisions

Note (28)

2003
within
1 year

Total

96

187

Change against previous year

Due
beyond
1 year

2002

91

269

in CHF million

–82

–123

due to changes in Group companies

0

–5

due to conversion differences

4

–6

Product
warranties

Balance at January 1, 2003
Conversion differences

32

Provisions charged against EBIT
Product
Onerous
Long-term
Restrucliability
contracts
employee
turing
benefits

3

0

Provisions
Others not charged
against
EBIT

Total
in CHF million

11

34

38

150

269

1

1

1

1

1

4

–14

–4

–13

–14

–8

–53

–12

–9

–49

–77

3

5

4

37

Changes in Group companies
Amounts used

0

Amounts reversed

–6

Additions

19

Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2003

5
1

32

4

12
0

–7

25

12

15

2

12

6
99

187

13

40

96

2

59

91

Of which:
due within 1 year
due beyond 1 year

29
3

4

23

The non-EBIT-related provisions mainly serve to cover identifiable risks associated with divestitures of subsidiaries during the past years. The reclassification of CHF 6 million pertains to a provision for early retirement benefits, which, in
order to more appropriately break down the “Post-employment benefit provisions” reflected in note 26 (see 2002:
Defined benefit plans), has been reallocated to “Provision for long-term employee benefits.”

Contingent liabilities
2003

2002

Performance guarantees /guarantees of debt

1

0

Collateral securities

5

6

Discounted notes receivable

2

2

Total

7

8

Various legal proceedings and claims against Unaxis and its subsidiary companies are pending. In the opinion of management and according to the latest available information, the amounts required to settle such complaints and claims
will have no materially negative impact on the consolidated financial statements and commercial activities of Unaxis.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (29)
in CHF million

Payments under non-cancelable leases
2003

2002

Due in 1st year

12

19

Due in 2nd year

11

15

Due in 3rd year

10

12

Due in 4th year

8

10

Due in or beyond 5th year

21

25

Total

62

81

Financial instruments

Note (31)

2002

2003

Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives
Total

Note (30)
in CHF million

Contract
amounts

Market
value
positive

2

269

11

1

0

169

0

0

437

12

1

Contract
amounts

Market
value
positive

Market
value
negative

381

21

0

0

381

21

2

Market
value
negative

in CHF million

Based on the business activities, the following main currencies are hedged: US dollar, euro and Japanese yen. Positive
and negative deviations from market values of currency derivatives (included in the balance sheet according to IAS 39,
see notes 14 and 22) are offset by the corresponding gain or loss on the underlying hedged transactions. The maximum
risk of counterparty non-performance is equal to the positive deviation from market value. In view of the reputation of
the counterparties, this risk is deemed to be minimal.
Of the reported net market value of CHF 19 million, CHF 8 million have been booked directly to shareholders’ equity
with no effect on the income statement, and CHF 11 million have been recorded in the income statement (see also
changes in shareholders’ equity and note 8).
Group strategy to reduce risk and the valuation principles applied to the individual positions are described under the
accounting principles. Amounts shown in the balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables,
as well as for loans receivable and short-term financial debts approximate market values. Risks associated with interest rate changes on financial debt can be assessed from the information in note 24.

Unaxis participation plans
The following plans are in existence, pursuant to which the holder is entitled to purchase one share of Unaxis Holding
Inc. for each option he or she owns:
– Since 1998, members of the Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding Inc. receive a portion of their compensation by
means of a stock option plan (exercise period: 3 to 4 years).
– As a long-term bonus, members of the Executive Board and senior management may receive a portion of their performance-related compensation in the form of options on Unaxis Holding Inc. shares (exercise period: 4 or, as the
case may be, 7 years). For personnel who are still under the employ of the Company, shares acquired through the
exercise of options are restricted as to sale for a predetermined period of 2, 3 or 4 years.
– Members of the Executive Board and senior management receive options – also as a long-term bonus – if they
choose to receive their short-term bonus entirely or, as the case may be, partially in the form of Unaxis Holding Inc.
shares at current market value. Such shares are restricted as to sale for a period of 3 years. For each acquired share,
the holder is granted one option at no cost. The options expire after 7 years with the right to exercise such options
fully vested after 2 or 3 years.
– The Board of Directors may grant options to employees at any organizational level pursuant to the “Discretionary
Option Plan,” this with the aim of recognizing outstanding performance as well as strengthening the given
employee’s bond with Unaxis.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (32)
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As at December 31, 2003, the following outstanding options had been issued under these plans:
Board of Directors
Allotment

Options
issued

Exercised

Expired

Changes

–13 264

Options
outstanding

Exercise
price
in CHF

from

Exercise period
to

–

650

5/5/2003

5/5/2003

2000

13 264

2001

9 118

9 118

400

5/28/2004

5/30/2005

2002

11 246

11 246

225

5/12/2004

5/12/2006

2003

18 526

18 526

123

5/22/2005

5/22/2007

The options issued in 2000 to members of the Board of Directors at an exercise price of CHF 650 expired worthless in
May 2003.
Employees
Allotment

2000

2001

2002

2003

Options
issued

Exercised

Expired

Changes

Options
outstanding

Exercise
price
in CHF

from

Exercise period
to

6 113

–6 113

–

650

5/5/2003

5/5/2003

19 245

–1 280

17 965

650

5/5/2003

5/4/2004

5 538

400

5/28/2004

5/30/2005

8 021

5 538
–1 807

6 214

315

5/28/2003

5/28/2008

8 034

–1 808

6 226

315

5/28/2004

5/28/2008

7 226

225

5/12/2004

5/12/2006

17 271

–3 553

13 718

189.5

5/13/2004

5/13/2009

17 302

–3 556

13 746

189.5

5/13/2005

5/13/2009

7 226

40 760

40 760

110

5/23/2005

5/23/2010

35 789

35 789

110

5/23/2006

5/23/2010
5/23/2010

5 000

5 000

110

5/23/2007

10 000

10 000

82.05

3/3/2005

3/3/2010

5 000

5 000

82.05

3/3/2006

3/3/2010

5 000

5 000

82.05

3/3/2007

3/3/2010

The potential obligation to issue shares versus outstanding options is covered exclusively through purchases of
Unaxis Holding Inc. shares in the open market (see also note 15 to the annual financial statements of Unaxis
Holding Inc.). The social security contributions associated with disposal of such options are recorded as personnel
expense.
In addition, a stock purchase plan is available for Group personnel, according to which employees were able to acquire
in May 2003 shares of Unaxis Holding Inc. at preferential conditions (30 percent discount). 453 employees took advantage of this opportunity and subscribed shares for a total of CHF 3 228 280. The reduction in the purchase price
amounted to CHF 968 484, and the related amount was booked as personnel expense. These shares are restricted as
to sale for a period of 2 years.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Related parties

Note (33)

There were no significant transactions with related parties during 2003. Details of compensation received by the Board
of Directors and the Executive Board: see pages 74 to 75 Participation plans: see note 32.

Transactions pending at the balance sheet date

Note (34)

The merger of ESEC with Unaxis Holding Inc. approved by ESEC shareholders on October 7, 2003, has yet to be consummated due to a pending legal complaint lodged by a significant minority shareholder of ESEC. As a result, the
merger has not been reflected in the year-end 2003 financial statements of Unaxis.

Events after the balance sheet date
No events occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would have a significant impact on these financial statements.

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Note (35)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION 2002–2003*
Semiconductor Equipment

Data Storage Solutions

Coating Services

2003

2002

2003

2002

2003

2002

Orders received

562

406

293

184

315

305

Orders on hand

267

129

52

53

0

0

420

388

293

171

315

306

4

28

3

15

0

0

424

417

297

186

315

306

Sales
Sales to third parties
Sales to Group companies

Sales by region
Japan and Asia / Pacific

273

233

239

93

36

29

Europe

94

73

37

43

212

204

America

51

77

17

33

67

73

2

6

0

2

0

0

420

388

293

171

315

306

Other areas

Sales by location
Japan and Asia / Pacific
Europe
North America
Other areas

37

63

56

45

31

25

330

250

222

97

212

204

53

75

16

29

54

63

0

0

0

0

18

14

420

388

293

171

315

306

Capital expenditures in property,
plant, equipment and intangible assets
Japan and Asia / Pacific

0

0

0

0

7

1

20

14

3

2

21

17

North America

0

2

0

0

4

5

Other areas

0

0

0

0

5

1

20

17

3

2

36

24

Europe

Number of employees
Japan and Asia / Pacific
Europe
North America
Other areas

158

154

66

69

233

190

1 328

1 278

388

386

1 226

1 211

189

204

19

19

272

276

0

0

0

0

194

161

1 674

1 636

473

474

1 925

1 837

Assets (only third parties)
Japan and Asia / Pacific

21

30

16

16

39

37

Europe

515

449

134

96

190

178

North America

166

195

4

9

29

35

0

0

0

0

14

10

702

675

153

122

272

260

Liabilities (only third parties)

172

109

57

33

64

62

Net assets (only third parties)**

529

565

96

89

208

198

Assets including intercompany relations

703

674

154

122

272

260

Liabilities including intercompany relations

173

111

58

34

64

63

Net assets including intercompany relations**

530

563

96

88

208

197

87

91

17

12

13

11

Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

–47

–82

56

15

83

82

Depreciation and amortization

–51

–51

–19

–19

–40

–41

Operating result (EBIT)

–98

–133

37

–4

43

42

Other areas

Research and development

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

Vacuum Solutions

Components and
Special Systems

Others

2003

2002

2003

2002

2003

2002

365

352

243

181

9

51

31

205

193

345

358

228

11

7

0

356

364

228

Elimination

2003

2002

66

1 788

1 494

0

3

575

409

204

8

64

1 610

1 490

0

0

12

–18

–63

0

0

204

8

76

–18

–63

1 610

1 490

2003

2002

Total

62

60

38

27

7

20

655

461

195

200

135

131

1

31

674

682

80

95

55

46

0

12

271

336

8

2

0

0

0

1

10

10

345

358

228

204

8

64

1 610

1 490

58

55

17

10

8

16

208

214

223

225

165

155

0

44

1 151

975

64

78

46

39

0

3

233

287

0

0

0

0

0

0

18

14

345

358

228

204

8

64

1 610

1 490

3

1

1

5

0

0

11

8

7

6

4

9

20

12

76

60

2

0

1

1

0

0

7

8

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

1

12

6

6

15

21

13

98

77

162

147

92

77

0

34

711

671

1 220

1 182

639

630

65

334

4 865

5 020

110

116

93

74

3

3

686

692

0

0

0

0

0

0

194

161

1 492

1 445

824

781

68

371

6 456

6 544

30

26

17

13

0

12

123

134

137

116

110

102

88

159

1 173

1 101

35

37

23

14

0

0

257

291

0

0

0

0

0

0

14

10

202

179

151

129

88

171

1 567

1 536

90

77

130

126

23

54

535

461

112

103

21

3

65

118

1 032

1 075

205

182

151

130

89

175

–6

–7

1 567

1 536

91

79

130

126

25

56

–6

–7

535

461

114

104

21

4

64

119

0

0

1 032

1 075

27

25

11

17

0

1

154

157

20

11

45

24

–1

21

0

0

157

71

–9

–9

–17

–16

–4

–19

0

0

–141

–154

11

1

28

8

–5

3

0

0

16

–83

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million

* As of January 1, 2004,
Unaxis will conduct its
business in keeping with
the segment structure
reflected already
in this annual report.
Prior-year figures were
adjusted to reflect this
new structure.

** Net assets include all
operating current and
non-current assets (excluding cash and cash
equivalents and financial
assets), less operating liabilities (excluding financial
debts, provisions for
post-employment benefits
and for taxes and other
provisions not charged
against operating result).
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COMPANIES BY COUNTRY

Country

Activity Name, registered office

Share capital in
local currency*

Group
owns %

Number of
employees

President

Zechner, Johann

Austria

■ ▲ Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg

EUR 350

100

24

Belgium

■ ▲ SA Balzers NV, St. Truiden

EUR 620

100

49

Boghe, Willy

Brazil

■ ▲ Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí SP

BRL 2 842

93

86

Campos, Walter

6

Loh, Benjamin

China

▲ Unaxis Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong

HKD 1 800

■ ▲ Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai

CNY 99 321

▲ ESEC Semiconductor (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai
▲ ESEC (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong
■ ▲ Leybold Vacuum Equipment Manufacturing Co. Ltd.,
Tianjin
▲ Leybold Vacuum (Tianjin) Int. Trade Co. Ltd., Tianjin
■ ▲ Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou
● Unaxis France Holding SAS, St-Thibault des Vignes

France

▲ ◆ Unaxis France SA, Palaiseau
■ ▲ Balzers SAS, St-Thibault des Vignes
■ ▲ ◆ Leybold Vacuum France SA, Courtabœuf Cedex
▲ Unaxis Deutschland Vertriebs GmbH,
Aschheim (Munich)

Germany

■ ▲ ◆ Unaxis Optics Deutschland GmbH, Geisenheim
■ ▲ Balzers Verschleissschutz GmbH, Bingen
● Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH,
Aschheim (Munich)
■ ▲ Leybold Vakuum Dresden GmbH, Dresden
■ ▲ ◆ Leybold Vakuum GmbH, Cologne

4

Meier, Bruno

CNY 17 022

99.5

42

Ng, Damian

CNY 1 656

99.5

33

Ng, Damian

CNY 3 569

100

5

Cai, Jane

EUR 4 000

100

0

Babacan, Thomas

EUR 762

100

63

Boomsma, Ruurd

EUR 7 108

100

239

Schulz, Hans

187

Schaefer, Ingo
Babacan, Thomas

EUR 3 095
EUR 26

99.5

35

EUR 5 150

99.5

59

Enders, Peter

EUR 511

99.5

348

Braendle, Hans

EUR 30 682

99.5

7

Babacan, Thomas

EUR 100

99.5

57

Grossmann, Frank

EUR 20

99.5

0

Babacan, Thomas
(as of 2/16/2004)

EUR 25

99.5

GBP 2 000

100

GBP 1

100

▲ Leybold Vacuum UK Ltd., London

GBP 300

■ ▲ Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhosari/Pune

INR 48 118

100

EUR 0
EUR 130
EUR 1 041

99.5

832 Mattern-Klosson, Monika

56

Haupt, Rainer

60

Stokley, Peter J.

42

Taylor, Paul

30

Ball, Chris

71

Keskar, Ramesh V.

100

7

Babacan, Thomas

100

74

Gullo, Giancarlo

14

Barni, Emanuela

99.5

■ ▲ Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka

JPY 100

100

80

Schmalz, Andreas

▲ ◆ Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo

JPY 450

100

60

Fujii, Hirohide
(as of 4/1/2004)

■ ▲ ◆ ● Unaxis Balzers AG, Balzers
● Balzers AG, Balzers
■ ▲ Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange
▲ ESEC (Asia Pacific) Pte. Ltd. (Branch), Penang
■ ▲ Balzers SA de CV, Queretaro

JPY 50

56.8

1

Thenu, Marcel

JPY 450

99.5

40

Schaedlich, Christian

CHF 75 000

100

959

Haelg, Bruno

CHF 100

100

258

Schulz, Hans

EUR 1 000
MYR 0

Boghe, Willy
Wismer, Marcel

100

37

Cheynet, Loic

100

17

Babacan, Thomas

99.5

11

Piaschinski, Georg

56.8

18

Thenu, Marcel

14

Danis, Marek

▲ Leybold Vacuum Nederland BV (Branch), Utrecht

EUR 1 361

Philippines

▲ ESEC (Philippines) Inc., Manila

PHP 5 250

* JPY and KRW in million, all other currencies in thousand

8
9

EUR 37

▲ Unaxis Nederland BV, Utrecht

■ ▲ Balzers S.p.z.o.o., Polkowice Dolne

60
56.8

MXP 37 970

The Netherlands

Poland

99.5

● Balzers und Leybold VermietungsVerwaltungs GmbH, Cologne

▲ Leybold Vacuum Japan Co. Ltd., Yokohama

Mexico

56.8

Babacan, Thomas
(as of 2/16/2004)

▲ ESEC (Japan) KK, Tokyo

Malaysia

HKD 10

7

▲ Unaxis Italia (Branch), Arluno/Milan

Luxembourg

Chen, Yung-Shen
(as of 2/1/2004)

99.5

▲ Leybold Vacuum Italia SpA, Milan

Liechtenstein

19

EUR 50

■ ▲ Balzers SpA, Brugherio
Japan

56.8

99.5

■ ▲ ◆ Unaxis Nimbus Ltd., Monmouth

Italy

Loh, Benjamin

USD 200

EUR 1 200

● perfectit! GmbH, Cologne

India

114

● Balzers und Leybold Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Cologne

■ ▲ Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes

Great Britain

99.5
100

PLZ 5 000

100

Country

Activity Name, registered office

■ ▲ Unaxis IT Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Singapore

■ ▲ Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd., Singapore

SGD 250

100

14

Han, Chih Heng

SGD 6 000

100

37

Vogel, Christian

7

Mc Grail, Peter

● ESEC Industries (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Singapore

SGD 100

56.8

0

Wismer, Marcel

SGD 15 000

56.8

64

Wismer, Marcel

■ ▲ Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Kyongsan

KRW 2 000

89.9

111

Gim, Jong-Seong

▲ ◆ Unaxis Korea Ltd., Sungnam, Kyungki-Do

KRW 1 050

20

Kim, Brian
(as of 3/1/2004)

KRW 1 250

56.8

15

Meier, Felix (a. i.)

▲ Leybold Vacuum Korea Ltd., Seoul

KRW 7 080

99.5

17

Schaedlich, Christian

▲ Leybold Vacuum Scandinavia AB, Gothenburg
■ ▲ Balzers Revêtements SA, Brügg (Biel)
◆ Unaxis SPTec Ltd., Neuenburg
■ ▲ ◆ Mecanovis Ltd., Trübbach
● ESEC Holding Ltd., Steinhausen
● ESEC Management Ltd., Steinhausen
▲ ◆ ESEC SA, Steinhausen
● ESEC Trading Ltd., Steinhausen
◆ ESEC (Europe) Ltd., Steinhausen
▲ Leybold Vakuum Schweiz AG, Zurich
● Unaxis Holding Inc., Pfäffikon SZ
● Unaxis Management Inc., Pfäffikon SZ
● Kunz Spinning Mills Ltd., Windisch
■ ▲ ◆ ● Contraves Space Ltd., Zurich
● Unaxis Trading Ltd., Trübbach
▲ Unaxis Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu

Taiwan

▲ ESEC Pacific North (Taiwan) Ltd., Hsin Chu
▲ Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu
● Unaxis USA Holding Inc., New York, NY

USA

■ ▲ ◆ Unaxis USA Inc., St. Petersburg, FL
■ ▲ Unaxis Optics USA Inc., Golden, CO
▲ ESEC (USA) Inc., Tempe/Phoenix, AZ
■ ▲ Balzers Inc., Amherst, NY
■ ▲ ◆ Leybold Vacuum USA Inc., Export, PA
● Contraves Inc., East Pittsburgh, PA

■

Production

▲

Distribution

◆

Research, development

●

Services, Holding

100

▲ ESEC Korea Ltd., Seoul

■ ▲ Balzers Sandvik Coating AB, Stockholm

Switzerland

President

99.5

▲ Leybold Vacuum Spain SA, Sant Feliu de Llobregat
Sweden

Number of
employees

SGD 300

■ ▲ Balzers-ELAY SA, Antzuola

Spain

Group
owns %

▲ Leybold Vacuum Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore
■ ▲ ESEC (Asia Pacific) Pte., Ltd., Singapore
South Korea

Share capital in
local currency*

EUR 150

51

57

Biana, Alberto

EUR 168

99.5

12

Beck, Wolfgang

51

56

Hansson, Göran

99.5

11

Ball, Chris

25

Dosch, Vincens

SEK 11 600
SEK 800
CHF 2 000

100

CHF 100

100

9

Koller, Albert

CHF 3 000

100

232

Weilenmann, Thomas

CHF 20 480

56.8

0

Raghavan, Asuri

CHF 250

56.8

22

Casata, Thomas

CHF 2 400

56.8

411

Casata, Thomas

CHF 250

56.8

10

Casata, Thomas

CHF 50

56.8

22

Meier, Felix

CHF 300

99.5

9

Beck, Wolfgang

CHF 263 402

100

0

Kundert, Heinz

CHF 2 000

100

51

Baumgartner, Beat

CHF 10 000

100

0

Weilenmann, Renato

CHF 15 000

100

314

Somaini, Umberto

CHF 8 000

100

0

Haefeli, Erich

TWD 20 000

100

102

Chen, Hong-Ji

TWD 5 000
TWD 20 000

56.8
100

21

Chiang, Aaron

23

Schaedlich, Christian
Druggs, Merrill

USD 24 280

99.8

3

USD 14 730

99.8

208

Barry, Ken

USD 1

99.8

93

Cusick, Mike

USD 7 000

56.8

17

Lippincott, Joe

USD 20

99.8

272

Connell, Kent

USD 1 375

99.8

110

Pellegrino, Dennis

USD 500

99.8

0

Druggs, Merril
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REPORT OF THE GROUP AUDITORS

To the General Meeting of Unaxis Holding Inc., Pfäffikon
As Group auditors we have audited the consolidated financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement,
statement of changes in equity and notes, pages 86 through 113) of
Unaxis Holding Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
prior year corresponding figures were audited by other group auditors.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of
Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that
we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards
promulgated by the Swiss profession and with International
Standards on Auditing (ISA), which require that an audit be planned
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant
estimates made and the overall consolidated financial statements
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position, the result of operations and the
cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), and comply with Swiss law.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.
KPMG Fides Peat
Erik F. J. Willems

Herbert Bussmann

Dutch Certified Public Accountant

Certified Public Accountant

(Auditor in charge)
Zurich, March 4, 2004

KEY FIGURES 1999–2003

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

Orders received

1 788

1 494

1 572

3 732

3 153

Sales

1 610

1 490

2 127

3 285

2 891

Operating result (EBIT)

16

–83

–211

314

80

Financial result

–8

–11

0

–23

–18

37

47

297

330

–38

–17

–8

–33

–87

–18

Other result
Income taxes
Minority interests in net income

5

16

58

–23

–1

32

–39

111

511

5

Personnel expenses

595

634

775

882

954

Research and development

154

157

208

219

188

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

96

104

120

114

130

Amortization of intangible assets

47

52

73

45

13

0

0

200

0

0

Current assets*

1 466

1 376

1 628

2 072

1 744

Non-current assets*

1 085

1 149

1 388

1 636

1 256

Current liabilities

556

441

832

1 305

1 232

Non-current liabilities

435

530

422

734

722

72

79

95

165

13

Shareholders’ equity

1 488

1 476

1 667

1 504

1 033

Total assets

2 550

2 525

3 016

3 708

3 000

Inventories

355

272

326

714

623

Property, plant and equipment

591

597

683

759

761

Net assets**

1 032

1 075

1 202

1 761

1 015

Net liquidity

682

686

768

174

206

Net funds from operations

88

–41

264

486

60

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment

96

74

186

191

169

Above excl. Oerlikon-Bührle Immobilien

96

74

186

191

138

Capital expenditure in intangible assets

2

3

46

436

188

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment

4

10

90

40

68

Above excl. Oerlikon-Bührle Immobilien

4

10

90

40

62

Net income /(loss)

Impairment losses on goodwill

Minority interests

Number of consolidated Group companies

81

89

95

113

77

Number of employees at year-end

6 456

6 544

7 241

9 154

8 366

Average number of employees

6 500

6 892

8 197

8 760

11 054

247 620

216 132

259 500

375 000

261 500

1.5%

–7.7%

–17.6%

17.8%

7.9%

Non-current assets as % of total assets

42.5%

44.0%

44.6%

43.1%

40.9%

Shareholders’ equity ratio

58.3%

58.4%

55.3%

40.5%

34.4%

Sales per employee in CHF
Operating result as % of net assets (RONA)

* Prior years’ figures adjusted to reflect new classification.
** Net assets include all operating current and non-current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial assets), less operating liabilities (excluding
financial debts, provisions for post-employment benefits and for taxes and other provisions not charged against operating result).

All amounts have been systematically rounded. Therefore, adding the individual amounts may result in rounding differences.

in CHF million
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INCOME STATEMENT OF UNAXIS HOLDING INC.

Notes

2003

2002

Income from investments in subsidiaries

2

333 137 783

38 313 120

Financial income

3

38 806 329

31 847 696

3 248 367

2 640 040

375 192 479

72 800 856

Other income

Financial expense

–27 939 574

–33 841 934

Other expense

–21 963 878

–22 855 647

Ordinary income

325 289 027

16 103 275

4

Gain on sales of subsidiaries

5

27 400 000

72 129 162

Value adjustments on loans to and investments in subsidiaries

6

–16 201 745

–108 537 255

336 487 282

–20 304 818

Net income

in CHF

BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31
OF UNAXIS HOLDING INC.
Notes

2003

%

2002

%

Cash and cash equivalents

7

529 680 137

37.0

532 503 901

36.5

Marketable securities

8

38 632 600

2.7

19 735 800

1.4

– from third parties

1 560 807

0.1

1 519 747

0.1

– from affiliated companies

3 700 395

0.3

11 251 073

0.8

Prepaid expenses

1 993 530

0.1

4 513 000

0.3

575 567 469

40.2

569 523 520

39.0

Assets
in CHF

Current assets

Receivables

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

9

480 512 003

33.6

476 562 003

32.6

Loans to affiliated companies

10

352 181 530

24.6

381 771 865

26.1

Loans to third parties

11

23 496 066

1.6

32 248 810

2.2

856 189 599

59.8

890 582 678

61.0

1 431 757 068

100.0

1 460 106 198

100.0

Liabilities

Liabilities and
shareholders’ equity
in CHF

Current payables
– to third parties

–

Accrued liabilities

244 000

0.0

3 385

0.0

1 271 000

0.1

Short-term deposits from
affiliated companies

12

105 646 173

7.4

402 066 735

27.5

Provisions

13

201 096 632

14.0

242 640 134

16.6

306 986 805

21.4

645 981 253

44.2

18.0

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

263 401 840

18.4

263 401 840

Legal reserve

133 478 129

9.3

130 869 587

9.0

Free reserve

345 000 000

24.1

360 000 000

24.7

44 041 871

3.1

46 650 413

3.2

Reserve for treasury shares

14

15

Retained earnings
– Balance carried forward
– Net income /(loss)
16

Contingent liabilities

17

2 361 141

0.2

33 507 923

2.3

336 487 282

23.5

–20 304 818

–1.4

1 124 770 263

78.6

814 124 945

55.8

1 431 757 068

100.0

1 460 106 198

100.0

70 987 320

113 386 000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF UNAXIS HOLDING INC.
General

(8)

(1)

Reporting basis: The Unaxis Holding Inc. financial state-

220 443 (prior year: 213 360) treasury shares, which were purchased

Marketable securities: Marketable securities comprise

ments are prepared in compliance with Swiss Corporate Law. They

on the stock market and stated at market value as at December 31

are a supplement to the consolidated financial statements (pages

(see also note 15). Due to the claims acquired by participants in the

86 through 89) prepared according to International Financial Report-

stock option plan, 211 072 shares were restricted as to sale on the

ing Standards (IFRS, formerly IAS). While the consolidated financial

balance sheet date.

statements reflect the economic situation of the Group as a whole,
the information contained in the Unaxis Holding Inc. financial state-

(9)

ments (pages 116 through 117) relates to the ultimate parent com-

the following significant equity interests in subsidiary companies

Investments in subsidiaries: As at the balance sheet date,

pany alone. The retained earnings reported in these financial state-

were included in Unaxis Holding Inc.’s investment portfolio:

ments provide the basis for the decision regarding the distribution

A summary of all companies in which Unaxis Holding Inc. holds a

of earnings to be made during the annual general meeting of share-

direct or indirect interest can be found at the end of this report.

holders.

Investments are valued at historical cost less value adjustments.
The increase compared with the prior year is attributable mainly to

Income statement

an equity capital payment in favor of Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd.

(2)

Singapore, as well as the founding of Balzers Coating China.

Income from investments in subsidiaries: The primary

source of investment income was an extraordinary disbursement
made by Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH in the amount of

(10) Loans to affiliated companies: This item consists of cur-

EUR 199.0 million from the proceeds of the sale of Leybold Optics.

rent accounts and of current and non-current loans granted at pre-

Other investment income originated mainly from Unaxis Trading AG.

vailing market conditions. The greatest portion is denominated in

In addition, investment income also resulted from the partial release

USD, EUR and JPY, and the remainder in CHF and in various other

of provisions related to dividend income of 1999. Provisions in the

foreign currencies. The change compared with the prior year repre-

original amount of CHF 102 million were created at that time,

sents the net effect of new loans granted, repayments and valuation

because the dividends received from Contraves Space AG were

adjustments.

based partially on write-ups of book values. During the current year,
CHF 10 million of those write-ups were realized (see also note 13).

(11) Loans to third parties: This item pertains to outstanding
purchase price obligations of third parties.

(3)

Financial income: A reduction due to lower interest income

on bank credit balances and loans to affiliated companies stood in

(12) Short-term deposits from affiliated companies: Included

contrast to an increase of CHF 18.6 million in the value of treasury

in this item are short-term time deposits made with Unaxis

shares as determined by the closing prices of Unaxis shares on

Holding Inc. by affiliated companies for cash management pur-

December 31, 2003.

poses.

(4)

Financial expense: This expense item declined mainly due

(13) Provisions: Of provisions made during prior years, CHF 38.4

to the elimination of the previous year’s write-downs of treasury

million were reversed as the related risks ceased to exist (see also

shares to reflect the current market price (see also note 3).

notes 2 and 5), and CHF 3.1 million were used to cover the corresponding costs and write-downs. No new provisions were estab-

(5)

Gain on sales of subsidiaries: This item includes the

lished.

release of reserves that were no longer needed upon the lapse of
the warranty period associated with the divestitures of the Bally and

(14) Share capital: The share capital of CHF 263 401 840 is

Unaxis Materials subsidiary companies.

comprised of 13 170 092 registered shares having a nominal value
of CHF 20 each. There has been no change versus the prior year.

(6)

Value adjustments on loans to and investments in

subsidiaries: The expense reported includes financial restructur-

On the balance sheet date, conditional share capital of CHF 47.2

ing payments made to subsidiary companies in England and France,

million and authorized capital of CHF 40.0 million were available to

net of the recovery of a loan granted to Unaxis Hong Kong Ltd. that

the Company (approved during the annual general meeting of share-

had been previously written down.

holders of May 7, 2002).

Balance sheet

At the end of 2003, the names of 17 791 registered shareholders

(7)

Cash and cash equivalents: This item is comprised of cur-

in total were entered in the stock register. Ihag-Holding AG and

rent balances denominated primarily in CHF and held with European

Mrs. Hortense Anda-Bührle held 26.2 percent of shares outstanding.

banks.

No other shareholders are known to the Company who hold more
than 5 percent of its share capital.

(15) Reserve for treasury shares: This reserve represents the

(16) Changes in shareholders’ equity: (see table on page 120)

historical cost to the Company of 220 443 treasury shares. The
members of the Board of Directors of Unaxis Holding Inc. receive

(17) Contingent liabilities: Contingent liabilities relate primarily

a significant portion of their compensation in the form of stock

to sureties and guarantees for bank loans to affiliated companies.

options. An additional stock option plan exists for members of
corporate management, as well as a stock purchase plan for

(18) Related party transactions: No transactions of relevance

employees.

were concluded with related parties during the 2003 financial year.

In order to insure the Company’s ability to meet possible obligations
arising from these stock option plans, an additional 35 750 shares
were acquired on the stock market during 2003, and 32 687 shares
were issued to employees at a preferred price (see also note 8 and
consolidated changes in shareholders’ equity).

Affiliated companies
Company

Currency

Share
investment

Percentage
ownership

Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu

TWD

20 000 000

100.0

Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí

BRL

2 900 000

95.0

Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou

CNY

3 569 000

100.0

Balzers Coating Private Ltd., Singapore

SGD

6 000 000

100.0

Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg

EUR

350 000

100.0
100.0

Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhosari/Pune

INR

48 118 000

Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Kyongsan

KRW

2 000 000 000

87.4

Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes

GBP

2 000 000

100.0

Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange

EUR

1 000 000

60.0

Balzers Revêtement SA, Brügg bei Biel

CHF

2 000 000

100.0

Balzers SA de CV, Queretaro

MXP

37 970 000

100.0

Balzers SpA, Brugherio

EUR

130 000

100.0

Balzers S.p.z.o.o., Polkowice Dolne

PLZ

5 000 000

100.0

Balzers Sandvik Coating AB, Stockholm

SEK

11 600 000

51.0

Balzers-ELAY SA, Antzuola

EUR

150 000

51.0

Contraves Space Ltd., Zurich

CHF

15 000 000

100.0

ESEC Holding Ltd., Steinhausen

CHF

20 479 450

56.8

Inficon Holding AG, Bad Ragaz

CHF

23 150 000

19.5

Mecanovis Ltd., Trübbach

CHF

3 000 000

100.0

Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka

JPY

100 000 000

100.0

Pilatus Flugzeugwerke AG, Stans

CHF

10 000 000

10.0

SA Balzers NV, St. Truiden

EUR

620 000

100.0

Kunz Spinning Mills Ltd., Windisch

CHF

10 000 000

100.0

Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai

CNY

99 321 000

100.0

Unaxis Balzers AG, Balzers

CHF

75 000 000

100.0

Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)

EUR

30 680 000

99.5

Unaxis France Holding SAS, St-Thibault des Vignes

EUR

4 000 000

100.0

Unaxis IT Pte. Ltd., Singapore

SGD

250 000

100.0

Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo

JPY

450 000 000

100.0

Unaxis Korea Ltd., Sungnam, Kyungki-Do

KRW

1 050 000 000

100.0

Unaxis Management Inc., Pfäffikon SZ

CHF

2 000 000

100.0
100.0

Unaxis Nimbus Ltd., Monmouth

GBP

600

Unaxis Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu

TWD

20 000 000

100.0

Unaxis SPTech Ltd., Neuenburg

CHF

100 000

100.0

Unaxis Trading Ltd., Trübbach

CHF

8 000 000

100.0

Unaxis USA Holding Inc., New York

USD

24 280 000

61.8
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Changes in shareholders’ equity
Share
capital

Balance at 1/1/2001

263.4

Legal
reserve

142.8

Reserve
for treasury
shares

Free
reserve

34.7

227.2

Allocation to free reserve

32.8
–10.4

263.4

132.4

0.0
–26.0

125.5

125.5

260.0

159.5

860.4

100.0

–100.0

0.0

–26.0

–26.0

–20.3

–20.3

13.2

814.1

10.4

45.1

Allocation to free reserve

0.0

Payment of dividends for year 2001
Purchase of treasury shares

–1.5

1.5

0.0

Net loss 2002
Balance at 12/31/2002

263.4

130.9

46.6

Transfer from free reserve

360.0
–15.0

Payment of dividends for year 2002
Purchase of treasury shares

2.6

263.4

133.5

15.0

0

–25.9

–25.9

336.5

336.5

338.8

1 124.7

–2.6

0

Net income 2003
Balance at 12/31/2003

44.0

760.9

–32.8

Net income 2001
Balance at 12/31/2001

92.8

Total shareholders’
equity

–26.0

Payment of dividends for year 2000
Purchase of treasury shares

Retained
earnings

345.0

in CHF million

PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors will propose at the General Meeting held on June 1, 2004 the following:
– Distribution of gross dividend of CHF 2.00 to the registered shares entitled thereto
– Allocation of CHF 305 000 000 to the free reserve
Allocation of available earnings:

Net income / (loss)
Balance carried forward from previous year
Available earnings
Transfer from free reserve
Distribution of gross dividend of CHF 2.00
to the registered shares entitled thereto

2003

2002

336 487 282

–20 304 818

2 361 141

33 507 922

338 848 423

13 203 104

0

15 000 000

25 899 298

25 841 963

305 000 000

0

Balance to be carried forward if merger with ESEC is not consummated

7 949 125

2 361 141

The merger of ESEC with Unaxis Holding Inc. approved by
ESEC shareholders on October 7, 2003, has yet to be consummated
due to a pending legal dispute.
If the merger is consummated on or prior to May 12, 2004,
a gross dividend of CHF 2.00 will be paid on the 972 345 newly
created registered shares

1 944 690

Balance to be carried forward if merger with ESEC is consummated

6 004 435

Allocation to free reserve

Pfäffikon SZ, March 3, 2004
For the Board of Directors
The Chairman
Dr. Willy Kissling
If the proposal of the Board of Directors is approved by shareholders
at the annual general meeting, the net dividend payment of CHF 1.30
per registered share will take place as of June 4, 2003.

2 361 141

in CHF
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS

To the General Meeting of Unaxis Holding Inc., Pfäffikon
As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and
financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes,
pages 116 through 120) of Unaxis Holding Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The prior year corresponding figures were audited by other auditors.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of
Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal
requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards
promulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit be
planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also assessed
the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and
the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with Swiss
law and the Company’s articles of incorporation.
We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be
approved.
KPMG Fides Peat
Erik F. J. Willems

Herbert Bussmann

Dutch Certified Public Accountant

Certified Public Accountant

(Auditor in charge)
Zurich, March 4, 2004

Unaxis Holding Inc., Pfäffikon, SZ/CH
Unaxis Management Inc., Pfäffikon, SZ /CH

Balzers Revêtements SA, Brügg (Biel)/CH

Unaxis SPTec Ltd., Neuenburg /CH

Balzers GmbH, Kapfenberg /AT

Unaxis Trading Ltd., Trübbach /CH

SA Balzers NV, St.Truiden / BE

Unaxis Deutschland Holding GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)/ DE
– Unaxis Deutschland
Vertriebs GmbH, Aschheim (Munich)/ DE

– Unaxis Nederland BV, Utrecht / NL
– Unaxis Italia (Branch), Arluno, MI / IT

– Unaxis Optics Deutschland GmbH, Geisenheim / DE

Balzers Ltd., Milton Keynes /GB

– Unaxis Hong Kong Ltd., Hong Kong / HK

Balzers SpA, Brugherio, MI / IT

– Balzers Verschleissschutz GmbH, Bingen / DE

Balzers Luxembourg Sarl, Differdange / LU

– Balzers Coating (Suzhou) Co. Ltd., Suzhou /CN

Balzers S.p.z.o.o., Polkowice Dolne / PL

– Leybold Vakuum GmbH, Cologne / DE

Balzers Sandvik Coating AB, Stockholm / SE

– Balzers und Leybold
Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Cologne / DE
– Balzers und Leybold
Vermietungs-Verwaltungs GmbH, Cologne / DE

(1)

Balzers-ELAY SA, Antzuola / ES

Balzers (India) Ltd., Bhosari, Pune / IN
Nihon Balzers Co. Ltd., Hiratsuka /JP
Balzers Korea Coating Co. Ltd., Kyongsan / KR
Balzers Coating Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SG

– Leybold Vakuum Schweiz AG, Zurich /CH

Balzers Balinit do Brasil Ltda., Jundiaí SP/ BR

– Leybold Vakuum Dresden GmbH, Dresden / DE

Balzers SA de CV, Queretaro/ MX

– Leybold Vacuum Spain SA, Sant Feliu de Llobregat / ES

Leybold Vacuum Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu / TW

– Leybold Vacuum France SA, Courtabœuf Cedex / FR

Contraves Space Ltd., Zurich /CH

– Leybold Vacuum UK Ltd., London /GB

Mecanovis Ltd., Trübbach /CH

– Leybold Vacuum Italia SpA, Milan / IT

Kunz Spinning Mills Ltd., Windisch /CH

– Leybold Vacuum Nederland BV (Branch), Utrecht / NL

Unaxis USA Holding Inc., Pittsburgh, New York, NY/ US

– Leybold Vacuum Scandinavia AB, Gothenburg/ SE

– Unaxis Optics USA Inc., Golden, CO/ US

– Leybold Vacuum

– Unaxis USA Inc., St. Petersburg, FL/ US

Equipment Manufacturing Co. Ltd., Tianjin /CN

– Balzers Inc., Amherst, NY/ US

– Leybold Vacuum (Tianjin) Int. Trade Co. Ltd., Tianjin /CN

– Leybold Vacuum USA Inc., Export, PA/ US

– Leybold Vacuum Japan Co. Ltd., Yokohama /JP

– Contraves Inc., East Pittsburgh, PA/ US

– Leybold Vacuum Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SG
– perfectit! GmbH, Cologne / DE
– Leybold Vacuum Korea Ltd., Seoul / KR
Unaxis France Holding SAS, St-Thibault des Vignes / FR

ESEC Holding Ltd., Steinhausen /CH

(2)

– ESEC Management Ltd., Steinhausen /CH
– ESEC (Europe) Ltd., Steinhausen /CH

– Unaxis France SA, Palaiseau / FR

– ESEC SA, Steinhausen / CH

– Balzers SAS, St-Thibault des Vignes / FR

– ESEC Trading Ltd., Steinhausen /CH

Unaxis Nimbus Ltd., Monmouth / GB

– ESEC Semiconductor (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai /CN

Unaxis Balzers AG, Balzers / LI

– ESEC (Japan) KK, Tokyo /JP

– Balzers AG, Balzers / LI
Unaxis (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., Shanghai / CN

– ESEC Korea Ltd., Seoul / KR
– ESEC (Asia Pacific) Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SG

Unaxis Japan Co. Ltd., Tokyo /JP

– ESEC (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong / HK

Unaxis Korea Ltd., Sungnam, Kyungki-Do / KR

– ESEC (Asia Pacific) Pte. Ltd. (Branch), Penang / MY

Unaxis IT Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SG

– ESEC (Philippines) Inc., Manila / PH

Unaxis Taiwan Ltd., Hsin Chu / TW

– ESEC Pacific North (Taiwan) Ltd., Hsin Chu Hsien / TW
– ESEC Industries (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Singapore / SG
– ESEC (USA) Inc., Tempe, AZ / US
Divested company
Unaxis Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore /SG
(deconsolidated as of 11/30/2003)

(1) Facilities of Unaxis Nederland BV, Utrecht / NL
(2) 56.8% proportion of equity capital
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